### THE CLINICAL UTILITY AND INFLUENCE OF HABITUAL, DEVICE-MEASURED SLEEP DURATION ON BASELINE NEUROCOGNITIVE PERFORMANCE AND TOTAL CONCUSSION SYMPTOM SEVERITY IN COLLEGE-AGED INDIVIDUALS

By

Morgan Anderson

### A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Kinesiology – Doctor of Philosophy

#### PUBLIC ABSTRACT

### THE CLINICAL UTILITY AND INFLUENCE OF HABITUAL, DEVICE-MEASURED SLEEP DURATION ON BASELINE NEUROCOGNITIVE PERFORMANCE AND TOTAL CONCUSSION SYMPTOM SEVERITY IN COLLEGE-AGED INDIVIDUALS

By

#### Morgan Anderson

**Context:** Sport-related concussion (SRC) consensus statements encourage the use of baseline testing to compare post-injury performance to pre-injury performance to aid in return to play decisions. Previous research suggests that short sleep duration negatively influences baseline computerized neurocognitive performance and total concussion symptoms. However, these studies have only utilized self-reported and single-night measures of sleep duration. **Purpose:** The purpose of this study was to examine the clinical utility and influence of habitual, device-measured sleep duration on baseline computerized neurocognitive performance and total concussion symptom severity in college-aged individuals. Methods: Participants were included in the study if they were between 18 - 25 years of age and enrolled in university classes (N = 61 mean age 20.30 years). The sleep measures included: habitual, device-measured sleep duration, device-measured single-night sleep duration, subjective, single-night sleep duration, and habitual, subjective sleep duration. Participants were instructed to wear an Actigraph GT9X monitor and to complete the National Sleep Foundation Sleep diary for 7 continuous days. After 7 days, participants were administered the Immediate Post Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Testing (ImPACT) battery. Results: The average habitual, device-measured total nighttime sleep time was 5.37 hours. Habitual, device-measured sleep duration did not influence baseline neurocognitive performance

and total concussion symptom severity in college-aged individuals. No agreement was found between 1) device-measured single-night sleep duration, habitual, device-measured sleep duration, and subjective, single-night sleep duration; 2) habitual, device-measured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration. Subjective, single-night sleep duration significantly overestimated device-measured single-night sleep duration and habitual, device-measured sleep duration, habitual, subjective sleep duration and habitual, device-measured sleep duration. In addition, habitual, subjective sleep duration significantly overestimated habitual, device-measured sleep duration. **Conclusion:** Although previous research suggests that self-reported single-night sleep duration negatively influences baseline CNT performance and concussion symptoms, the current study found that habitual, device-measured sleep duration did not influence baseline CNT performance and concussion symptoms. More research is needed to determine the ImPACT battery's sensitivity to habitual sleep and sleep loss. In addition, researchers and clinicians should use caution when using device-derived and subjective measures of sleep duration interchangeably.

#### ABSTRACT

### THE CLINICAL UTILITY AND INFLUENCE OF HABITUAL, DEVICE-MEASURED SLEEP DURATION ON BASELINE NEUROCOGNITIVE PERFORMANCE AND TOTAL CONCUSSION SYMPTOM SEVERITY IN COLLEGE-AGED INDIVIDUALS

By

#### Morgan Anderson

**Context:** Previous research suggests short sleep duration negatively influences baseline computerized neurocognitive test (CNT) performance. However, previous studies have only utilized subjective and single-night measures of sleep duration. **Purpose:** The purpose of this study was to examine the clinical utility and influence of habitual, device-measured sleep duration on baseline computerized neurocognitive performance and total concussion symptom severity in college-aged individuals. **Methods:** This study used a cross-sectional design and included participants aged 18 – 25 years enrolled in university classes (N = 61, mean age 20.30 years). The sleep measures included: habitual, device-measured sleep duration, device-measured singlenight sleep duration, subjective, single-night sleep duration, and habitual, subjective sleep duration. Participants provided informed consent, completed a sleep diary, were issued an Actigraph GT9X monitor, and instructed to wear the monitor and complete the morning and evening sections of the sleep diary for 7 continuous days. Participants completed the Immediate Post Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Testing (ImPACT) battery. Hierarchical linear regressions were used to examine the influence of habitual, device-measured sleep duration on baseline ImPACT performance. Statistical significance was set at  $p \le .05$ . Equivalence testing and Bland-Altman plots were used to determine the level of agreement between 1) device-measured single-night sleep

duration and habitual, device-measured sleep duration, and subjective, single-night sleep duration; 2) habitual, device-measured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration. **Results:** The average habitual, device-measured total nighttime sleep time was 322.13 minutes (5.37 hours). Habitual, device-measured sleep duration did not influence verbal memory ( $F_{2,48} = 0.26$ , p = .77;  $R^2 = 0.011$ ), visual memory ( $F_{2,48} =$ 0.04, p = .96;  $R^2 = 0.002$ ), visual motor processing speed ( $F_{2.48} = 0.41$ , p = .67;  $R^2 =$ 0.017), or reaction time ( $F_{2.48} = 2.29$ , p = .11;  $R^2 = 0.087$ ). A significant model was found for total concussion symptom severity ( $F_{2,48} = 6.63$ , p = .003;  $R^2 = 0.216$ ); but habitual, device-measured sleep duration did not significantly contribute to the model (B = -0.002, 95% CI: -0.03, 0.02,  $\beta$  = -.02, p = .86). Subjective, single-night sleep duration significantly overestimated device-measured single-night sleep duration ( $\bar{d}$  = 151.80; Z = -5.08,  $p \leq .001$ ) and habitual, device-measured sleep duration ( $\bar{d}$  = 158.03;  $t_{41}$  = -12.30,  $p \le .001$ ). Habitual, subjective sleep duration significantly overestimated habitual. device-measured sleep duration ( $\overline{d}$  = -153.18;  $t_{48}$  = -15.57,  $p \leq .001$ ). In addition, no agreement was found between 1) device-measured single-night sleep duration, habitual, device-measured sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration; 2) habitual, device-measured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration. **Conclusion:** Habitual, device-measured sleep duration did not influence baseline CNT performance or total concussion symptom severity. Further research should determine ImPACT battery's sensitivity to habitual sleep and sleep loss. Furthermore, future researchers should investigate how other sleep-related variables, like sleep efficiency, may impact baseline CNT performance. Researchers and clinicians should use caution when using device-derived and subjective measures of sleep duration interchangeably.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank my parents, David and Lara Anderson, and brother, Ryan Anderson. Your unconditional love and support have made this all possible. Thank you for always encouraging me throughout this entire process. Second, I would like to thank Michigan State University for providing me opportunity to further my education, research, and professional development. This project would not be possible without the funding provided by the Department of Kinesiology and the Graduate School. Next, I would like to thank my advisor and mentor, Dr. Tracey Covassin. I would have not been able to reach this accomplishment without her guidance and mentorship. I would also like to thank Dr. Chris Kuenze, Dr. James Pivarnik, and Dr. Kimberly Fenn for their guidance in completing this project. Finally, I would like to thank all of my lab mates (past and present) in the Athletic Injury and Rehabilitation Lab and friends in the Department of Kinesiology for their support and friendship.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURESi	ix
LIST OF ALGORITHMS	x
KEY TO SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS	xi
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION. Overview of the Problem. Purpose of the Study. Specific Aims and Hypotheses. Specific Aim 1. Hypothesis 1. Specific Aim 2. Hypothesis 2a. Hypothesis 2b. Specific Aim 3. Hypothesis 3. CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF LITERATURE	11666666778
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF LITERATORE Interation   Definition of Sport Related Concussion Interation   Epidemiology of Sport Related Concussion Interation   Youth Athletics Interation   Collegiate Athletics Interation   Biomechanics of Sport Related Concussion Interation   Pathophysiology of Sport Related Concussion Interation   Signs, Symptoms, and Impairment after Sport Related Concussion Interation   Signs and Symptoms Interation   Neurocognitive Impairment Interation   Vestibular and Ocular Motor Impairment Interation   Balance Impairment Interation   Sport Related Concussion Recovery Interation   Sport Related Concussion Treatment Interation   Baseline Assessment Interation   Factors that Influence Baseline Computerized Neurocognitive Performance and Total Symptoms Interation   Sleep Interation Interation   Sleep and Neurocognition Interation Interation   Sleep and Baseline Computerized Neurocognitive Performance and Symptoms Interation	8 8 9 9 114 19 227 339 43 55 560 62

Conclusion	65
CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY	66
Experimental Design	.66
Operational Definitions	67
Habitual, Device-Measured Sleep Duration	67
Device-Measured Single-Night Sleep Duration	67
Subjective, Single-Night Sleep Duration	67
Habitual, Subjective Sleep Duration	67
Population and Sampling	68
Inclusion Criteria	68
Exclusion Criteria	.68
Sample Size Estimation	69
Instrumentation	69
Demographics Form	.69
Immediate Post Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Testing (ImPACT)	.69
Actigraph GT9X Link Physical Activity Monitor	70
National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary	71
Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)	.71
Morningness Eveningness Questionniare (MEQ-SA)	.72
Data Collection and Management	73
Data Analysis	74
Specific Aim 1	.74
Specific Aim 2	.75
Specific Aim 3	.78
CHAPTER IV: RESULTS	.81
Demographic Information on Total Sample	.81
Morningness and Eveningness Questionnaire – Short Assessment (MEQ-SA).	.82
Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)	.82
National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary	83
Evaluation of Specific Aims	.84
Specific Aim 1	.84
Demographic Information	.84
Covariates	85
Results	85
Verbal Memory	86
Visual Memory	86
Visual Motor Processing Speed	.87
Reaction Time	.87
Total Concussion Symptom Severity	88
Specific Aim 2	.88
Demographic Information	.88
Results	89
Specific Aim 3	.94
Demographic Information	.94

Results	95
Supplemental Analyses	97
Habitual Device-Measured Sleep Variability	97
Rationale	97
Demographic Information	98
Covariates	98
Results	99
Verbal Memory	99
Visual Memory1	100
Visual Motor Processing Speed1	100
Reaction Time	101
Total Concussion Symptom Severity1	101
Cole-Kripke Sleep Scoring Algorithm	101
Rationale	101
Demographic Information.	102
Results	103
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION1	104
Specific Aim 11	104
Specific Aim 21	108
Specific Aim 31	110
Clinical Implications1	114
Strengths and Limitations1	115
Conclusions1	116
APPENDICES1	117
APPENDIX A: Demographics Form1	118
APPENDIX B: National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary1	121
APPENDIX C: Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)	122
APPENDIX D: Morningness-Eveningness Questionnaire – Short Assessment	
(MEQ-SA)	126
APPENDÍX E: Habitual Sleep Variability Data Analysis1	131
APPENDIX F: Cole-Kripke Sleep Scoring Algorithm Data Analysis1	132
REFERENCES1	133

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Participant Demographics of the Total Sample (N = 61)	32
Table 2: Descriptive Statistics for PSQI Components and Total Score for the Total   Sample (N = 61)	33
Table 3: Descriptive Statistics for ImPACT Composite Scores (n = 51)	36
Table 4: Descriptive Statistics of Total Sleep Duration Measures in Minutes (n = 42)8	39
Table 5: Mean Difference, Standard Deviation, and 95% Confidence Intervals Betwee   Device-Measured Single-Night, Habitual, Device-Measured and Subjective, Single-   Single Night Sleep Duration (n = 42)	n 92
Table 6: Descriptive Statistics for Habitual, Device-Measured and Habitual, Subjective   Sleep Duration in Minutes (n = 49)	; 95
Table 7: Supplemental Descriptive Statistics for ImPACT Composite Scores (n = 48).	99

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Scatter Plot of Device-Measured Single-Night Sleep Duration (Minutes) and Subjective, Single-Night Sleep Duration (Minutes) (n = 42)
Figure 2: Scatter Plot of Habitual, Device-Measured Sleep Duration (Minutes) and Subjective, Single-Night Sleep Duration (Minutes) (n = 42)
Figure 3: Bland-Altman Plot of Device-Measured Single-Night Sleep Duration and Subjective, Single-Night Sleep Duration (n = 42)93
Figure 4: Bland-Altman Plot of Habitual, Device-Measured Sleep Duration and Subjective, Single-Night Sleep Duration (n = 42)94
Figure 5: Scatter Plot Between Habitual, Device-Measured and Habitual, Subjective Sleep Duration (Minutes) (n = 49)96
Figure 6: Bland-Altman Plot of Habitual Device-Measured Sleep Duration and Habitual, Subjective Sleep Duration (n = 49)97
Figure 7: National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary121

# LIST OF ALGORITHMS

# **KEY TO SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS**

ADHD	Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder
ADP	Adenosine Diphosphate
AE	Athletic Exposure
AMSSM	American Medical Society for Sports Medicine
ANAM	Automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metrics
AT	Athletic Trainer
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
BCTT	Buffalo Concussion Treadmill Test
BESS	Balance Error Scoring System
CDC	Centers for Disease Control
CI	Confidence Interval
CISG	Concussion in Sport Group
CNT	Computerized Neurocognitive Test
DVAT	Dynamic Visual Activity Test
EEG	Electroencephalography
EMG	Electromyography
GSC	Graded Symptom Checklist
GST	Gaze Stability Test
HIS	Head Injury Scale
HIT	Head Impact Telemetry
ICC	Intraclass Correlation Coefficients

ImPACT	Immediate Post Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Testing
IQR	Interquartile Range
IRB	Institutional Review Board
KD	King-Devick
LD	Learning Disorder
MANOVA	Multivariate Analysis of Variance
MDC	Minimal Detectable Change
MEQ-SA	Morningness-Eveningness Questionnaire – Short Assessment
NATA	National Athletic Trainers Association
NCAA	National Collegiate Athletic Association
NFL	National Football League
NMDA	N-Methyl-D-Aspartate
NPC	Near Point Convergence
NREM	Non-Rapid Eye Movement
PCSI	Post-Concussion Symptom Inventory
PCSS	Post-Concussion Symptom Scale
PSG	Polysomnography
PSQI	Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)
RCI	Reliable Change Index
REM	Rapid Eye Movement
RPE	Ratings of Perceived Exertion
RPQ	Rivermead Post Concussion Symptom Questionniare
RR	Risk Ratio

SCAT Sport Concussion Assessment Tool SD Standard Deviation SOT Sensory Organization Test Sport Related Concussion SRC TBI Traumatic Brain Injury Visual Motion Sensitivity VMS VOMS Vestibular Ocular Motor Screening VOR Vestibular Ocular Reflex

#### **CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION**

#### **Overview of the Problem**

Computerized neurocognitive test (CNT) batteries are an integral part of the multifaceted approach for sport related concussion (SRC) assessment and management.<sup>1</sup> Specifically, CNT batteries evaluate several facets of cognition including memory, reaction time, and attention, which are commonly impacted after SRC.<sup>2</sup> Traditionally neuropsychological function is evaluated using paper and pencil assessments; however, recently CNT batteries have served as an alternative to traditional paper and pencil assessment due to their ability to serve large groups of athletes concurrently, ease of administration, wide availability on electronic platforms (i.e., desktop, online, iPads), availability of normative databases, and alternate test forms to reduce practice effects.<sup>3–5</sup>

Current SRC consensus statements<sup>1,4</sup> advocate for the use of a prospective (i.e., baseline [pre-injury] and post-injury serial administration) CNT assessment approach. Furthermore, these consensus statements recommend, but do not mandate, baseline neurocognitive testing.<sup>1,4</sup> The utility of a prospective assessment approach is demonstrated throughout the SRC literature<sup>6–8</sup> and more than 90% of athletic trainers (ATs) utilize a follow-up assessment approach, with approximately 70% of ATs utilizing CNT in follow-up testing.<sup>9</sup> Although implementing this prospective approach takes time and money,<sup>9</sup> it provides several benefits to clinicians including being able to compare post-injury performance to baseline performance to aid in SRC diagnosis and return to play decisions. Second, it allows for the injured athletes to serve as their own controls when comparing to post-concussion scores. Third, baseline testing may provide an

opportunity to educate athletes about SRC.<sup>1</sup> Finally, utilizing individual baseline data may provide more diagnostic accuracy<sup>10,11</sup> and lower false positive rates<sup>12</sup> compared to norm-referenced values. Therefore, it is essential that baseline CNT performance is an accurate representation of the individual's cognitive status.

Previous research has identified factors that influence baseline CNT performance including sex,<sup>13–17</sup> concussion history,<sup>16</sup> motivation/effort,<sup>18–20</sup> attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and learning disability (LD),<sup>21-23</sup> and physical exertion.<sup>24</sup> Previous research<sup>13–17</sup> suggests that males and females differ on neurocognitive performance and symptoms at baseline, however results are mixed regarding which specific cognitive domains (e.g., verbal/visual memory, reaction, visual motor processing speed) are affected. The majority of studies suggest that female athletes demonstrate better performance than males on verbal memory.<sup>13–15,17</sup> Whereas other studies<sup>15,16</sup> suggest that female athletes also perform better on visual motor processing speed and reaction time. Others<sup>13,17</sup> suggest males demonstrate increased performance on visual motor processing speed and visual memory. Also, female athletes report more symptoms at baseline compared to male athletes.<sup>14,17</sup> Previous concussion history may interact with sex with regard to baseline neurocognitive performance. Female athletes with a history of 2 or 3 or more concussions performed better on verbal memory than male athletes with 2 or 3 or more concussions.<sup>16</sup> In addition, female athletes with a history of 3 or more concussions demonstrated better performance on visual memory compared to male athletes with a history of 3 or more concussions. Sub-optimal effort during baseline testing has also been documented to influence neurocognitive performance;<sup>18–20</sup> however, it should be noted that Immediate Post Concussion

Assessment and Cognitive Testing (ImPACT), a CNT battery used by 83.5% of athletic trainers, "flags" athletes with baseline scores below validity indicators.<sup>25,26</sup> In addition, individuals with ADHD and LD have been found to perform worse on CNT batteries, specifically demonstrating worse performance on verbal memory, visual memory, visual motor processing speed, reaction time, and report elevated total symptom scores.<sup>15,21,22</sup> Finally, physical exertion has been found to negatively influence verbal memory performance in male and female recreational athletes.<sup>24</sup>

Sleep is essential for maintaining health and well-being; however, 35% of adults sleep less than the recommended 7 - 9 hours.<sup>27,28</sup> Insufficient sleep duration is reported to adversely influence several facets of health, including metabolism and mood.<sup>29,30</sup> In addition, insufficient sleep may increase the risk of several chronic diseases such as cardiovascular disease and obesity.<sup>31</sup> Specifically, a growing body of literature suggests that short sleep duration (< 7 hours) negatively influences domains of cognition including learning and memory, reaction time, and auditory vigilance.<sup>32,33</sup> For college students, sleep is particularly important as it may negatively influence academic performance, health, and mood.<sup>34</sup> However, 25% of college students report sleeping less than 6.5 hours per night and only 29.4% report sleeping 8 or more hours per night.<sup>35</sup> College provides young adults with a sense of freedom that is seldom experienced in adolescence. Unlike shiftwork or clinical populations, college students may choose to practice irregular sleeping habits in order to meet academic and social responsibilities.<sup>36</sup> Therefore, college students provide a unique population to study sleep habits without the influence of clinical concerns or shiftwork schedules.<sup>36</sup> Given the public health burden of insufficient sleep duration and the adverse influence on

cognitive function, there is a need to explore the influence of sleep duration on baseline CNT performance and total concussion symptom severity.

Although several studies exist, there does not seem to be conclusive evidence to suggest short sleep duration negatively influences baseline CNT performance. Sufrinko et al.<sup>37</sup> observed worse verbal memory, visual memory, and slower reaction time in adolescents who reported getting less than 5 hours the night before baseline testing. McClure and colleauges<sup>38</sup> found that high school and collegiate athletes with less than 7 hours of sleep the night before baseline testing demonstrated deficits in verbal memory, visual memory, and reaction time. While some studies<sup>37,38</sup> found that short sleep duration negatively influences CNT performance, others have only found increases in symptomology as a result of short sleep duration.<sup>39–41</sup> Mihalik and colleagues<sup>39</sup> observed increased symptomology in collegiate student athletes who reported short sleep duration the night before baseline testing, but found no deficits in cognitive performance. Similarly, Moran and colleagues<sup>40</sup> reported that high school athletes with less that 8 hours of sleep the night before baseline testing demonstrated greater total symptom scores. These contrasting results and methodological gaps in the literature, highlight the need for further research.

Several gaps exist in the literature investigating the influence of short sleep duration on baseline CNT performance and total concussion symptom severity. First, most studies<sup>37–41</sup> have relied on subjective measures of sleep quantity in form of questionnaires (e.g., Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index) or single-item questions (i.e., "How many hours of sleep did you get last night?"). Given the subjective nature of these reporting methods, it is possible that recall bias and inaccuracies in sleep duration could

be introduced. Second, previous studies<sup>37-41</sup> have only investigated the effects of a single night of sleep and have failed to investigate the effects of multiple nights (i.e., habitual) of sleep on baseline CNT performance and symptoms. It is possible that a single night of sleep is not representative of a typical or unusual night of sleep, whereas habitual sleep duration, or sleep accumulation across multiple nights, accounts for multiple factors such as lifestyle choices, environment, and biological drive (i.e., circadian rhythm).<sup>42</sup> In the only study to utilize an objective measure of sleep duration and measure sleep across multiple nights, Stocker and colleagues<sup>43</sup> observed that sleep loss was associated with decreased visual memory, reaction time, and visual motor processing speed.<sup>43</sup> Given that only one study has examined the effects of objective, habitual short sleep duration on CNT performance and symptoms, there is a need to expand on these findings.

The results of this study may contribute to the existing literature examining the influence of short sleep duration on baseline CNT performance and total concussion symptom severity. Documenting the effect of habitual, device-measured sleep duration on baseline CNT performance and total concussion symptom severity may inform best practice guidelines for baseline CNT assessment by introducing the need to identify individuals who will not perform at the level representative of normal functioning or may identify individuals at risk for producing an invalid baseline score. Furthermore, the results of the current study may have significant clinical implications for post-concussion management. Specifically, baseline CNT scores that do not accurately represent an individual's cognitive status may lead to premature return to play, which may increase the risk for further injury or prolonged recovery.<sup>44,45</sup>

#### Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to examine the clinical utility and influence of habitual, device-measured sleep duration on baseline computerized neurocognitive performance and total concussion symptom severity in college-aged individuals.

#### **Specific Aims and Hypotheses**

#### Specific Aim 1:

To investigate the influence of habitual, device-measured sleep duration on baseline computerized neurocognitive performance and total concussion symptom severity in college-aged individuals.

#### Hypothesis 1:

College-aged individuals who experience short habitual, device-measured sleep duration will be associated with worse baseline computerized neurocognitive performance and total concussion symptom severity.

#### Specific Aim 2:

To assess the agreement between both device-measured single-night and habitual, device-measured sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration in college-aged individuals.

#### Hypothesis 2a:

There will be a high level of agreement between device-measured single-night sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration in college-aged individuals. *Hypothesis 2b:* 

There will be a low level of agreement between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration in college-aged individuals.

### Specific Aim 3:

To examine the agreement between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration in college-aged individuals.

### Hypothesis 3:

There will be a high level of agreement between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration in college-aged individuals.

#### **CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

#### **Definition of Sport Related Concussion**

The American Medical Society for Sports Medicine (AMSSM) defines concussion as a traumatically induced transient disturbance of brain function that involves a complex pathophysiological process.<sup>46</sup> Whereas, the Concussion in Sport Group (CISG) defines SRC more broadly as a traumatic brain injury induced by biomechanical forces.<sup>1</sup> Although commonly used synonymously with traumatic brain injury, SRC is often considered a subset of mild traumatic brain injury on the less severe end of the brain injury spectrum. As knowledge about SRC has increased, various definitions of SRC from numerous professional organizations have been published.<sup>1,4,46–48</sup> Although these definitions of SRC lack equivalence, there are common elements included. In a recent systematic review.<sup>49</sup> researchers identified 6 professional organizations with published operational definitions of concussion. In all definitions used by professional organizations, loss of consciousness was an optional presentation for making diagnosis.<sup>1,4,46–48</sup> In addition, all definitions suggest impairment occurs as a result of SRC, however definitions differ on the onset, duration, mechanism, and resolution of impairment or are not specific about the impairment. Finally, the CISG<sup>1</sup> and Team Physician Consensus<sup>48</sup> statement includes a statement on neuroimaging. Specifically, SRC results in functional disturbances rather than structural changes therefore, standard structural neuroimaging returns normal results.<sup>1,48</sup> The lack of one SRC operational definition introduces several limitations. First, different definitions complicate the comparison of injury epidemiological studies. Second, a universal definition may help researchers standardize protocols when conducting studies. Finally, one definition

may help health care providers educate and inform patients and parents when discussing SRC. In order to address these limitations, experts should validate a gold standard definition of SRC.

#### **Epidemiology of Sport Related Concussion**

Approximately 44 million children and adolescents<sup>50</sup> participate in organized sports and 460,000 athletes participate in varsity collegiate athletics every year.<sup>51</sup> Sport participation provides several benefits including physiological, psychological, and social benefits. However, despite these benefits, there is the risk of injury, specifically, SRC. *Youth Athletics* ( $\leq$  13 Years)

It is estimated that 1.1 - 1.9 million SRCs occur in children ( $\leq 18$  years) annually in the United States.<sup>52</sup> Previous research suggests that concussion makes up  $2.7^{53} - 9.6\%^{54}$  of all injuries in middle school football players. In addition, Veliz and colleagues<sup>55</sup> reported that approximately 17% of eighth graders had a history of diagnosed concussion. However, there is limited research examining the incidence of SRC in middle school athletics, with the majority of the research examining incidence of concussion in middle school football athletes.<sup>53,54,56,57</sup> In an early study, Dompier and colleagues<sup>53</sup> examined time-loss and non-time loss injuries in youth (9 – 14 years) football athletes. Study results revealed a concussion injury rate of 0.5 per 1000 athletic exposures (AEs) for practice and competition combined.<sup>53</sup> Interestingly, Kerr and colleagues<sup>54</sup> reported nearly double that, 1.0 per 1000 AEs, for both practice and competition combined in American youth football players. In another study, Kontos and colleagues reported a concussion incidence rate of 1.76 per 1000 AEs in 8 – 12 year old football players.<sup>58</sup> Although several investigators<sup>53,54,56,57</sup> have examined the

incidence of concussion in middle school athletics, these studies are limited by only focusing on football and lack data on the incidence of concussion in girl athletes. Beachy and colleagues<sup>59</sup> examined the overall concussion incidence rates in 27 middle school sports between 1988 – 2008. The overall concussion incidence rate, 0.07 per 1000 AEs<sup>59</sup> was lower than those reported previously.<sup>53,54,56,57</sup> In one of the few studies to examine the concussion incidence rate in youth athletes, Black and colleagues<sup>60</sup> compared the risk of concussion between ice hockey leagues where body checking was permitted and one where body checking was not permitted. The results revealed that the ice hockey league that allowed body checking had a concussion incidence rate of 2.83 per 1000 player hours, while the league that did not permit body checking had an incidence rate of 0.91 per 1000 player hours.<sup>60</sup>

In addition to describing the overall incidence of concussion in middle school sports, researchers have also examined the incidence of concussion stratified by event type (competition versus practice), sex differences, and sport. First, the majority of research suggests that concussion incidence is higher in competition compared to practices.<sup>53,54,56,58,59</sup> The concussion incidence rate for competition ranges from 0.14 – 6.16 per 1000 AEs.<sup>58,59</sup> While the concussion incidence rate for practice ranges from 0.05 – 1.04 per 1000 AEs.<sup>56,59</sup> In middle school football players, Kontos et al. reported an incidence density ratio for concussions in competitions and practices of 25.91 per 1000 AEs.<sup>58</sup> Beachy and colleagues<sup>59</sup> reported a relative risk ratio of 0.33 suggesting that middle school athletes were more at risk for sustaining a concussion during a competition compared to practice.

Very little research exists on sex differences in incidence of concussion of middle school athletes since the majority of studies<sup>53,54,56–58,61</sup> have focused on football athletes, which are traditionally male only. However, Beachy and colleagues<sup>59</sup> reported the concussion incidence rate was almost 3 times higher for boy athletes (0.09 per 1000 AEs) compared to girl athletes (0.03 per 1000 AEs). However, when football athletes were excluded, the concussion risk was similar between boys and girls.<sup>59</sup>

#### High School Athletics

Results of early studies showed that concussions represented 5.5 – 7.5% of all high school injuries.<sup>62,63</sup> However, a more recent study reported that concussions represent approximately 13% of all injuries in high school athletics.<sup>64</sup> Previous researchers<sup>63,65–69</sup> have documented overall concussion incidence rates in high school athletics, with concussion incidence ranging from 0.17 – 0.51 per 1000 AEs in multiple high school sanctioned sports. Interestingly, overall concussion incidence rates have increased over time in high school athletics, as reported by previous studies.<sup>67,68</sup> Lincoln and colleagues<sup>67</sup> examined the incidence of concussion in 12 high school sports between 1997-1998 and 2007-2008 athletic seasons. The overall concussion rate increased from 0.12 per 1000 AEs to 0.49 per 1000 AEs. Similarly, Rosenthal et al.<sup>68</sup> reported a significant increase (0.23 to 0.51 per 1000 AEs) in overall concussion incidence in high school athletes.

There are several reasons hypothesized for an increase in concussion incidence in high school athletics. First, the increase has been be attributed to new state laws and changes in sport-governing bodies, such as the National Athletic Trainers Association (NATA), Centers of Disease Control (CDC), and CISG Consensus. Washington state

was the first to pass legislation in 2009 outlining the medical care procedures for concussion and by 2014 all states passed legislation.<sup>70</sup> Although each state law is slightly different, the majority of the state laws include: 1) education for coaches, parents, and/or athletes; 2) immediate removal from play for any athlete who has or is suspected of sustaining a concussion; 3) clearance from a health care professional for the athlete to return to play no sooner than 24 hours following injury.<sup>70</sup> In addition, the CDC launched an initiative, "Heads Up", in 2004 to educate coaches, parents, and school professionals,<sup>71</sup> while the NATA<sup>4</sup> and CISG<sup>1</sup> published consensus statements on specific evidence based guidelines for identify, managing, and treating SRC. It is possible that legislation, initiatives, and consensus statements have increased SRC awareness in athletes, coaches, and parents.

Second, it is possible that having certified ATs on-site to identify and diagnose concussion may be another reason for increased concussion incidence over time. In a recent study, McGuine and colleagues<sup>72</sup> investigated how the presence of ATs influenced SRC reporting. Thirty-one high schools were categorized as low, mid, and high AT availability and the incidence of concussion was recorded at each high school.<sup>72</sup> Not surprisingly, the incidence of SRC was lower for the low-AT schools (0.24 per 1000 AEs) than the mid-AT (0.64 per 1000 AEs) and high-AT (0.87 per 1000 AEs) schools.<sup>72</sup> Therefore, the results of the study suggest that a higher level of AT availability is associated with increased SRC reporting.<sup>72</sup>

Although overall concussion incidence rates in high school athletics range from 0.17 - 0.51, all sports do not have the same risk.<sup>63,68</sup> Previous research suggests football has the highest concussion rates that range from 0.33 - 4.01 per 1000 AEs.<sup>62–</sup>

<sup>65,69</sup> In addition, previous researchers have reported concussion rates in girls soccer (0.73 per 1000 AEs),<sup>68</sup> boys lacrosse (0.67 per 1000 AEs),<sup>65</sup> wrestling (0.57 per 1000 AEs),<sup>68</sup> and boys ice hockey (0.54 per 1000 AEs).<sup>66</sup> A majority of research suggests that in general, high school girls are at a greater risk for concussion than high school boys;<sup>65,66,68,69,73</sup> however, Lincoln and colleagues<sup>67</sup> reported a greater risk for concussion in boys compared to girls, which could be due to the inclusion of football. When evaluating sex-comparable sports, i.e., sports played by the same rules for both sexes, female athletes have a greater risk for concussion.<sup>65,66,69,73</sup> In a recent study, O'Connor and colleagues<sup>65</sup> reported a higher overall concussion rate for softball (Risk Ratio [RR] = 4.14), basketball (RR = 1.76), soccer (RR = 1.53), and track and field (RR = 3.81). In addition, previous researchers<sup>65,66</sup> reported greater concussion risk in boys high school lacrosse than girls high school lacrosse. However, it should be noted that boys and girls lacrosse cannot be directly compared due to significant rule differences such as, body checking and required protective equipment in boys but not girls lacrosse.65,66

It is hypothesized that biomechanical, social norms, and hormonal differences may explain the sex disparity in SRC incidence. First, previous research suggests that female athletes have decreased neck girth, strength, and head-neck segment.<sup>73–76</sup> Due to the lower neck strength and girth, greater linear and angular accelerations and displacement may occur and therefore, girl's head-neck may rotate at a greater speed resulting in more concussions.<sup>73</sup> Second, previous research suggests female high school athletes may be more likely to report a concussion to an authority figure than male high school athletes.<sup>77,78</sup> Male high school athletes may not disclose their

concussion because they did not think it was serious, did not want to let their team down, or did not want to miss a game. In addition, it is possible that the male sport culture and stigmas within male sports may contribute to this thinking.<sup>79</sup> Finally, there is preliminary evidence taken from animal data to suggest that estrogen may predispose girl women athletes to increased risk of concussion.<sup>80</sup>

#### Collegiate Athletics

Between the 2009-2010 and 2013-2014 athletic seasons, concussions made up 6.2% of all injuries reported in the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA).<sup>81</sup> Previous research suggests that the risk for concussion is greater in collegiate athletics (0.43 per 1000 AEs) compared to high school athletics (0.23 per 1000 AEs; RR = 1.86).<sup>69</sup> Specifically, in football collegiate athletes (3.74 per 1000 AEs) the risk for concussion is higher than in football high school athletes (2.01 per 1000 AEs; RR = 1.86). Daneshvar and colleagues<sup>82</sup> summarized data from the NCAA Injury Surveillance System from the 1988-1989 through 2003-2004 athletic seasons. The authors reported that the concussion incidence rate increased from 0.17 to 0.34 per 1000 AEs.<sup>82</sup> Since then, researchers have continued to report increases in concussion incidence in collegiate athletes. Kilcoyne et al.<sup>83</sup> examined the concussion incidence in three collegiate Division I military academy football teams and reported an increase from 0.57 per 1000 AEs to 1.16 per 1000 AEs between the 2009-2010 and 2010-2011 athletic seasons. One season concussion incidence rate in multiple sports, not just exclusively football, have also been examined. Gessel and colleagues<sup>69</sup> reported a concussion incidence rate of 0.43 per 1000 AEs. Similarly, other researchers<sup>81,84</sup> reported an incidence rate of 0.45 per 1000 AEs in 25 collegiate sports. Although the

majority<sup>69,81,82,84,85</sup> of studies have examined the concussion incidence rate of collegiate athletes in multiple sports, others<sup>57,64,83</sup> have examined the incidence rate exclusively in football collegiate athletes. Dompier and colleagues<sup>57</sup> reported a concussion rate of 3.74 per 1000 AEs, while Kerr et al<sup>64</sup> reported a higher concussion rate of 7.29 per 1000 AEs.

Specifically, the majority<sup>57,69,86,87</sup> of research reports suggests that collegiate football athletes have the highest concussion incidence rate ranging from 0.38 - 3.74per 1000 AEs.<sup>57,86</sup> However, one study<sup>81</sup> reported that collegiate wrestlers had higher concussion incidence (1.09 per 1000 AEs) than collegiate football players (0.67 per 1000 AEs). Other sports such as, women's lacrosse (1.35 per 1000 AEs)<sup>87</sup>, women's soccer (1.07 per 1000 AEs)<sup>87</sup>, and men's ice hockey (0.79 per 1000 AEs)<sup>81</sup> have higher concussion rates than football. Zuckerman and colleagues examined differences in concussion risk in sex comparable sports.<sup>81</sup> Similar to research in high school athletes, women collegiate basketball (RR = 1.53), soccer (RR = 1.83), lacrosse (RR = 1.64), and softball (RR = 3.65) players were at an increased risk for concussion compared to male equivalent athletes.<sup>81</sup> Interestingly, ice hockey was the only sex comparable sport with women and men athletes having equal risk.<sup>81</sup>

In response to the high concussion incidence rate in collegiate football players, Ivy League coaches recommended that the kick-off line be moved from the 35-yard to the 40-yard line and that the touchback line be moved from the 25-yard to the 20-yard line.<sup>88</sup> It was intended, with this rule change, to have more kickoffs land in the endzone, effectively reducing the chance of the player advancing the ball.<sup>88</sup> Prior to the rule change the concussion incidence rate during kickoff plays in Ivy League football players

was 10.93 per 1000 plays.<sup>88</sup> After implementation of the rule change, the concussion incidence rate exclusively during kickoff plays was 2.04 per 1000 plays.<sup>88</sup> In addition, the overall concussion incidence rate decreased from 3.04 per 1000 plays, before the rule change, to 1.22 per 1000 plays, after the rule change. Even in the National Football League (NFL), head injury incidence decreased from 3.70 per 1000 kickoffs to 1.20 per 1000 plays after implementation of rule changes.<sup>89</sup>

Given the risk of injury that is associated with sport participation, SRC will continue in youth, high school, and collegiate athletics. Future researchers should continue to improve concussion surveillance systems and expand strategies to reduce SRC occurrence in athletics.

#### **Biomechanics of Sport Related Concussion**

Early research<sup>90</sup> describes linear and rotational acceleration as the primary mechanism of concussion. Linear and rotational acceleration can occur by both direct and indirect impacts to the head. Examples of direct impacts include helmet-to-helmet, collision with a teammate or opponent, collision with equipment, whereas examples of indirect impacts include colliding with a teammate or opponent causing abrupt stopping (i.e., whiplash). Linear acceleration is hypothesized to cause transient intracranial pressure gradients, while rotational acceleration is hypothesized to cause shear strain injury in the neural tissue. However, it is possible that concussion is caused by a combination of linear and rotational accelerations. Numerous studies have recorded head impact data in various sports including: tackle<sup>91–103</sup> and flag<sup>101</sup> football, soccer<sup>98,104–106</sup>, ice hockey<sup>98,107–110</sup>, rugby<sup>111,112</sup> athletes, and major league baseball catchers and umpires<sup>113</sup>.

The majority of studies examining the magnitude of head impacts has been conducted in football athletes of all levels, including youth, high school, and college. In youth football, median peak linear accelerations range from 10.0g to 22.0g, with only 2% of head impacts being greater than  $80.0g^{.99,100,102,103}$  Compared to youth tackle football, youth flag football players have been shown to have lower odds of sustaining head impacts less than 20g, but with higher odds of sustaining peak rotational accelerations between 2500.00 - 7499.99 rad/s<sup>2.101</sup> Interestingly, concussion tolerance may be lower for youth athletes compared to older athletes. Specifically, Camplettano and colleagues<sup>95</sup> reported youth athletes sustained average peak linear acceleration of  $62.4 \pm 29.7g$  compared to  $102.5 \pm 32.7g$  for adults. In addition, youth athletes sustained average peak rotational acceleration of  $2609.0 \pm 1591.0$  rad/s<sup>2</sup> compared to  $4412.0 \pm 236.0$  rad/s<sup>2.95</sup>

Urban and colleagues<sup>94</sup> reported that median peak linear accelerations for high school football players ranged from 15.2g to 27.0g. Mihalik and colleagues<sup>91</sup> reported that collegiate football players sustained head impacts between 21.0 and 23.0gs. Similarly, Crisco et al.<sup>92</sup> reported that the 50<sup>th</sup> percentile for peak linear acceleration was 20.0g and 95<sup>th</sup> percentile values 49.5g in collegiate football athletes. Interestingly, Rowson and colleagues<sup>114</sup> reported that only about 10% of impacts result in peak linear acceleration above 40.0g and only 8.35% of head impacts were above peak acceleration of 3000.0 rad/s<sup>2</sup> and none of the collegiate athletes in the study sustained a concussion.

Recently researchers have utilized sideline biomechanical data collected via the Head Impact Telemetry (HIT) System, to associate head impacts with concussion

occurrence. By using this monitoring system, researchers could quantify head impacts and eventually identify single head impact events that result in concussion. Researchers have sought to identify the minimum threshold that causes concussion. In tackle football, specifically professional football, researchers have suggested that 70 – 75g were required in order for a concussion to occur and this was identified as the minimum threshold.<sup>115</sup> However, this study is limited by lack of real-time head acceleration data. Rather that collect real-time head acceleration data on the field of play, Pellman and colleagues<sup>115</sup> simulated concussions in the laboratory. Since the publication of Pellman et al.<sup>115</sup>, researchers have sought to identify the minimum threshold associated with concussion. Funk and colleagues<sup>116</sup> recorded that the average linear acceleration for concussion was 145.0 ± 35.0g; however, following a risk analysis for concussion, researchers reported a minimal threshold of 100g as an identifier of concussion. In an study of high school and collegiate football athletes, Beckwith and colleagues<sup>117</sup> reported that single impacts associated with diagnosed concussion were peak linear accelerations of 112.1 ± 35.4g and peak rotational accelerations of 4253.0 ± 2287.0 rad/s<sup>2</sup>. Similarly, Rowson and colleagues found that concussions in high school and collegiate football players were associated with 102.0 ± 33.0g for linear acceleration and 4412.0 ± 2326.0 rad/s<sup>2</sup> for rotational acceleration.<sup>118,119</sup> However, Stemper and colleagues<sup>97</sup> reported that the mean linear accelerations associated with concussion in collegiate football athletes was 71.0 ± 30.0g and mean rotational accelerations of  $3379.0 \pm 1775.0 \text{ rad/s}^2$ . Interestingly, 56% of the concussions reported by Stemper and colleagues were associated with head impacts that were indicative of less than a 1% risk of injury.97,120 Furthermore, Wilcox and colleauges107 reported a lower threshold for

concussion in male and female ice hockey players. Specifically, the average peak linear acceleration of concussion causing impacts in collegiate ice hockey players was  $43.0 \pm 11.5$ g and the peak rotational acceleration was  $4030.0 \pm 1435.0$  rad/s<sup>2</sup>.<sup>107</sup> It is possible that the inclusion of female athletes could be a reason for the significantly lower injury threshold.<sup>107</sup>

Although predicting concussion occurrence using sideline head impact technology may be advantageous for injury identification and diagnosis, caution should be taken when interpreting these data. It is possible that some players sustain high acceleration impacts that do not result in a concussion. Similarly, it is possible that some athletes may sustain a concussion as a result of low acceleration impacts. Even though numerous studies have attempted to define a concussion threshold, there is still no clear impact that always results in concussion in athletes. In addition, these studies have only investigated single head impact events. Although single head impacts often result in concussion, it is argued that repetitive head impacts, at magnitudes lower than what may result in a concussion, may lower the tolerance for injury.<sup>97,121</sup>

#### Pathophysiology of Sport Related Concussion

Concussion is characterized as a functional injury, referring to microstructural injury to the neural tissue. Immediately after a concussive injury a series of cellular events, known as the neurometabolic cascade, occur.<sup>122</sup> The neurometabolic cascade is characterized by bioenergetic challenges, cytoskeletal and axonal alterations, impairments in neurotransmission, vulnerability to delayed cell death, and chronic dysfunction.<sup>122</sup> Immediately after biomechanical injury, neuronal depolarization occurs due to intracellular potassium efflux, through voltage-gated channels.<sup>122</sup> This event

triggers a positive feedback loop, which increases the number of open voltage-gated channels and further promoting depolarization.<sup>122</sup> In addition, glutamate, a potassium efflux promoting neurotransmitter, binds to N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors, opening potassium/calcium channels, which results in the accumulation of calcium in the cell.<sup>123</sup> Intracellular calcium has a demonstrative effect causing cell damage and mitochondrial impairment.<sup>124</sup> Consequently, a depression-like state spreads throughout the cell.<sup>122</sup> In an effort to restore cellular homeostasis and meet cellular demands, the mitochondria attempt to increase Adenosine Triphosphate (ATP) production by activating ATP-dependent sodium potassium pumps.<sup>125,126</sup> As a result, the cell begins hyperglycolysis, which causes a depletion of intracellular energy reserves and increased Adenosine Diphosphate (ADP). Simultaneously, this need for energy is occurring in an environment of normal of diminished cerebral blood flow.<sup>122</sup>

Changes in cerebral blood flow occur soon after concussion due to alterations in acute and chronic vasoreactivity. It is hypothesized that the primary mechanism for changes in vasoreactivity is reduced endothelial and smooth muscle responsiveness occurring due to endothelial nitric oxide production, which may contribute to vulnerability to secondary injury and chronic symptom provocation with continued exertion.<sup>128,129</sup> Interestingly, previous research suggests that cerebral blood flow alterations may persist beyond symptom resolution.<sup>130,131</sup> Specifically, researchers have observed a correlation between functional MRI cerebral blood flow and initial symptom severity; however, cerebral blood flow may take longer to return to baseline levels compared to symptoms and neurocognitive performance.<sup>130,131</sup> In a recent study, Meier and colleagues<sup>130</sup> assessed and compared the recovery of cerebral blood flow to cognitive

and behavioral symptoms in collegiate athletes. Interestingly, cognitive and behavioral symptoms resolved at 1 week and 1 month, respectively.<sup>130</sup> In addition, cerebral blood flow in the dorsal midinsular cortex was decreased at one month post-injury and inversely related to psychiatric symptoms in collegiate athletes.<sup>130</sup> Similarly, Maugans et al.<sup>132</sup> examined cerebral blood flow alterations in children, aged 11 – 15, after SRC. Children with SRC demonstrated symptom score resolution and recovered reaction time at 14 days and 30 days, respectively.<sup>132</sup> However, only 27% of children demonstrated cerebral blood flow values at control levels by 14 days post-injury.<sup>132</sup> By 30 days post injury, 64% of children had cerebral blood flow values at control.<sup>132</sup> However, another study suggests that reduced cerebral blood flow values may persist up to 40 days post-concussion.<sup>133</sup> Although previous research<sup>130,132,133</sup> suggests that cerebral blood flow is altered after SRC, more studies are needed to understand the time in which levels may normalize in concussed athletes.

In addition to metabolic and cellular changes, neuronal pathway alterations can occur following SRC. Particularly, axons are vulnerable to impact-acceleration, leading to sheer stress and tension resulting from coup-contrecoup injuries, such as SRC.<sup>134,135</sup> Damage occurs at the neurofilaments and microtubules, which can disrupt bidirectional axonal transport, isolate the synapse, potentially interfere with normal neurotransmission, or may lead to potential for axonal disconnection (axotomy).<sup>122</sup> However, it is important to note that primary axotomy, or immediate axonal disconnection, does not occur in a majority of individuals with SRC, rather it is the neurotransmitter flux that occurs immediately after injury that causes axotomy.<sup>136,137</sup> Consequently, axotomy is exacerbated by the accumulation of calcium ions.<sup>138</sup> Recent
research<sup>122</sup> has linked the physiological changes that occur as part of the neurometabolic cascade to clinical signs and symptoms of concussion.

# Signs, Symptoms, and Impairment after Sport Related Concussion

Sport-related concussion is an unique injury in that it is a heterogeneous injury, in which individuals present with a wide variety of signs and symptoms. Given that individuals with SRC present differently, assessment and management can prove difficult for clinicians. Currently, there is no biomarker or test that clinicians can utilize to diagnose SRC on the sideline. Therefore, clinicians must utilize a series of assessments, termed a multifaceted approach, in order to appropriately identify individuals with SRC. Generally, individuals with SRC present with one or more of the following: symptoms (e.g., headache), physical signs (e.g., loss of consciousness), balance problems, behavioral changes (e.g., irritability), cognitive impairment (e.g., decreased reaction time), and/or sleep disturbance (e.g., trouble falling asleep).<sup>1</sup> An individual's specific post-injury signs, symptoms, and impairments have significant implications for recovery and treatment.

# Signs and Symptoms

SRC diagnosis involves the assessment of signs and symptoms. However, signs and symptoms of concussion are not specific to concussion. For example, concussion symptoms can also occur in other sport related conditions including dehydration, heatrelated illness, or anemia.<sup>139</sup> No one symptom checklist is used universally. Currently, several checklists exist that capture patient reported symptoms after concussion including the Post-Concussion Symptom Scale (PCSS), Post-Concussion Symptom Inventory (PCSI), Graded Symptom Checklist (GSC), Head Injury Scale (HIS),

Rivermead Post Concussion Symptom Questionnaire (RPQ). In addition, in 2012 the Concussion in Sport Group developed the Child Sport Concussion Assessment Tool – 3 in order to provide a developmentally appropriate symptom evaluation for children aged 5 - 12 years of age.<sup>140</sup>

Given the functional nature of concussion, clinicians rely on athletes to disclose their concussion symptoms in the event of injury. Therefore, it is necessary that athletes are knowledgeable about common symptoms of concussion. In an effort to improve concussion knowledge and improve concussion disclosure, the NCAA mandates that every collegiate athlete receive formal concussion education in the form of handouts, lectures, and or emails.<sup>141</sup> However, although considerable effort has been made to improve symptom identification and improve concussion reporting, athletes continue to not disclose their injuries. Previous research suggests that up to 50%<sup>142,143</sup> of high school football athletes and up to 68%<sup>144</sup> of collegiate football athletes reported they had sustained a concussion that they did not report. In addition, 42% of women's soccer, 36% of men's lacrosse, and 36% of wrestling collegiate athletes have not reported a concussion in the past.<sup>144</sup> Non-disclosure of concussion poses significant consequences, such as increased risk of catastrophic injury (e.g., second impact syndrome)<sup>122</sup> or prolonged recovery.<sup>45</sup> Given the ramifications of continuing to play with a suspected concussion, it is imperative to create targeted interventions to improve concussion reporting behaviors.

Previous research suggests that 99% of concussions result in symptoms.<sup>145</sup> Headache is commonly reported as the most frequently endorsed symptom, with 87.5% – 94.7% of adolescent and collegiate athletes reporting experiencing headache after

injury.<sup>65,66,145–148</sup> In addition, approximately 85% of children present with headache after concussion.<sup>149</sup> Other commonly endorsed symptoms include: dizziness (61.3% – 73.8%)<sup>65,66,145,147–149</sup>, difficulty concentrating (61% – 54.8%)<sup>66,145,147,148</sup>, sensitivity to light (52.6% – 46.6%)<sup>65,147</sup>, and sensitivity to noise (39.3%)<sup>65</sup>. Specifically, in children, 64.2% endorsed fatigue, making it the second most reported symptom; while another study found it to be the most severe.<sup>149,150</sup> Early researchers believed that loss of consciousness was required for positive concussion diagnosis, however recent research suggests that loss of consciousness is an infrequent result from concussion. Specifically, McCrea and colleagues<sup>151</sup> reported only 6.4% of athletes experience loss of consciousness, whereas other authors have reported frequencies of less than 5%.<sup>145,147,148</sup>

In addition to understanding frequently reported symptoms at initial presentation, researchers have identified symptoms that take longer to resolve. Eisenberg and colleagues<sup>149</sup> reported that sleep disturbance, frustration, forgetfulness, and fatigue symptoms were more likely to present at follow-up in children with concussion. Similarly, Blinman et al.<sup>150</sup> observed that up to 38% of patients reported excess sleep as the most frequent symptom and trouble falling asleep as the most severe symptom at 2 - 3 weeks post-concussion. Interestingly, more than 25% of patients were still reporting headache after one month of injury, while another study reported 43% of patients still reported headache after 3 months.<sup>149,152</sup> Furthermore, 20% of children were still reporting fatigue a month after injury.<sup>149</sup> In addition to headache and fatigue, previous research suggests irritability, sleep disturbance, frustration, poor concentration, and fogginess take the longest to recover.<sup>146,149</sup> Whereas, nausea, depression, dizziness,

and double vision are the most quick to recover after concussion.<sup>149</sup> Results of these studies indicate that certain symptoms are slower to resolve compared to other symptoms, suggesting the need for targeted management practices.

In an effort to better inform clinical practice and provide a more targeted management approach, researchers have used factor analytical methods to create symptom factors, which are comprised of similar symptoms.<sup>153</sup> Identifying symptom factors at baseline (i.e., pre-injury) and post-injury could provide critical information to the clinician. Baseline symptom factors may provide the clinician with an idea of what symptoms may be prominent after injury. In addition, identifying post-concussion symptom factors may help guide concussion treatment approaches. For example, athletes with sleep symptoms may benefit more from cognitive behavioral therapy than athletes with predominately cognitive symptoms.<sup>153</sup>

Using the PCSS, Pardini and colleagues<sup>154</sup> reported 4 symptom factors: cognitive, sleep problems, emotionality, and somatic. In a follow up study, Kontos and colleagues<sup>153</sup> examined PCSS symptom factors in concussed athletes within 7 days of injury. The results of the study revealed a 4 factor solution: cognitive-fatigue-migraine, affective, somatic, and sleep.<sup>153</sup> Researchers have also examined the factor structures of other common symptom scales including the HIS<sup>155</sup>, GSC<sup>156</sup>, and RPQ<sup>157,158</sup>, and Sport Concussion Assessment Tool (SCAT) symptom inventory.<sup>159</sup> For the HIS, researchers observed a 3 factor solution with somatic, cognitive, and neuropsychological post-concussion symptom factors.<sup>155</sup> Similarly, 3 post-concussion symptom factors (Mood and Cognition, General Somatic, and Visual Somatic) were revealed for the Rivermead Post-Concussion Symptoms Questionniare.<sup>158</sup>

Post-concussion symptom reporting, although subjective, is an important marker of recovery. Although many researchers have documented the time to symptom resolution, more research is needed to understand time to symptom resolution after concussion. Early research  $^{151,160-165}$  suggested that symptoms resolved 5 – 10 days after concussion. Guskiewicz and colleagues<sup>160</sup> reported that, on average, symptom resolution took 3.5 days in collegiate football players. In addition, about 88% of collegiate football players were asymptomatic within one week of injury.<sup>160</sup> In a similar study, McCrea and colleagues<sup>161</sup> reported that 91% of collegiate football athlete symptoms returned to baseline by 7 days. Similarly, Erlanger and colleagues<sup>166</sup> reported that post-concussion symptoms alleviated on average 6.02 days after injury. In addition, Wasserman and colleagues<sup>84</sup> observed that 35.7% of collegiate athlete's symptoms resolved in less than or equal to 3 days after injury. By one week post injury, 60.1% of collegiate athletes reported being symptom free.<sup>84</sup> Only 6.2% of collegiate athletes to over 4 weeks for symptoms to subside completely.<sup>84</sup> Similarly, Makdissi and colleagues, found that only 10 – 15% of patients had symptom recoveries greater than 10 days.<sup>164</sup> However, other research suggests<sup>149,167–170</sup> that symptom resolution takes longer. Henry and colleagues<sup>170</sup> measured post-concussion symptoms weekly for 4 weeks. The results of the study suggest that symptoms improve significantly from week 1 to week 2, but improvement slows thereafter.<sup>170</sup> Approximately 45% of athletes reached asymptomatic status by 3 weeks and by 4 weeks, 56% of athletes were asymptomatic.<sup>170</sup> Interestingly, it's possible that discrepancies in symptom resolution could be due to the definition of symptom recovery used in these studies. Some studies<sup>84,146,160,166,168,169</sup> define symptom recovery as participants being deemed

asymptomatic meaning that the total symptom score is 0. Other studies<sup>151,161,163,165,171,172</sup> have defined symptom recovery as returning to baseline, comparing symptoms to a control group, normative baseline levels, or some other definition.<sup>149,167</sup>

### Neurocognitive Impairment

The assessment and management of concussion has shifted from relying on subjective, self-reported symptoms (i.e., "Tell me how you are feeling?") to neurocognitive assessments that provide objective, quantifiable data on the cognitive status of the injured athlete. Given that some athletes withhold and/or minimize postconcussion symptoms,<sup>173</sup> there is need for objective assessments to help corroborate subjective symptom reports. Neurocognitive assessment is often described as the "cornerstone" of concussion assessment and has the advantage of introducing objectivity to concussion assessment.<sup>174</sup> Early researchers and clinicians relied on traditional paper and pencil neuropsychological tests, such as the Trail Making Test, Stroop Color Word Test, and WAIS-III Digit Span Test.<sup>175</sup> Recently, traditional paper and pencil measures have been replaced by CNT due to its ability to administer baseline tests to large groups of athletes concurrently, ease of administration, wide availability on electronic platforms (i.e., desktop, online, iPads) availability of normative databases, and alternate test forms to reduce practice effects.<sup>3–5</sup> Computerized neurocognitive testing is one tool that has been widely implemented for concussion management and provides an objective complement to athlete symptom reports. Serial post-concussion CNT administration may help clinicians make return to play decisions as it may provide critical information, especially in the acute phase of injury.<sup>1</sup>

Currently, there are several different CNTs available for concussion assessment including: Automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metrics (ANAM), C3Logix, CogSport, Concussion Resolution Index, CNS Vital Signs, ImPACT, XLNTbrain, and XLNTbrain Sport. In a recent study, Lempke and colleagues examined ATs concussion assessment and management practices and they reported that 60% of ATs utilize some form of CNT. However, the ImPACT battery is the most commonly used, specifically with approximately 84% of ATs reportedly using the test for concussion assessment and management.<sup>25</sup>

The ImPACT battery is a neuropsychological screening tool that evaluates concentration, attention, memory, visual motor speed, and reaction time that has been used in high school collegiate, and professional athletes. The ImPACT battery calculates 5 composite scores: verbal memory, visual memory, processing speed, reaction time, and total symptoms.<sup>176</sup> Previous research reports that the ImPACT battery is a reliable CNT specifically designed to assess SRC. Given it is recommended that CNT be administered in a serial fashion in order to track recovery in athletes, adequate test-retest reliability must be ensured. Researchers have examined the test-retest reliability of ImPACT at 1 hour (Intraclass Correlation Coefficients [ICCs] = 0.51 - 0.85)<sup>177</sup>, 1 week (Pearson correlation coefficient = 0.67 - 0.79)<sup>178</sup>, 1 month (ICCs = 0.60 - 0.88)<sup>179</sup>, 45 day (ICC = 0.70 - 0.87)<sup>176</sup>, 50 days (ICCs = 0.74 - 0.91)<sup>176</sup>, 1 year (0.62 - 0.82)<sup>180</sup>, and 2 years (0.46 - 0.74) intervals<sup>181</sup>. Overall, previous research suggests that ImPACT is a reliable neurocognitive tool that can be used in a serial administration manner.

Previous researchers have also examined validity measures of ImPACT. Maerlender and colleagues<sup>182,183</sup> examined the construct, convergent, and divergent validity of the ImPACT battery in collegiate football players. Researchers compared scores on the ImPACT battery to traditional neuropsychological measures in healthy male athletes and the results revealed that all ImPACT domain scores (verbal memory, visual memory, visual processing speed, and reaction time) were significantly correlated with traditional neuropsychological measures.<sup>183</sup> Study results suggest that ImPACT has acceptable construct, convergent, and divergent validity.<sup>182,183</sup> Other studies examined the sensitivity and specificity of ImPACT. Schatz and colleagues<sup>184</sup> were to first to examine the diagnostic utility of ImPACT in high school athletes. The results of the study showed that 81.9% of athletes in the concussion group and 89.4% of athletes in the non-concussed group were correctly identified.<sup>184</sup> Similarly, Broglio et al.<sup>185</sup> reported a sensitivity of 91.7% and specificity of 89.4% in Division I collegiate athletes, which are considered high levels. Finally, it is important to understand the range of measurement error associated with repeat test administrations. Understanding the possible measurement error allows for the clinician to determine deterioration, improvement, and recovery following concussion.<sup>178</sup> Reliable change indices (RCIs) are used to assess whether the change between repeat administrations are reliable and meaningful.<sup>186</sup> ImPACT RCIs are: verbal memory = 6.83, visual memory = 10.59, reaction time = 0.05 seconds, processing speed = 3.89, and total symptoms = 7.17.

Previous researchers have documented neurocognitive impairment in collegiate<sup>161,171,187–189</sup> and high school<sup>7,8,167,178,190–193</sup> athletes after concussion. Iverson and colleagues<sup>8</sup> were one of the first groups to track neurocognitive performance across

time in athletes. Athletes were administered ImPACT 1 - 2 days, 3 - 7 days, and 1 - 3weeks after concussion. The results of the study revealed that neurocognitive impairment were largely resolved within 5 days of concussion and fully resolved by 10 days.<sup>8</sup> In another study, McCrea et al.<sup>161</sup> examined the effects of concussion on neurocognitive performance in collegiate student-athletes. Collegiate student-athlete neurocognitive performance recovered to baseline levels within 5 to 7 days after concussion.<sup>161</sup> However, other studies suggest that neurocognitive impairment takes longer to resolve. McClincy et al.<sup>6</sup> reported that neurocognitive deficits took at least 14 days to resolve in high school and collegiate athletes. Covassin and colleagues<sup>7</sup> examined the cognitive performance in concussed high school athletes. Concussed high school athletes demonstrated significantly decreased reaction time up to 14 days after injury with reaction time impairment recovering at 21 days after injury.<sup>7</sup> In addition, verbal memory and processing speed impairment recovered by 14 days after injury.<sup>7</sup> Overall, this study suggests that neurocognitive impairment may take up to 14 days to resolve in high school athletes.<sup>7</sup> Interestingly, however, Henry et al.<sup>170</sup> reported that high school athletes took longer for neurocognitive impairments to recover. Specifically, in contrast to Covassin et al.<sup>7</sup>, verbal memory did not demonstrate significant improvements until 4 weeks after concussion. In addition, visual memory, processing speed, and reaction time demonstrated a linear recovery trajectory, significantly improving over time up until 3 weeks after injury.<sup>170</sup> It is possible that differences in these findings, particularly in neurocognitive performance, could be due to age differences.

Covassin and colleagues<sup>194</sup> examined age differences in neurocognitive performance after concussion 2, 7, and 14 days after injury. Study results revealed that high school athletes demonstrated worse neurocognitive performance, particularly verbal and visual memory, compared to collegiate athletes.<sup>194</sup> Similarly, Field et al.<sup>187</sup> reported that high school athletes had significantly worse memory performance compared to collegiate athletes. Furthermore, Iverson et al.<sup>8</sup> reported that 37% of high school athletes were still impaired on 2 or more neurocognitive composites 10 days after concussion. Finally, Murdaugh and colleagues<sup>193</sup> assessed neurocognitive performance in athletes ranging from 8 – 21 years following concussion. Similar to previous research,<sup>8,187,194</sup> the results of the Murdaugh et al.<sup>193</sup> suggest that vounger athletes had significantly worse neurocognitive performance compared to older athletes.<sup>193</sup> Interestingly, although younger athletes performed significantly worse initially compared to older athletes, younger athletes improved quickly overtime.<sup>193</sup> There are several hypotheses for the occurrence of age differences in neurocognitive performance after concussion. First, the structure of the youth brain differs from the adult brain related to the geometry, structure, and physiological responses to mechanical and emotional stress.<sup>193</sup> Second, children have less developed cervical musculature and higher head to neck ratio compared to adults.<sup>195</sup> Finally, children may be more vulnerable to longer term sequelae due to the brain systems in charge of skill acquisition.<sup>196</sup> Given the results of these studies, clinicians should consider age differences when interpreting neurocognitive performance after concussion. In addition to age differences, previous research has documented sex differences in neurocognitive performance after concussion.

Previous research<sup>170,189,192,194,197–200</sup> is mixed on whether sex differences exist in neurocognitive performance after concussion. Broshek and colleagues<sup>189</sup> were the first to evaluate the influence of sex on neurocognitive performance after concussion. Their results suggest that female high school and collegiate athletes demonstrated worse simple and complex reaction time compared to male high school and collegiate athletes.<sup>189</sup> Furthermore, female athletes were 1.7 times more likely than males to have neurocognitive impairment after concussion.<sup>189</sup> In a follow up study, Covassin et al.<sup>199</sup> examined sex differences in neurocognitive function after concussion. Results revealed that female collegiate athletes performed significantly worse on visual memory than male collegiate athletes after concussion.<sup>199</sup> This finding of decreased visual memory is replicated in several other studies.<sup>192,194</sup> In addition to visual memory deficits, these studies document verbal memory impairment in female athletes compared to male athletes.<sup>192,194</sup> However, other studies<sup>170,197,200</sup> suggest that sex differences do not exist in neurocognitive performance after concussion. Unlike previous researchers, Zuckerman and colleagues<sup>200</sup> found no differences in visual or verbal memory between concussed male and female soccer players. Furthermore, when including a wide variety of sports, Sufrinko et al.<sup>197</sup> reported no sex differences in neurocognitive performance after concussion. Similarly, no differences were found in neurocognitive performance between male and female athletes when followed for 4 weeks.<sup>170</sup> It is possible the contrasting results could be due to methodological differences such as low sample sizes, including specific sports such as soccer, and time until first test administration. Overall, research<sup>189,192,194,198,199</sup> suggests that there are sex differences in neurocognitive performance after concussion. Therefore, clinicians should compare

post-injury neurocognitive performance to an athlete's own baseline performance or sex comparable normative values.<sup>201</sup>

## Vestibular and Ocular Motor Impairment

In addition to symptoms and neurocognitive impairments, vestibular and ocular motor impairments are common after concussion. Specifically, it is estimated that 60 -81% of athletes suffer from vestibular impairments and symptoms, while 42 – 45% of athletes demonstrate ocular impairments and symptoms after concussion.<sup>202–204</sup> Athletes with vestibular impairments may complain of dizziness, unstable vision, difficulty focusing, motion sickness, difficulty navigating busy visual environments, and imbalance.<sup>205</sup> Whereas, ocular motor impairment manifests as blurred vision, diplopia, difficulty reading, eyestrain, headache, and difficulty with visual scanning.<sup>205</sup> Importantly, undetected vestibular and ocular motor impairments may lead to increased symptoms, academic difficulties, and anxiety/mood changes.<sup>205</sup> Given the frequency of vestibular and ocular motor impairments and the potential consequences of impairment, there is a need to include an assessment within the multimodal framework for concussion. Currently, the gold standard for assessing vestibular and ocular motor impairments include the Dynamic Visual Activity Test (DVAT) and Gaze Stability Test (GST). However, these assessments may not be feasible given their cost and a requirement that they are administered by trained professionals. Given that sideline evaluation is an essential component in the assessment of concussion, it is important that ATs have access to a brief tool to appropriately assess vestibular and ocular motor impairments on the sideline.

In an effort to address the need for a brief vestibular and ocular motor assessment, researchers developed the Vestibular Ocular Motor Screening (VOMS) tool,<sup>202</sup> which assesses symptom provocation following a series of vestibular and ocular motor tasks. The VOMS consists of 4 ocular motor components (smooth pursuits, horizontal and vertical saccades, near point convergence [NPC] distance and symptoms) and 3 vestibular components (horizontal and vertical vestibular ocular reflex [VOR] and visual motion sensitivity [VMS]). Before administering the VOMS, patients report their pretest symptoms of headache, dizziness, nausea, and fogginess on a 11point Likert scale ranging from 0 = none to 10 = severe. Following the administration of each vestibular or ocular task, patients rate their symptoms on the scale.

Traditionally, the VOMS is scored using a total score by summing the individual symptom scores for headache, dizziness, nausea, and fogginess. Previously published<sup>202</sup> clinical cutoff scores for identifying concussion were determined as any total symptom score  $\geq$  2 on any VOMS component and average NPC distance  $\geq$  5cm. Recently, researchers have advocated for a change scoring method, which is calculated as the difference between pretest symptoms and the total symptom score for each VOMS component. Previous research suggests that the VOMS is a sensitive and reliable tool. The VOR, VMS, and NPC distance components of the VOMS have a combined sensitivity of 89%. In addition, the VOMS has a high internal consistency that ranges from Cronbach  $\alpha$  = .92 to  $\alpha$  = .97 in youth and collegiate athletes.<sup>202,206–209</sup> Furthermore, previous research reports that the VOMS has a low false positive rate that ranges from 2 – 18%.<sup>202,206–211</sup>

Previous researchers have examined changes in vestibular and ocular motor symptoms and impairments in adolescent and collegiate athletes.<sup>202,212,213</sup> Mucha and colleagues<sup>202</sup> administered the VOMS within 7 days of injury and showed that 61% of concussed athletes reported symptom provocation on the VOR, whereas smooth pursuit and vertical saccade only provoked symptoms in 33% of concussed athletes.<sup>202</sup> Compared to controls, concussed athletes demonstrated significantly worse scores on all VOMS components.<sup>202</sup> In addition, concussed athletes demonstrated significantly greater NPC distance than control athletes.<sup>202</sup> Specifically, while investigating vestibular impairment after concussion, Corwin et al.<sup>212</sup> reported that 81% of youth athletes demonstrated abnormal VOR. However, it should be noted that these studies are limited due to their cross-sectional designs and lack of prospective data. Utilizing a prospective method of assessment provides several advantages including allowing the patient to serve as their own control and the comparison of post-injury data to baseline data.

Elbin et al.<sup>210</sup> were the first to examine prospective changes in vestibular and ocular motor impairment after concussion in adolescent athletes. Athletes were administered the VOMS at baseline, 1 - 7 days, and 8 - 14 days after concussion. The results revealed that VOMS total scores were significantly worse 1 - 7 days and 8 - 14 days after concussion compared to baseline total scores. Similar to VOMS total scores, VOMS change scores were significantly worse at 1 - 7 days post injury.<sup>210</sup> However, when using VOMS change scores, impairments at 8 - 14 days were reported for only the vertical VOR and VMS components.<sup>210</sup> The results of this study suggest that vestibular and ocular motor impairments are evident after concussion, particularly in the acute period (< 7 days). Interestingly, Henry and colleagues<sup>170</sup> reported that vestibular

and ocular motor impairment significantly decreases from week 1 - 2 to week 3 - 4, however it is possible some athletes could still be experiencing vestibular and ocular motor impairments 4 weeks after injury.

In addition to the VOMS, the King-Devick (KD) is another sideline tool that assesses the visual system after concussion. Originally intended as a reading tool to assess ocular motor function and identify learning disabilities, the KD test is a rapid number naming test that requires attention, language, and concentration.<sup>214</sup> Currently, the KD test is part of the multifaceted assessment approach used on the sideline immediately after suspected concussion. Until recently, the KD test was administered using a physical, spiral bound booklet with 3 test cards. Currently there is a version designed for a tablet. Athletes are instructed to read out loud a series of numbers from left to right as quickly as possible while the clinician keep time. The total time for the athlete to read all three cards is recorded, as well as the number of errors made in reading the test cards. The fastest (best) time of the 2 trials is recorded as the KD test time. Previous research suggests that the KD test is reliable with test re-test reliability ICCs ranging from 0.60 to 0.97, indicating high test-retest reliability.<sup>211,215–226</sup> In addition, several studies<sup>222,223,227</sup> have examined the clinical utility of the KD test and have returned mixed results. Fuller and colleagues<sup>227</sup> revealed a sensitivity of 59.6% and a specificity of 39.2% in elite rugby athletes, whereas Hecimovich et al.<sup>222</sup> reported a sensitivity of 98% and a specificity of 96% in Australian football players. Finally, Naidu et al.<sup>223</sup> found a sensitivity of 62% and a specificity of 84% in Canadian football players. So, although the KD test is a highly reliable tool, caution should be taken due to low sensitivity and specificity.

Per the KD user manual instructions, if an athlete performs slower than their recorded baseline best total time or makes an error after a suspected concussion they should be removed from competition and evaluated further for concussion. However, previous research suggests that the KD test has a high false positive rate. In healthy, non-concussed athletes, when concussion is not suspected, athletes demonstrate slower (i.e., worse) KD performance. Elbin and colleagues<sup>226</sup> reported that 38% of nonconcussed high school athletes demonstrated slower KD times between two assessments. Similarly, Worts et al.<sup>211</sup> reported a 36% false positive rate in adolescent athletes, while Breedlove et al.<sup>228</sup> reported a 27% false positive rate. Rather than relying on absolute change, researchers have determined minimal detectable change and RCI, which may address the high false positive rate, by calculating the smallest clinically meaningful difference between post-concussion and baseline best total KD times. In a study by Heick et al.<sup>229</sup> the minimal detectable change across all trials was 6.35 seconds. Similarly, Alsalaheen et al.<sup>219</sup> reported a minimal detectable change of 6.10 seconds. However, Elbin and colleagues<sup>226</sup> reported a larger minimal detectable change (MDC) of 7.55 seconds. However, these studies only included adolescent athletes. Studies that calculated MDC values in collegiate and professional samples reported lower MDC values ranging from 5.5 – 6.8 seconds.<sup>230–232</sup> Results of these studies may help clinicians determine if the change demonstrated by athletes is due to concussion or measurement error.

Previous researchers<sup>218,226,233</sup> report that KD times are significantly slower (worse) in concussed athletes compared to baseline and/or control athletes. Siedman and colleagues<sup>233</sup> reported that high school athletes on average took 19.1 seconds

longer to complete the KD test after concussion compared to baseline. Similarly, Galetta et al.<sup>218</sup> reported that MMA fighters took 18.1 seconds longer post-head trauma compared to their baseline performance. Furthermore, Elbin and colleagues<sup>226</sup> reported that 72% of adolescent athletes performed worse on the KD test after concussion taking, on average, 14.1 seconds longer after injury. However, other researchers<sup>223,230,234,235</sup> report the change in baseline to post-injury performance to be smaller. For example, King et al.<sup>234</sup> reported a difference in 4.7 seconds between baseline and post-concussion KD performance in amateur rugby players. Similarly, Naidu et al.<sup>223</sup> and Galetta et al.<sup>230</sup> reported decreased KD performance of 5.1 and 5.9 seconds after concussion, respectively. In addition, Dhawan and colleagues<sup>235</sup> reported that concussed athletes performed 7.4 seconds slower on the KD test post-concussion compared to baseline performance. However, caution should be taken when interpreting these results due to the small sample sizes. The majority of the studies<sup>218,221,222,230,233–235</sup> investigating changes in pre- to post-SRC KD performance had a range in sample size from 7 to 20 athletes with concussion, therefore more research is needed. In addition, several studies<sup>223,226</sup> have examined the percentage of concussed athletes who perform faster (better) during post-injury examination. Specifically, Naidu and colleagues<sup>223</sup> reported that 38% of concussed athletes actually demonstrated faster KD performance during sideline evaluation, whereas Elbin et al.<sup>226</sup> reported that 28% of concussed athletes improved on KD performance. It is possible that faster sideline KD times in athletes with concussion could be due to higher motivations to return to play following suspected injury.<sup>223</sup> Although previous research suggests that the KD test demonstrates high reliability, the KD test should not be relied

on as a stand-alone sideline concussion assessment, the KD should be used in addition to other assessments in the multifaceted approach.

# Balance Impairment

Approximately 30% of athletes report balance dysfunction after SRC.<sup>66,236</sup> It is hypothesized that damage to the peripheral receptors or structural damage to the central processing structures resulting in inhibited sensory integration are the two mechanisms responsible for balance disturbance following SRC.<sup>237</sup> Balance disturbance is defined as the inability to stand in an upright position without deviating outside the base of support.<sup>237</sup> Given that balance deficits are common following injury, clinicians should include a balance assessment in the multifaceted approach. Several measures of balance are available: The Balance Error Scoring System (BESS), Sensory Organization Test (SOT), tandem gait, and the Romberg test. Similar to measures of vestibular and ocular motor function, balance assessments range from low-technology, subjective tests (e.g., BESS) to expensive, objective clinical assessments (e.g., SOT). The most common assessment used to measure balance deficits following SRC is the BESS test.<sup>238</sup>

The BESS test was originally developed to measure static posture in collegiate athletes<sup>161,239</sup>, but has been used to measure balance impairment in high school athletes as well.<sup>240–242</sup> The BESS is quick, easy to administer, and inexpensive. However, it is a subjective test that should be administered by trained clinicians. During the BESS, athletes are asked to position themselves in 3 different stances (double-leg, single-leg, tandem) on a firm and foam surface, for a total of 6 stances.<sup>243</sup> While athletes are in these stances, trained researchers or clinicians count errors that include:

opening eyes, lifting hand(s) off the iliac crest, stepping, stumbling, or falling, moving the hip more than 30° of flexion or abduction, lifting the forefoot or heel, and remaining out of position for more than 5 seconds.<sup>243</sup> For each error an athlete commits, they receive a point, earning potentially the maximum of 10 points. Athletes maintain the stance for 20 seconds. Previous research has documented the intra-rater reliability and inter-rater reliability in high school and collegiate athletes of the BESS with ICCs ranging from 0.63 – 0.92 and 0. 44 to 0.96, respectively.<sup>244–249</sup> Although the BESS has been shown to be reliable, previous researchers suggest that the BESS may only detect impairment after 3 - 5 days after injury.<sup>161,239</sup> However, Oldham and colleagues<sup>250</sup> reported no significant differences in BESS errors between baseline and post-concussion.

In addition, to the BESS, the tandem gait has been used to evaluate postural control after SRC. Previous iterations of the SCAT (i.e., SCAT3) have included a tandem gait protocol of 4 time trials; however, more recently the SCAT5 includes it as part of the neurological assessment.<sup>251</sup> Recently, research suggests that the tandem gait is more sensitive and specific to postural control changes after SRC than the BESS.<sup>250</sup> Evaluating dynamic balance, speed, and coordination may provide a better idea of how higher control centers are functioning post-concussion. Previous researchers have shown that tandem gait is negatively impacted after concussion. Oldham et al.<sup>250</sup> examined tandem gait in collegiate athletes at baseline and within 48 hours after SRC. Collegiate athletes took 1.21 seconds longer to complete the tandem gait 48 hours after injury, compared to baseline.<sup>250</sup> Similarly, Howell and colleagues<sup>252</sup> reported that collegiate athletes performed 1.24 seconds worse at 72 hours post-injury compared to baseline. Furthermore, collegiate athletes took approximately 11.4

seconds to perform the tandem gait compared to uninjured controls who took approximately 9 seconds.<sup>252</sup> Unlike the BESS, deficits in tandem gait performance may be evident up to 2 months post-concussion.<sup>253</sup> Interestingly, these long-term deficits are increasingly evident with the incorporation of a dual-task, combining motor and cognitive tasks. It is postulated that utilizing a dual task paradigm mimics activities of daily living.<sup>254</sup>

Howell and collegaues<sup>254</sup> prospectively examined the effect of concussion on gait balance control in single- and dual-task conditions. The results of study suggest that concussed adolescents demonstrated decreased ability to maintain forward momentum and decreased balance control maintenance compared to healthy control adolescents.<sup>254</sup> In addition, concussed adolescents demonstrated higher medial/lateral center of mass velocity and displacement in the dual-task condition compared to healthy control athletes up to 2 months after injury.<sup>254</sup> Interestingly, Howell and colleagues reported that even after return to activity, athletes with concussion demonstrated significantly increased total center of mass medial/lateral displacement and peak velocity, suggesting that after returning to play, athletes regress in their recovery of gait balance control.<sup>255</sup> However, it should be noted that age could be a factor in long term gait balance control deficits. Howell et al.<sup>253</sup> reported that adolescent athletes with concussion demonstrated greater total center of mass medial-lateral displacement compared to adolescent healthy controls; however, concussed young adults did not differ from their controls. Utilizing tandem gait, especially with a dual-task component, within the multifaceted paradigm could provide clinicians with a more sensitive assessment for identifying postural control impairments in athletes with concussion.

## Sport Related Concussion Recovery

Understanding time to recovery following SRC has been the interest of many researchers; however, it is still disputed in the current literature. Establishing SRC recovery time is difficult due to there being no gold standard management measure. Recovery time is defined as return to normal activities, including school, work, and sport.<sup>1</sup> Athletes are said to be recovered from concussion when post-concussion symptoms have resolved and neurocognitive and balance performance returns to baseline or pre-injury level. It was previously believed that the majority of athletes recover from concussion in approximately 7 – 10 days.<sup>1,47,256</sup> However, more recent research suggests that the majority of athletes recover in 10 - 14 days.<sup>1,257</sup> Although a majority of athletes recover within three weeks, about 20% of athletes with SRC experience protracted recovery (i.e., > 21 days).<sup>8</sup> The variability of recovery time between athletes may be due in part to pre-existing risk factors or post-injury clinical factors, that may predispose athletes to longer recovery times. Female sex, younger age, personal or family history of migraine, and mental health disorders have been identified as possible risk factors for prolonged recovery.<sup>258</sup> In addition, post-injury clinical factors such as continuing to play with SRC, initial symptom burden, and posttraumatic migraine have been identified to influence recovery time.<sup>258</sup> However, it is possible that longer recovery times are a reflection of the advances made in concussion management.<sup>1</sup> Furthermore, it is possible that studies are limited by selection bias, specifically several of these studies include athletes recruited from large concussion clinics, which may include athletes with longer recovery times.<sup>1</sup> Identifying factors that

negatively influence recovery time may help researchers and clinicians develop individualized treatment interventions.

#### **Sport Related Concussion Treatment**

Early consensus statements described the cornerstone of concussion management as strict physical and cognitive rest. Given the physiological events that occur during the neurometabolic cascade, concussed athletes are at an increased vulnerability for catastrophic injury or prolonged recovery. Therefore, if concussed athletes abstained from physical activity until symptom resolution, the risk for further injury might be mitigated. This management strategy, commonly known as "cocoon therapy", restricted athletes to days in a darkened room with no sports or physical activity, no social interaction, and no screens.<sup>259,260</sup> However, this approach is more extreme than that prescribed to patients with traumatic brain injury (TBI).<sup>261</sup> Currently, no evidence exists to suggest that strict physical and cognitive rest until asymptomatic is rehabilitative.<sup>262,263</sup>

First, it is possible that strict, prolonged rest could lead to the development of anxiety,<sup>264</sup> depression-like symptoms,<sup>265–267</sup> or physical deconditioning.<sup>268,269</sup> In addition, it is possible that protracted rest may worsen outcomes and hinder recovery.<sup>270</sup> Thomas and colleagues<sup>270</sup> examined the effectiveness of recommending 5 days of strict rest compared with 24 to 48 hours of rest in athletes with concussion. Concussed athletes randomly assigned to 5 days of strict rest reported more daily post-concussive symptoms and took longer for symptoms to resolve compared to concussed athletes that were assigned 24 to 48 hours rest.<sup>270</sup> Another limitation of prescribing strict rest is the operational definition of rest. Operational definitions of physical and cognitive rest

are poorly defined and are defined differently across investigations.<sup>1,270–273</sup> Finally, the amount and duration of rest has not been empirically established.<sup>1,274</sup> The current consensus statement recommends that concussed athletes should practice strict rest until asymptomatic<sup>1</sup>; however, concussion symptoms are non-specific and it is not uncommon for healthy, non-concussed athletes to report concussion symptoms.<sup>275–277</sup> Therefore, it is possible that concussed athletes may never reach the asymptomatic phase. It should be noted that concussion is a treatable injury.<sup>205</sup> There is substantial data to suggest that exercise, specifically aerobic exercise, is an effective treatment for concussion.<sup>278–287</sup>

One possible active intervention that involves identifying a subsymptom threshold is the Buffalo Concussion Treadmill Test (BCTT).<sup>288</sup> The BCTT is an incremental treadmill test modified from the Balke protocol.<sup>288</sup> In addition, researchers have also developed a protocol using a bicycle ergometer for participants with orthopedic injuries and significant balance impairments.<sup>289</sup> The BCTT protocol starts with the participant walking on a treadmill set at 3.6 mph at a 0% incline for 1 minute.<sup>288</sup> After each minute, the incline is increased by 1% at the same speed.<sup>288</sup> During every minute of the test, researchers assess ratings of perceived exertion (RPE) and symptoms, while every 2 minutes, heart rate and blood pressure are recorded.<sup>288</sup> The exercise test is terminated when the participant reports an exacerbation of post-concussion symptoms, defined as three or more points compared to the participant's pre-exercise test symptom score.<sup>288</sup> After identifying the intensity of aerobic exercise that exacerbated post-concussion symptoms, concussed athletes are prescribed 20 minutes per day of aerobic exercise at

an intensity of 80% - 90% of the subsymptom threshold heart rate, once per day for 6 - 7 days of the week.<sup>288,290</sup>

In order to implement a treadmill exercise protocol as a treatment option for concussion, it is important to ensure that the protocol is safe and meets minimum standards for reliability. Leddy and colleagues<sup>286</sup> evaluated the safety and effectiveness of aerobic exercise training after concussion. Specifically, the participants in this study had been suffering from symptoms at rest for at least 6 weeks after injury.<sup>286</sup> Importantly, following the implementation of the exercise protocol, there were no instances of adverse events and no occasions where a participant could not exercise the following day due to symptom exacerbation.<sup>286</sup> In addition, when compared to baseline, participants' symptomology improved significantly and were able to meet consensus recommendations for return to play.<sup>1,286</sup> In addition, the BCTT demonstrates a high degree of interrater reliability and test-retest reliability.<sup>284</sup> Results of Leddy et al.<sup>284</sup> revealed good test re-test reliability for maximum heart rate (ICC = 0.79), but low for RPE (ICC = 0.42). In addition, the researchers achieved a sensitivity of 99% for identifying actors with symptoms and a specificity of 89% for ruling out concussion symptoms.<sup>284</sup> Therefore, results of the studies suggest that the modified Balke protocol is a safe and reliable, objective measure that may help clinicians make return to play decisions after concussion.284,286

Following preliminary studies,<sup>284,286</sup> researchers examined the effectiveness of aerobic exercise training compared to other forms of exercise in concussed athletes with prolonged symptomology. Kurowski and colleagues<sup>283</sup> randomly assigned concussed adolescent athletes with protracted symptomology to either a sub-symptom

exacerbation aerobic training protocol or full body stretching program. Concussed athletes in the aerobic training group demonstrated improved symptoms compared to the fully body stretching group.<sup>283</sup> However, Maerlender et al.<sup>291</sup> reported that an exertion protocol did not demonstrate a significant positive affect on recovery time. In fact, concussed athletes assigned to the exercise protocol demonstrated longer recovery time compared to the group prescribed standard practice (i.e., no systematic exertion beyond normal activities).<sup>291</sup> Interestingly, studies<sup>283,286,291</sup> investigating the effectiveness of aerobic exercise to treat prolonged symptoms yield mixed results. Researchers have also examined the effectiveness of early intervention as a treatment strategy for concussion.

Howell and colleagues<sup>292</sup> examined the association between exercise within one week post-concussion with symptom severity and time to symptom resolution. Interestingly, the group of concussed athletes who engaged in exercise post-injury did not demonstrate quicker symptom resolution compared to the group of athletes who did not engage in exercise post-injury.<sup>292</sup> The group that exercised reported lower symptom severity compared to the group who did not exercise.<sup>292</sup> In addition, Sufrinko and colleagues<sup>287</sup> reported that more physical activity was associated with worse outcomes. Specifically, physical activity during the first two weeks of injury was associated with worse vestibular and ocular outcomes and high and low levels of physical activity were associated with poor visual motor speed.<sup>287</sup> However, other researchers suggest<sup>282,285,293,294</sup> aerobic exercise may be beneficial for treating concussion.

Willer and colleagues<sup>293</sup> assigned concussed adolescents to either rest, aerobic exercise, or placebo stretching groups within 10 days of injury. The rest group

recovered fully in 16 days, while the exercise group recovered in 13 days, and the placebo stretching group recovered in 17 days. The results of this study suggest that early engagement in aerobic exercise may be an effective treatment strategy for concussion. Similarly, Lawrence and colleaues<sup>294</sup> wanted to examine whether earlier engagement in physical activity was associated with time to return to play and school. The results of the study revealed that earlier engagement in aerobic exercise was associated with faster return to sport and school.<sup>294</sup> In another study, Grool and colleagues<sup>282</sup> reported that children and adolescents who engage in early physical activity have a lower risk of developing persistent post-concussive symptoms. It should be noted, however several studies<sup>282,292–294</sup> are limited by observational and quasiexperimental designs. In one of the only randomized control trials, Leddy and colleagues<sup>285</sup> assessed the effectiveness of a subsymptom threshold aerobic exercise program in adolescents during the acute phase of concussion recovery. Concussion athletes were randomly assigned to either an aerobic exercise group or a stretching group. Similar to previous research, the concussed athletes prescribed aerobic exercise recovered in a median 13 days, whereas the stretching group athletes recovered in 17 days.<sup>285</sup> The results of this study, further suggest that aerobic exercise may be an effective strategy to treat concussion.<sup>285</sup> It should be noted that several studies have only utilized exercise protocols<sup>282,283,285-287,291-294</sup> rather than developing a multifaceted intervention that consists of aerobic exercise and other potentially advantageous interventions like education or psychosocial strategies (e.g., imagery).

Gagnon et al.<sup>279</sup> developed the active rehabilitation intervention (ARI) that consists of four facets: aerobic exercise, coordination/skill practice, visualization, and

education. The results of the study suggest that implementing an active rehabilitation program may promote recovery in children who were slow to recover after concussion.<sup>279</sup> In a subsequent case series researchers examined the effectiveness of ARI in adolescents who were slow to recover from concussion.<sup>280</sup> Following the implementation of the ARI program, concussed adolescents reported significantly decreased post-concussion symptoms.<sup>280</sup> In addition, concussed adolescents reported decreased fatigue symptoms and improved mood with the intervention.<sup>280</sup> Similarly, Dobney and colleagues observed significant decreases in post-concussion symptom in athletes with prolonged recovery after the implementation of the ARI intervention. Finally, Gauvin-Lepage et al.<sup>281</sup> compared the recovery time between youth athletes who received the ARI intervention and youth athletes who received standard restbased/symptom limited activity recommendations. Both groups reported decreased symptoms over the span of the study, but the athletes assigned to the ARI group reported higher levels of quality of life and less anger than those in the standard care group.<sup>281</sup> The results of these studies<sup>278–281</sup> suggest that the utilization of a multifaceted treatment intervention may be a beneficial treatment option for athletes with concussion that have a protracted recovery trajectory.

Although preliminary research suggests that exercise is a safe, reliable, effective treatment option for athletes after concussion more research is warranted. Specifically, future research should continue to determine the optimal type, timing, and intensity of exercise-based treatment programs. Second, future research should investigate the mechanisms responsible for the advantageous effect of exercise-based treatments on concussion recovery. Third, researchers should investigate the effect of common

concussion risk factors (e.g., female sex, age, history of concussion) on exercise-based interventions. Finally, the majority of the previous studies<sup>278–286</sup> have only investigated the effect of aerobic exercise on symptomology. Given that concussion affects a multitude of domains<sup>1</sup> (i.e., neurocognitive, vestibular and ocular, balance), future researchers should examine how exercise-based interventions promote recovery in these domains.

## **Baseline Assessment**

Current SRC consensus statements<sup>1,4</sup> advocate for the use of a prospective assessment approach, which involves baseline (i.e., pre-season) assessment and serial administration post-injury. In addition, consensus statements recommend, but do not require, pre-season baseline neurocognitive testing.<sup>1,4</sup> Implementing a prospective assessment approach provides the clinician with several advantages. First, with baseline and post-injury scores clinicians are able to compare post-injury neurocognitive performance to baseline neurocognitive performance to aid in SRC diagnosis and return to play decisions. Second, obtaining baseline scores allows for injured athletes to serve as their own control when comparing to post-injury scores. Finally, baseline testing may be used as an opportunity to educate athletes about the significance of SRC.<sup>1</sup> More than 90% of ATs utilize a follow-up assessment approach, with approximately 70% of ATs utilizing CNT in follow-up testing.<sup>9</sup> In the absence of a baseline assessment, normative neurocognitive data for age and sex are available for post-concussion comparison.

Previous research suggests that baseline measures may provide greater clinical utility than normative baseline values. Previous research suggest that baseline values

provide better diagnostic accuracy compared to normative values. Louey and colleagues<sup>10</sup> compared the sensitivity and specificity of baseline and normative methods neurocognitive scores in athletes who had sustained an SRC. Interestingly, the sensitivity and specificity of the baseline method was 96.6 and 86.9, respectively, whereas the sensitivity and specificity of the normative method was 69.0 and 91.5, respectively. Therefore, the results of this study suggest that the baseline method is more sensitive than the normative method. Similarly, Hinton-Bayre et al.<sup>11</sup> reported that the baseline method was more sensitive compared to the normative method. In addition, previous research suggests that baseline data provides a lower false-positive rate compared to normative data. Roebuck-Spencer and colleagues<sup>12</sup> examined the added value of baseline cognitive data when compared to population normative data. Interestingly, 65.7% of military personnel who would have been categorized as impaired using normative reference values showed no change in baseline cognitive performance.<sup>12</sup> Therefore, there is a possibility of a high false positive rate when utilizing norm referenced values. However, Haran and colleagues<sup>295</sup> suggest that there are no clear advantages for using baseline approach over normative approach. Given the utility of baseline neurocognitive assessment,<sup>10–12</sup> it is essential that neurocognitive scores obtained during pre-season testing are an accurate representation of the individual's current cognitive status.

# Factors that Influence Baseline Computerized Neurocognitive Performance and Total Symptoms

While implementing baseline CNT is a valuable tool for assessing and managing SRC, it is important to identify factors that may negatively influence baseline CNT

performance and symptoms. Sex<sup>13–17</sup>, concussion history<sup>16,296–298</sup>, race<sup>299,300</sup>, motivation/effort<sup>18–20</sup>, ADHD and LD<sup>21–23</sup>, and physical exertion<sup>24</sup> have all been identified as factors that negatively affect baseline CNT performance and symptoms.

Previous research<sup>13–17</sup> suggests that males and females differ on neurocognitive performance and symptoms at baseline, however the results are mixed for which specific cognitive domains are affected. Covassin et al.<sup>17</sup> was one of the first groups to examine sex differences in baseline neurocognitive performance and symptoms. The results revealed that female athletes performed significantly better on verbal memory than male athletes.<sup>17</sup> This finding is supported by other studies that female athletes outperform male athletes on baseline verbal memory.<sup>13–16,301</sup> In addition, other studies suggest female athletes also perform better than males on visual motor processing speed and reaction time.<sup>13–16,23</sup> However, French et al.<sup>13</sup> reported that male athletes perform better on visual motor processing speed. In addition, Covassin et al. reported that male athletes perform better on visual memory.<sup>17</sup> It is hypothesized that females perform better on verbal memory tasks due to increased estrogen levels compared to males.<sup>17</sup> Regarding baseline symptoms, the majority of studies<sup>13–15,23</sup> reported that sex does not affect total symptoms at baseline; however, Covassin et al.<sup>17</sup> found that female athletes report more symptoms compared to male athletes.

Furthermore, previous concussion history may interact with sex to influence baseline neurocognitive performance. Female athletes with a history of 2 or 3 more concussions concussion perform better on verbal memory than male athletes with 2 or 3 more concussions.<sup>16</sup> Strictly examining concussion history as a factor, the majority of previous research<sup>296,302–307</sup> suggests that previous history of concussion has no effect

on neurocognitive performance. It is possible that the results of these studies do not reveal neurocognitive deficits for several reasons. First, it is possible that cognitive deficits that exist following SRC recovery could be so subtle that detection is not captured using CNT batteries.<sup>308</sup> Second, many of these studies<sup>302–307</sup> have included adolescent and young adult athletes, exclusively.<sup>308</sup> It is possible that long-term cognitive changes may be not evident in adolescent and young adult athletes.<sup>308</sup> Finally, it is possible that there is a learning effect, given that athletes with a history of concussion have taken the neurocognitive tests multiple times over the course of their recoveries.<sup>308</sup>

Covassin and colleagues<sup>16</sup> examined the effect of concussion history on neurocognitive performance in male and female athletes. The results of the study revealed that athletes with no previous history of concussion performed better on baseline neurocognitive testing than athletes with a previous history of 2 or 3 or more concussions.<sup>16</sup> Specifically, athletes with a history of concussion demonstrated worse performance on verbal memory and visual motor processing speed.<sup>297,298</sup> With regards to symptom reporting, Brooks et al.<sup>296</sup> observed those with a previous history of 2 or more concussion reported significantly more symptoms than those without a history.

Although earlier research<sup>309</sup> suggested that race is not a factor that influences baseline CNT performance and symptoms, more recent research<sup>299,300</sup> suggests that it could be. Kontos and colleagues<sup>309</sup> observed no differences in baseline neurocognitive performance or total symptoms between Black and White high school and collegiate athletes. Wallace et al.<sup>299</sup> examined differences between Black and White students on baseline neurocognitive performance and symptoms. The results of the study suggest

that White and Black athletes differ significantly on visual motor processing speed and reaction time, with Black athletes demonstrating worse outcomes.<sup>299</sup> In addition, Black athletes report more symptoms compared to White athletes.<sup>299</sup> Similarly, Houck and colleagues utilized linear regression models to identify predictors of baseline neurocognitive functioning in collegiate athletes. Black race predicted worse neurocognitive performance in collegiate athletes. These results are supported by previous research that suggests that Black individuals score worse than White individuals on measures of language, attention, processing speed, constructional skill, and select executive skills.<sup>310</sup> It is possible that differences in neurocognitive performance to educational background, reading/literacy level, and socioeconomic status.<sup>299</sup> These findings<sup>299,300</sup> support pre-season testing, as normative data may not be appropriate to compare various races and ethnicities due to cultural differences.

In addition to sex, concussion history, and race another pre-existing factor that could influence baseline neurocognitive performance and symptoms is ADHD and/or LD. Zuckerman and colleagues<sup>22</sup> documented that athletes with ADHD demonstrated significantly lower verbal memory, visual memory, visual motor processing speed, in addition to significantly higher reaction time and total symptoms. Similarly, Elbin et al.<sup>21</sup> reported that high school and collegiate athletes with ADHD performed significantly worse on verbal memory, visual memory, visual motor processing speed, and reaction time and report significantly more symptoms at baseline than athletes without ADHD. Other studies show mixed results on which specific cognitive domain is negatively influenced by ADHD. Two studies<sup>311,312</sup> suggest verbal memory and visual motor speed

are the only composite scores negatively influenced by ADHD, whereas Vaughn et al.<sup>313</sup> showed that visual memory and visual motor processing speed, reaction time, and total symptoms may be most affected. Contrary to the majority of studies, Manderino et al.<sup>314</sup> reported no differences in baseline neurocognitive performance and symptoms in collegiate athletes with and without ADHD. Interestingly, it is possible that the combined effects of ADHD and LD should also be considered when interpreting baseline neurocognitive scores. Elbin et al.<sup>21</sup> observed significant differences in verbal memory, visual memory, visual motor processing speed, reaction time, and total symptoms between athletes with combined ADHD/LD and athletes without ADHD/LD, with athletes with ADHD/LD demonstrating worse cognitive performance and higher total symptoms. However, Zuckerman and colleagues<sup>22</sup> reported that athletes with combined ADHD/LD had worse performance on visual motor processing speed, slower reaction time, and higher reported symptoms, but no other differences were observed. Caution should be taken when interpreting the results of these studies. Specifically, the investigators<sup>15,21,22,300,311,312,314</sup> relied on self-reported ADHD/LD diagnosis and did not require additional documentation to corroborate diagnosis.

In addition, to sex, concussion history, race, and ADHD/LD, motivation or effort could influence baseline neurocognitive performance and symptoms. Interestingly, athletes may intentionally try to under-perform or "sand-bag" the baseline CNT testing in the hope that post-concussion comparisons will be more favorable and will aid with quicker return to play. Bailey and colleagues<sup>19</sup> have observed athletes classified as "low motivation" athletes showed greater improvements than highly motivated athletes. Similarly, Hunt et al. found that highly motivated athletes performed significantly better

on baseline neurocognitive performance and symptoms compared to low motivated athletes.<sup>18</sup> However, more recent research suggests baseline motivation does not explain a significant amount of the variance in neurocognitive performance.<sup>315</sup> Traditionally, invalid baseline scores are identified by the presence of outliers, however with the introduction of CNT batteries, these tests can now "flag" baseline scores that are below pre-determined validity indicators.<sup>26</sup> Erdal and colleagues<sup>316</sup> examined how likely it was that collegiate athletes could sandbag the baseline test without being flagged by the validity indicators of ImPACT. Interestingly, 89% of collegiate athletes that attempted to sandbag their baseline performance were identified by the indices on the ImPACT battery.<sup>316</sup> In a separate study, ImPACT validity indicators were able to detect 75% of athletes who were instructed to perform poorly on the test.<sup>317</sup> Even when athletes were coached on how to perform poorly on the test in a way to not get detected, the internal indices were able to detect 65% of athletes.<sup>317</sup> Results of these studies<sup>316,317</sup> suggest that CNT batteries are able to detect poor effort by using internal indices.

### Sleep

Sleep is composed of 2 states: rapid eye movement (REM) and non-REM (NREM) sleep, which can be detected using electroencephalography (EEG) and electromyography (EMG). Specifically, REM sleep is characterized by rapid eye movement, skeletal muscle atonia, and heightened physiologic activity (e.g., increased cerebral blood flow, fluctuations in heart rate and blood pressure).<sup>318</sup> Non-REM sleep occurs after sleep onset and can be further broken down into three stages. Stage 1 NREM sleep is characterized as relatively light sleep.<sup>319</sup> In addition, heart rate,

breathing and eye movements slow and muscles begin to relax.<sup>319</sup> Stage 2 NREM sleep is described as the period of light sleep before entering into deep sleep.<sup>319</sup> Heart rate and breathing continues to slow, muscles relax further, body temperature decreases, and eye movements stop.<sup>319</sup> Finally, Stage 3 is characterized as a period of deep sleep that is necessary to feel refreshed in the morning.<sup>319</sup> During this stage, heart rate and breathing slow to the lowest levels.<sup>319</sup> A series of NREM stages are followed by a period of REM sleep. This cycle of NREM and REM sleep takes approximately 1.5 hours, with approximately 4 – 5 cycles of REM sleep and NREM sleep occurring each night for an individual who sleeps approximately 8 hours.<sup>319</sup>

Sleep is regulated by two main mechanisms: the homeostatic sleep drive and the circadian rhythm.<sup>320</sup> The homeostatic sleep drive increases the need for sleep as the time of wakefulness increases. In other words, the sleep drive gets stronger for every hour awake and causes longer and more deep sleep after periods of sleep deprivation. Circadian rhythm, or biological clock, is responsible for the maintenance of a 24-hour sleep/wake cycle, which is regulated by exposure to ambient levels of blue light and the secretion of melatonin at night by the pineal gland.<sup>321</sup> Circadian rhythm causes sleepiness at night and wakefulness to occur in the daylight, typically the morning.

Currently, polysomnography (PSG) is the gold standard tool to measure sleep.<sup>322</sup> Typically when employing PSG, individuals spend the night in a sleep laboratory under controlled conditions.<sup>322</sup> Polysomnography utilizes several surface electrodes that measure physiological parameters of sleep (EEG, eye movements, muscle activity, heart physiology, and respiratory function).<sup>322</sup> One distinct feature of sleep is a state of immobility, relative to wakefulness. Taking advantage of this, researchers have

attempted to categorize sleep or wakefulness by measuring wrist movements.<sup>322</sup> Wrist actigraphy is a measure of wrist movement utilizing an accelerometer in a wrist worn device. Wrist actigraphy provides an objective, unobtrusive measure of recording sleep that is valid and has the advantage of continuously measuring sleep in the individual's home environment, improving the generalizability.<sup>322,323</sup> However, there are limitations to measuring sleep via actigraphy. Specifically, actigraphy may overestimate sleep time because immobility marks the beginning of sleep for actigraphy, whereas immobility and changes in brain electrical activity marks the beginning of sleep for PSG.<sup>323</sup> Importantly, these changes in brain electrical activity can occur after wrist immobility.

Sleep is essential for maintaining health and well-being. Insufficient sleep duration is reported to have negative consequences on several aspects of health (e.g., metabolism, mood)<sup>29,30</sup> and may increase risk for several chronic diseases (cardiovascular disease, obesity).<sup>31</sup> Despite evidence that shows that sleep is essential for humans, the exact function of sleep remains unclear. Several theories exist that attempt the explain why sleep is necessary. First, sleep is hypothesized to be physically restorative and may serve as a period for growth and repair as evidenced by the release of anabolic hormones, such as growth hormone.<sup>324</sup> Second, it is thought that sleep conserves energy.<sup>325</sup> However, the amount of energy conserved during sleep is relatively small. In addition, REM sleep is characterized by increased brain activity, metabolism, and energy use, which challenges this theory, although not much measurable energy contributes to brain activity. Third, it is hypothesized sleep is a product of evolution as a safety strategy.<sup>326</sup> Finally, it is hypothesized that sleep is needed for brain plasticity and essential for learning and memory.
#### Sleep and Neurocognition

The importance of sleep is evidenced by the consequences of sleep deprivation. Despite the evidence that sleep is essential for health and well-being, 35% of adults sleep less than the recommended 7 – 9 hours a night.<sup>27,28</sup> Although the effects of chronic total sleep deprivation on neurocognitive performance are well documented throughout the literature,<sup>327</sup> the effects of partial sleep deprivation (i.e., less than recommended hours of sleep per day) are not as well understood. Total sleep deprivation rarely occurs outside of highly controlled sleep laboratories and certain professions, such as medical personnel.<sup>327</sup> However, partial sleep deprivation is more pervasive in adults, adolescents and children.<sup>35,328</sup> Sleep deprivation negatively influences several domains of neurocognition including attention, information processing speed, reaction time, working memory, learning and immediate memory recall.<sup>329</sup> The majority of studies examining the effects of sleep deprivation have focused on cognitive performance, motor performance, and mood.<sup>330</sup>

Pilcher et al.<sup>330</sup> conducted a meta-analysis on the effects of sleep deprivation on functioning. Interestingly, the results of the meta-analysis suggest that the effects of sleep deprivation on neurocognitive functioning depend on the type of sleep deprivation and the type of neurocognitive measure. Previous research suggests that partial sleep deprivation (< 7 hours every 24 hours) results in worse neurocognitive outcomes compared to short-term total sleep ( $\leq$  45 continuous hours) and long-term total sleep deprivation (> 45 continuous hours).<sup>330</sup> In addition, sleep deprivation has a greater effect on cognitive tasks, and especially mood, and least effect on motor tasks.<sup>330</sup>

Anderson et al.<sup>331</sup> examined the effect of sleepiness on distractibility. Young adults were assigned normal sleep or sleep restriction (less than 5 hours of sleep) and administered a monotonous task. Those assigned with sleep restriction demonstrated higher rates of distractibility.<sup>331</sup> In addition, Dinges and colleagues<sup>332</sup> investigated the effect of restricting sleep to approximately 5 hours per night for 7 consecutive nights in young adults. Results of the study suggest that young adults exhibited significant decrements in alertness, and especially in measures of sleepiness, fatigue, and psychomotor vigilance.<sup>332</sup> In addition to the neurocognitive implications, the results of these studies<sup>331,333,334</sup> have significant implications for driving safety, given sleep deprivation is a major contributor to motor vehicle accidents.<sup>335</sup>

In addition to alertness and distractibility, partial sleep deprivation also negatively influences accuracy. Edwards et al<sup>336</sup> utilized dart throwing in order to mimic everyday activities. Young adults were restricted to 3 - 4 hours of sleep, then participated in dart throwing which were assessed for accuracy by measuring the mean distance of the dart from the bullseye, number of times the target was missed, and the variability of the scores from the darts thrown.<sup>336</sup> The results suggest that sleep deprivation negatively influenced the accuracy and variability of the darts hitting the target.<sup>336</sup>

Previous research suggests that sleep plays an important role in learning and memory. Following a meta-analysis, Lowe and colleagues<sup>327</sup> reported that restricted sleep impaired measures of working memory and long-term memory. Working memory refers to the system(s) that provide temporary storage and manipulation of information needed for complex cognitive tasks such as comprehension, learning, and reasoning.<sup>337</sup> Lo and colleagues<sup>338</sup> investigated the effect of partial sleep restriction (5 hours of sleep

for 7 nights) on cognitive performance in adolescents. The sleep restriction group demonstrated decreased working memory and executive function compared to the control group. Casement and colleagues<sup>339</sup> assigned young adults to 4 hours or 8 hours of sleep for 12 days. After the 12 day sleep restriction period, the sleep restricted group was instructed to sleep for 8 hours for 9 days.<sup>339</sup> Even when given time to make up for lost sleep, the sleep restricted group did not improve on measures of working memory.<sup>339</sup> Just as obtaining recommended amounts of sleep is important, sleep prior to learning may also be necessary. Stickgold and colleagues<sup>340</sup> administered an episodic memory encoding task to participants and conducted a recognition test 48 hours later. After 35 hours of sleep deprivation, participants in the sleep deprived group demonstrated worse memory performance compared to the non-sleep deprived group.<sup>340</sup> Overall, sleep deprivation has substantial consequences on neurocognition. This is particularly important for college-aged individuals, and particularly college students, who will sometimes pull "all-nighters" to improve their chances for academic success.<sup>341</sup>

# Sleep and College-Aged Individuals

The ages of 18 – 25 years is marked by considerable change and importance. During this time, young people are exploring world views and experiencing changes in education, work, and love.<sup>342</sup> For young people who attend college, the transition from high school is characterized by a shift in personal responsibilities, decreased institutional support, and changes in social enviornments.<sup>343–345</sup> In this time of transition to adulthood, young people experience poor sleep. Poor sleep is particularly prevalent in college students. In a large epidemiological study, 25% of collegiate students

reported getting less than 6.5 hours of sleep and only 29.4% of college students reported getting more than 8 hours of sleep per night.<sup>35</sup>

Sleep hygiene is characterized as behaviors that are required for normal, quality nighttime sleep and full daytime alertness. These behaviors include maintaining regular sleep-wake times, limiting alcohol consumption, caffeine, use of nicotine prior to bedtime, and establishing a sleep environment conducive to sleep.<sup>341</sup> Often times, college students do not practice good sleep hygiene behaviors. College students sacrifice sleep on the weekdays in order to study and socialize with friends, then sleep long hours on weekends in an attempt to make up for the missed sleep. In addition, college students may consume caffeine, alcohol, or drugs, like stimulants.<sup>346</sup> Furthermore, student housing may not be the best environment for restorative sleep.<sup>341</sup> The consequences of poor sleep in college students are documented throughout the literature. College students who report poor sleep demonstrate worse performance on academic tests.<sup>347</sup> Furthermore, college students that reported short sleep had lower overall grade point averages than college students who reported longer sleep.<sup>348</sup> Gilbert and colleagues<sup>349</sup> examined the relationship between sleep guality and academic performance. College students who reported poor sleep behaviors demonstrated worse concentration, missed more classes, which resulted in lower grade point averages, and had more incompletes and withdrawals from classes.349

For collegiate athletes, sleep is especially important given the cognitive, physiological, and physical demands needed for optimal athletic performance and recovery. In addition to academic and athletic responsibilities, collegiate athlete's schedules are variable due to travel, game and practice schedules, and team meetings

that could influence wake and bed times.<sup>346</sup> However, 39% of collegiate athletes report sleeping less than 7 hours on weekdays.<sup>350</sup> Similar to the non-collegiate athlete student population, collegiate student athletes demonstrate poor sleep hygiene habits. In order to address the pervasive sleep problems in collegiate athletes, the NCAA assembled the Interassociation Task Force on Sleep and Wellness, consisting of sleep experts, coaches, collegiate athletes, and athletic administrators. Following an extensive literature review, The Task Force recommended that sleep screening be incorporated in pre-participation exams and collegiate athletes and coaches are provided with evidence-based sleep education that includes information on 1) sleep best practices; 2) the role of sleep in optimizing athletic and academic performance and overall wellbeing; and 3) strategies to optimize collegiate athlete sleep.<sup>346</sup> Evidence suggests that poor sleep negatively influences academic performance in college students and negatively influences cognitive processes, including memory and attention.<sup>341</sup> Not only does poor sleep have academic implications, but also could also influence performance on pre-participation evaluation. Specifically, all NCAA collegiate athletes must complete pre-season concussion testing prior to the start of the athletic season. Several of these baseline concussion assessments measure cognition. Therefore, it is possible that poor sleep quality could negatively influence baseline concussion assessments.

### Sleep and Baseline Computerized Neurocognitive Performance and Symptoms

In addition to the aforementioned factors that negatively influence baseline CNT performance and symptom reporting (e.g., sex, concussion history, etc.), it is important to consider sleep duration as an extraneous factor that may negatively influence baseline CNT performance and total symptoms. McAllister and colleagues<sup>351</sup> compared

baseline neurocognitive performance and symptom reporting in collegiate athletes with and without a history of diagnosed sleep disorders. The results of the study revealed that collegiate athletes with a history of diagnosed sleep disorders reported higher symptom severity than athletes without a history of diagnosed sleep disorders.<sup>351</sup> Previous researchers<sup>37,39,40,43</sup> have also examined the effect of self-reported sleep duration on neurocognitive performance and total symptoms at baseline.

Mihalik and colleagues<sup>39</sup> examined the effect of sleep quality and sleep quantity on commonly used concussion assessments in collegiate athletes. Utilizing the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index, Mihalik et al.<sup>39</sup> divided athletes into greatest, moderate, and least sleep quantity and categorized into high sleep quality and low sleep quality. The results showed that collegiate athletes with short sleep duration reported increased symptomology; however, no other significant effects for sleep quality were observed.<sup>39</sup> Similarly, Moran and colleagues<sup>40</sup> examined the effects of a prior night's sleep quantity on neurocognitive performance and symptoms in high school athletes.<sup>40</sup> High school athletes were categorized into two groups: < 8 hours of sleep and  $\geq$  8 hours of sleep. High school athletes that reported less than 8 hours of sleep the night prior to baseline testing reported greater symptomology.<sup>40</sup> Moran et al.<sup>40</sup> observed that high school athletes that slept less than 8 hours the night before baseline testing had greater total symptom scores. In contrast, Sufrinko and colleagues<sup>37</sup> observed worse neurocognitive performance, specifically worse verbal memory, visual memory, visual motor speed, and reaction time in high school athletes that reported less than five hours of sleep the night before baseline testing. In one of the only studies to utilize random assignment, Stocker and colleagues<sup>43</sup> randomly assigned adults to three groups: normal, sleep

restriction (50% habitual sleep), or total sleep deprivation utilizing polysomnography monitoring in a sleep laboratory. Interestingly, sleep deprivation was associated with decreased visual memory, reaction time, and visual motor speed.<sup>43</sup> Although the results of these studies<sup>37,39,40</sup> suggest that lower sleep duration influences performance on computerized concussion assessment, especially symptomology, caution should be taken when interpreting these results. Several gaps exist due to methodological issues and limited evidence.

Many studies<sup>37,39,40,351</sup> examining the effect of sleep on neurocognitive performance and total symptoms have relied on subjective measures of sleep quantity. For example, one study<sup>39</sup> utilized the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index and three studies<sup>37,40,351</sup> used a single-item question – "How many hours of sleep did you get last night?" - that is included on the ImPACT demographics section. It is possible that recall bias and inaccuracies of sleep duration could be introduced due to the subjectiveness of the assessment. Utilizing an objective measure of sleep, for example via Actigraphy, could reduce the bias and provide more accurate information about sleep duration and quality. Furthermore, previous studies<sup>37,39,40</sup>, have only examined the effects of a single night of sleep. It is unknown whether a single night of sleep is representative of a typical or unusual night of sleep. Therefore, there is a need to investigate the effects of multiple nights (i.e., habitual) of sleep on baseline CNT performance and total symptoms. Habitual sleep duration, or sleep accumulation across multiple nights, accounts for several factors including lifestyle choices, environment, and biological drive (i.e., circadian rhythm).<sup>42</sup> Therefore, extending the scope to include multiple nights of sleep may provide a better representation of an individual's sleep habits. Currently, there is a

need to investigate the effects of habitual sleep duration on baseline CNT performance and total symptoms.

# Conclusion

Sleep is essential for maintaining health and well-being. In addition, a growing body of literature suggests that short sleep duration negatively influences learning and memory, reaction time, and auditory vigilance. Specifically, for collegiate athletes, sleep is particularly important given the cognitive, physiological, and physical demands needed for optimal athletic performance. Current consensus statements advocate for baseline CNT assessment in order to aid in SRC diagnosis and return to play decisions. It is hypothesized that short sleep duration negatively influences CNT performance and symptoms. However, previous studies have relied on subjective measures of sleep quantity in the form of questionnaires (e.g., Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index) or singleitem questions (i.e., "How many hours of sleep did you get last night?"). Given the subjective nature of these measures, it is possible that recall bias and inaccuracies in sleep duration could be introduced by the athlete. Furthermore, previous studies have only investigated the effects of a single night of sleep and have failed to investigate the effects of habitual sleep on baseline CNT performance and total symptoms. It is unknown whether a single night of sleep is representative of a typical or unusual night of sleep, whereas habitual sleep duration considers multiple factors including lifestyle choices, environment, and biological drive. Therefore, extending the scope to include multiple nights of sleep may provide a better representation of an athlete's sleep behaviors.

# **CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY**

# **Experimental Design**

This study used a cross-sectional research design in order to investigate the clinical utility and influence of habitual, device-measured sleep duration on baseline neurocognitive performance and total concussion symptom severity in college-aged individuals. For Specific Aim 1 (To examine the influence of habitual, device-measured sleep duration on baseline computerized neurocognitive performance and total concussion symptom severity in college-aged individuals) the independent variable was habitual, device-measured sleep duration. The dependent variables were the 4 ImPACT neurocognitive composite scores (verbal memory, visual memory, visual motor speed, reaction time) and total concussion symptom severity. For Specific Aim 2 (To assess the agreement between both device-measured single-night and habitual, devicemeasured sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration in college-aged individuals) the 3 variables examined were: device-measured single-night sleep duration, habitual, device-measured sleep duration, and subjective, single-night sleep duration. For Specific Aim 3, (To assess the agreement between habitual, devicemeasured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration in college-aged individuals) the 2 variables examined were: habitual, device-measured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration.

This study was approved by the Michigan State University Institutional Review Board (IRB). In addition, it was also approved for reactivation to laboratory research by the IRB and Environmental Health and Safety.

#### **Operational Definitions**

# Habitual, Device-Measured Sleep Duration

Habitual, device-measured sleep duration was calculated using the weighted average device-derived total nighttime sleep time (minutes) individuals experienced across at least 5 nights prior to ImPACT, using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm. The following formula (Equation 1)<sup>352</sup> was used to calculate the weighted average device-derived total nighttime sleep time, using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm: Equation 1:  $[5 * ((\Sigma weekday)/nweekday)+2*((\Sigma weekend)/nweekend)]/7.$ 

#### Device-Measured Single-Night Sleep Duration

Device-measured single-night sleep duration was assessed by the total nighttime sleep time (minutes) individuals experienced the night prior to ImPACT administration as measured by the Actigraph GT9X Link Physical Activity Monitor, using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm.

#### Subjective, Single-Night Sleep Duration

Subjective, single-night sleep duration was assessed using the self-reported total nighttime sleep time (minutes) individuals experienced the night prior to ImPACT administration as measured by the National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary.

# Habitual, Subjective Sleep Duration

Habitual, subjective sleep duration was assessed by calculating the weighted average total nighttime sleep time (minutes) individuals experienced across at least 5 nights prior to ImPACT administration as measured by the National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary.

## **Population and Sampling**

Participants were recruited from a large Division I university in Michigan. The researcher arranged times to meet with healthy college-aged individuals currently enrolled in university classes at the time of recruitment. Researchers informed prospective participants on the purpose, procedures, risks, and benefits of participating in the study and requested any interested individuals to contact the researcher. Interested individuals were formally invited to participate in the study and inclusion and exclusion criteria were evaluated. Informed consent was obtained from eligible participants who met inclusion and exclusion criteria.

#### Inclusion Criteria

In order to be included in the current study, participants had to be 18 – 25 years old and enrolled in Michigan State University classes at the time of recruitment. *Exclusion Criteria* 

Participants were excluded if they had a diagnosed concussion within the past 6 months, had a history of moderate or severe traumatic brain injury, or if they did not speak or read English. In addition, participants were excluded from data analysis if they produced an invalid ImPACT baseline score. For Specific Aim 1, participants with less than 5 nights of device-measured sleep scored data using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm were excluded from data analysis. For Specific Aim 2, participants with incomplete or missing device-measured sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration and participants with less than 5 nights of device-measured sleep scored data using the Sadeh sleep scored data using the Sadeh sleep scored sleep form data analysis. For Specific Aim 2, participants with sleep duration and participants with less than 5 nights of device-measured sleep scored data using the Sadeh sleep scored sleep scored data using the Sadeh sleep scored sleep scored sleep form data analysis. Finally, for Specific Aim 3, participants with less than 5 nights of device-measured sleep scored sleep scored sleep scored from data analysis.

data using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm and less than 5 nights of National Sleep Foundation-derived sleep duration were excluded from data analysis.

#### Sample Size Estimation

An a-priori power analysis (G\*Power Version 3.1, Germany) was conducted to determine the number of participants needed for regression analysis, assuming medium effect size<sup>353</sup> f<sup>2</sup> = 0.15,  $\alpha$  = .05, and statistical power = .80. Results from the power analysis revealed that a total of 55 participants were needed to reach acceptable statistical power.

#### Instrumentation

#### Demographics Form

The Demographic Form was created by the researcher that consisted of inclusion and exclusion criteria for the study. In addition, the Demographic Form asked about personal information (e.g., age, race, number of academic classes, household income) and previous medical history questions, including history of diagnosed concussion, headache/migraine disorders, learning disorder, ADD/ADHD, depression/anxiety, and sleep disturbance. See Appendix A.

#### Immediate Post Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Testing (ImPACT)

Neurocognitive performance and total concussion symptom severity were measured using the ImPACT battery. The ImPACT battery is a commonly used computerized neurocognitive testing assessment that includes three separate sections: demographics, the Post Concussion Symptom Scale (PCSS), and neurocognitive modules. The demographics section included personal (e.g., age, previous medical history) and sport participation (e.g., sport, position) history. Subjective, single-night

sleep duration was measured using the demographics section of ImPACT from the question "How many hours of sleep did you get last night?". The PCSS is a 22-item self-reported symptom assessment rated on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 0 (none) to 6 (severe). The PCSS symptoms can be categorized into four symptom factors: cognitive-sensory, sleep-arousal, vestibular-somatic, and affective.<sup>153</sup> The total concussion symptom severity score was calculated by summing the Likert scaled scores for the 22 symptoms, with higher scores indicating more symptoms (range 0 – 132). Four neurocognitive composite scores (verbal memory, visual memory, visual motor processing speed, and reaction time) are calculated from the neurocognitive modules. In order to control for learning effect, the ImPACT battery includes 5 different test versions. The ImPACT battery take approximately 25 minutes to complete. The ImPACT battery is able to distinguish between concussed and healthy individuals and has demonstrated acceptable test-retest reliability in collegiate athletes.<sup>185,354</sup> *Actigraph GT9X Link Physical Activity Monitor* 

Habitual, device-measured sleep duration and device-measured single-night sleep duration were measured using the Actigraph GT9X Link Physical Activity Monitor (Actigraph Corp), which is a tri-axial wrist-worn accelerometer that continuously measures sleep-related variables. Raw data were processed using the ActiLife software and were converted to sleep-wake data utilizing the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm, which is age-appropriate for participants in the current study (18 – 25 years).<sup>355,356</sup> The Actigraph GT9X Link Physical Activity Monitor parameter examined in this study was total nighttime sleep time (minutes). Total nighttime sleep time was defined as the duration of nighttime sleep between the onset of sleep and the final awakening, using

the Tudor-Locke default for sleep period detection.<sup>357</sup> Participants were instructed to wear the Actigraph GT9X Link Physical Activity Monitor on their non-dominant wrists 24 hours a day, for 7 continuous days. Participants were instructed to take the monitor off only when doing water related activities (e.g., swimming, bathing). Non-wear time was identified via the ActiLife software and was removed for further analysis.<sup>287,358</sup> The Actigraph GT9X Link Physical Activity Monitor sleep parameters have been validated against the gold standard laboratory polysomnography (PSG).<sup>355,359,360</sup> Specifically, when compared to PSG, wrist actigraphy total sleep time demonstrated a high correlation of 0.97 in healthy adults.<sup>361</sup> Also, the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm demonstrated sensitivity of 0.89 and specificity of 0.73.<sup>359</sup> In addition, the Actigraph GT9X Link has been used in previous research to estimate sleep timing and duration in healthy and concussed collegiate athletes.<sup>358,362</sup>

# National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary

The National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary is a short sleep diary, separated into two sections: morning and evening. The National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary asks individuals to report their wake times and bedtimes. In addition, the National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary asks about physical activity, medication, napping, and mood in the evening section. Previous research showed moderate correlations between sleep diary and actigraphy total sleep time (*r* = 0.53).<sup>363</sup> See Appendix B.

## Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)

The PSQI was used in the current study to further describe the final sample. The PSQI<sup>364</sup> was used to assess retrospective sleep quality and quantity. The PSQI is a subjective sleep quality assessment that consists of 19 sleep-related questions relevant

to the participant's sleep habits during the previous month. The PSQI consists of 7 sleep composite scores: duration of sleep, sleep disturbance, sleep onset latency, daytime dysfunction, sleep efficiency, overall sleep quality, and use of sleeping medication. The 7 composite scores are used to calculate a total global score, which range from 0 - 21 with higher scores indicating poorer sleep quality. Total global sleep scores greater than 5 are indicative of poor sleep quality. The PSQI is a sensitive and specific measure that demonstrates acceptable internal consistency ranging from Cronbach  $\alpha = .70 - 0.83$ .<sup>365</sup> The PSQI total score was poorly correlated with actigraphy (r = 13) total sleep time, but moderately correlated with sleep diary total sleep time (r = -0.31).<sup>366</sup> See Appendix C.

#### Morningness Eveningness Questionnaire – Short Assessment (MEQ-SA)

The MEQ-SA was used in the current study to further describe the final sample. The MEQ-SA<sup>367</sup> is comprised of sleep-related questions to determine and evaluate circadian rhythm typologies (i.e., morningness and eveningness). The questionnaire contains 19 questions that examine individual's wake and sleep habits, preferred times for physical activity and mental activity, and fatigue.<sup>367</sup> After completion of the questionnaire, the score can be calculated by adding the number of points of each question with scores ranging from 16 to 86. Scores on the MEQ-SA can be categorized into five typologies: definitely morning (70 – 86), moderately morning (59 – 69), intermediate (42 – 58), moderately evening (31 – 41), and definitely evening (16 – 30).<sup>367</sup> The reliability of the MEQ-SA is reported to be good with Cronbach's  $\alpha$  ranging from 0.7 – 0.9.<sup>368</sup> See Appendix D.

### **Data Collection and Management**

College-aged individuals were recruited from kinesiology and exercise classes. Following recruitment, interested participants met with the researcher in person to provide informed consent and were informed about the study procedures. During the Informational Session, participants were administered the demographics page, the morning section of the National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary and were issued an Actigraph GT9X Link Physical Activity Monitor. Participants were instructed to wear the monitor on their non-dominant wrist for 24 hours a day, for 7 continuous days. Previous research suggests 7 nights is an acceptable period to obtain reliable sleep-wake patterns.<sup>369</sup> Participants were instructed to take the monitor off only when doing waterrelated activities (e.g., swimming, bathing, etc.).

Following the Informational Session, participants were sent the National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary via text message with the Qualtrics link to complete the morning section when they wake up and evening section before bed. Participants completed the morning and evening sections of the National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary for 7 days, for a total of 14 responses. After 7 days of Actigraph GT9X Link wear time, participants reported to the designated testing area (e.g., laboratories, classrooms) to complete the Testing Session. Participants were administered the ImPACT battery on a laboratory computer, with an external mouse,<sup>370</sup> and returned the Actigraph GT9X Link Physical Activity Monitor. The researcher explained the specific directions of the ImPACT demographics section per the manufacture guidelines and PCSS to the participant. Prior to the start of ImPACT, the researcher instructed the participant to perform to the best of their ability and were instructed to follow the written directions on the computer

screen before each neurocognitive section. Following the completion of the ImPACT test, participants exited out of the test and then were administered the MEQ-SA and the PSQI to complete via Qualtrics. Participants who wore the Actigraph GT9X monitor continuously throughout the study period and returned it received \$25.00. In addition, participants who completed all sleep diaries surveys also received \$25.00, equaling a total of \$50.00 for complying with all study procedures.

#### **Data Analysis**

Descriptive statistics (means, standard deviations [SD], ranges, frequencies) were used to describe the total sample (e.g., age, sex, personal medical history, etc.), MEQ-SA and PSQI scores, National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diaries (morning and evening). All statistical analyses were conducted using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences version 26.0 (SPSS: IBM).

Specific Aim 1: To investigate the influence of habitual, device-measured sleep duration on baseline neurocognitive performance and total concussion symptom severity in college-aged individuals.

Habitual, device-measured sleep duration was calculated using the weighted average device-derived total nighttime sleep time (minutes) individuals experienced across at least 5 nights prior to ImPACT, using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm. A weighted average was used to account for weekday and weekend total sleep time and because some participants wore the Actigraph GT9X Link on different days and some less than 7 days.<sup>371,372</sup> The following formula<sup>352</sup> was used to calculate the weighted average device-derived total nighttime sleep time, using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm (Equation 1). Total nighttime sleep time (minutes) was defined as the duration

of nighttime sleep between the onset of sleep and the final awakening. Gender,<sup>13–17</sup> previous concussion history,<sup>16</sup> history of diagnosed sleep disturbance,<sup>351</sup> and ADD/ADHD<sup>21–23</sup> were evaluated as covariates using a series of multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) tests due to their effect on ImPACT performance. Any demographic variables with significant differences in ImPACT composite scores or total concussion symptom severity were used as covariates to determine the influence of habitual, device-measured sleep duration on baseline computerized neurocognitive performance and total concussion symptom severity. Statistical significance was set at  $p \le .05$ .

Sample mean and standard deviation for habitual, device-measured total sleep time (minutes) were calculated. Separate hierarchical linear regressions were used to investigate the influence of habitual, device-measured sleep duration on baseline neurocognitive performance and total concussion symptom severity in college-aged individuals. The independent variable was habitual, device-measured sleep duration, using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm, and the dependent variables were the four ImPACT composite scores (verbal memory, visual memory, visual motor processing speed, and reaction time) and total concussion symptom severity. Statistical significance was set at  $p \le .05$ .

Specific Aim 2: To assess the agreement between both device-measured single-night and habitual, device-measured sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration in college-aged individuals.

Device-measured single-night sleep duration was assessed by the total nighttime sleep time (minutes) individuals experienced the night prior to ImPACT administration

as measured by the Actigraph GT9X Link Physical Activity Monitor, using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm. Habitual, device-measured sleep duration was calculated using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm weighted average device-derived total nighttime sleep time (minutes) individuals experienced across at least 5 nights prior to ImPACT, as measured by the Actigraph GT9X Link Physical Activity Monitor. The following formula<sup>352</sup> was used to calculate the weighted average device-derived total nighttime sleep time, using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm (Equation 1). Subjective, single-night sleep duration was assessed by the self-reported total nighttime sleep time (minutes) individuals experienced the night prior to ImPACT administration as measured by the National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary.

Demographic information was calculated using frequencies, means, standard deviations, and ranges. Normality of subjective, single-night, device-measured singlenight, and habitual, device-measured sleep duration was assessed using the Shaprio-Wilk test and descriptive statistics (means, standard deviations, medians, and interquartile range [IQR]) were calculated. A scatter plot was created, and a Pearson correlation was performed to assess the strength of association between subjective, single-night and device-measured single-night sleep duration. A second scatter plot was created, and Pearson correlation was performed to assess the strength of association between subjective, single-night and habitual, device-measured sleep duration. However, given that correlation coefficients only determine the strength of the relationship,<sup>373</sup> Bland-Altman plots were used to evaluate the agreement between the sleep measurements.

Subjective, single-night sleep duration was assessed and compared to devicemeasured single-night sleep duration and habitual, device-measured sleep duration for the following measures of agreement: 1) the estimated fixed bias by calculating mean difference  $(\bar{d})$ , 2) the precision of the measurement, by calculating the 95% limits of agreement ( $\bar{d} \pm 1.96$  SDs), and 3) proportional bias, by creating a regression line and 95% confidence intervals (CIs). If there was no fixed bias between the two methods of sleep duration, the  $\bar{d}$  should be zero.<sup>374</sup> If there was no proportional bias between the two methods of sleep duration, then the regression of differences on means should produce a slope of zero.<sup>374</sup>

The  $\bar{d}$  (fixed bias) was calculated and was displayed as a horizontal line. In addition, the standard deviation of the differences and 95% CIs were calculated. If the  $\bar{d}$ (device-measured single-night sleep duration minus subjective, single-night sleep duration) was positive, subjective, single-night sleep duration underestimated devicemeasured single-night sleep duration. If the  $\bar{d}$  was negative, subjective, single-night sleep duration overestimated device-measured sleep duration. Similarly, if the  $\bar{d}$ (habitual, device-measured sleep duration minus subjective, single-night sleep duration) was positive, subjective, single-night sleep duration underestimated habitual, devicemeasured sleep duration. Finally, if the  $\bar{d}$  was negative, subjective, single-night sleep duration overestimated habitual, device-measured sleep duration. Shaprio-Wilk tests were conducted to evaluate the normality of  $\bar{d}$ . A Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used to evaluate the significant difference between device-measured single-night sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration, and a paired samples *t*-test was used to

evaluate the significant difference between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration. Statistical significance was set at  $p \le .05$ .

Finally, Bland-Altman plots, with a proportional bias line and 95% CIs, regarding the level of agreement for 1) device-measured single-night sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration and 2) habitual, device-measured sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration were created to visually display the agreement between the sleep measures. The x-axis of the Bland-Altman plot represented the average of 2 sleep measures and the y-axis of the Bland-Altman plot represented the difference between 2 sleep measures.

Specific Aim 3: To examine the agreement between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration in college-aged individuals.

Habitual, device-measured sleep duration was calculated using the weighted average device-derived total nighttime sleep time (minutes) individuals experienced across at least 5 nights prior to ImPACT, using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm. Habitual, subjective sleep duration was assessed by calculating the weighted average total nighttime sleep time (minutes) individuals experienced across at least 5 nights prior to ImPACT administration as measured by the National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary. The following formula<sup>352</sup> was used to calculate the weighted average device-derived total nighttime sleep time, using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm, and subjective total nighttime sleep time (Equation 1).

Demographic information was calculated using frequencies, means, standard deviations, and ranges. Normality of habitual, device-measured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration was assessed using the Shaprio-Wilk test and

descriptive statistics (means, standard deviations) were calculated. A scatter plot was created, and a Pearson correlation was performed to assess the strength of association between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration. However, given that correlation coefficients only determine the strength of the relationship,<sup>373</sup> Bland-Altman plots were used to evaluate the agreement between the sleep measurements.

Habitual, subjective sleep duration was assessed and compared to habitual, device-measured sleep duration for the following measures of agreement: 1) the estimated fixed bias by calculating mean difference  $(\bar{d})$ , 2) the precision of the measurement, by calculating the 95% limits of agreement ( $\bar{d} \pm 1.96$  SDs), and 3) proportional bias, by creating a regression line and 95% CIs. If there was no fixed bias between the two methods of sleep duration, the  $\bar{d}$  should be zero.<sup>374</sup> If there was no fixed proportional bias between the two methods of sleep duration, the number of sleep duration, the regression of differences on means should produce a slope of zero.<sup>374</sup>

The  $\bar{d}$  (fixed bias) was calculated and was displayed as a horizontal line. In addition, the standard deviation of the differences and 95% CIs were calculated. If the  $\bar{d}$ (habitual, device-measured sleep duration minus habitual, subjective sleep duration) was positive, habitual, subjective sleep duration underestimates habitual, devicemeasured sleep duration. If the  $\bar{d}$  was negative, habitual, subjective sleep duration overestimates habitual, device-measured sleep duration. Shaprio-Wilk tests were conducted to evaluate the normality of the  $\bar{d}$ . A paired samples *t*-test was used to evaluate the significant difference between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration. Statistical significance was set at  $p \leq .05$ .

A Bland-Altman plot regarding the level of agreement for habitual, devicemeasured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration were created to visually display the agreement between the sleep measures. The x-axis of the Bland-Altman plot represented the average of 2 sleep measures and the y-axis of the Bland-Altman plot represented the difference between 2 sleep measures.

#### **CHAPTER IV: RESULTS**

#### **Demographic Information on Total Sample**

A total of 489 college-aged individuals were recruited between October 2020 and February 2021 for participation in the study and 63 were enrolled, yielding an enrollment rate of 12.9%. One participant was removed from the study after the informational session due to device malfunction and one participant was excluded after all data were collected due to a device malfunction and inability to download sleep scored data. The final analytic sample included a total of 61 college-aged individuals. The final sample (N = 61) is described below and demographics for each specific aim are presented below in each specific aim section. The final sample included 14 (14/61, 22.9%) male and 47 (47/61, 77%) female participants who were on average 20.30 (SD 1.17; range 18 – 24) years. Complete demographic information for the total sample is included in Table 1.

Demographic Variable	n (%)
Race	
Non-Hispanic White	53 (86.9)
Hispanic White	1 (1.6)
Asian	4 (6.6)
Asian/Latino	1 (1.6)
Asian/Non-Hispanic White	1 (1.6)
White/Asian	1 (1.6)
Academic Year	
Freshmen	6 (9.8)
Sophomore	9 (14.8)
Junior	22 (36.1)
Senior	24 (39.3)
Employed	33 (54.1)
Previous Concussion	
0	42 (68.9)
1	10 (52.6)
2	4 (21.1)
≥ 3	5 (26.3)
Headaches/Migraine Disorder	6 (9.8)
Learning Disorder/Dyslexia	1 (1.6)
ADD/ADHD	8 (13.1)
Depression/Anxiety	17 (27.9)
Sleep Disturbance	9 (14.8)

Table 1. Participant Demographics of the Total Sample (N = 61).

Morningness and Eveningness Questionnaire – Short Assessment (MEQ-SA)

All (61/61, 100%) participants completed the MEQ-SA. The distribution of MEQ-SA scores for the total sample were evaluated for normality and assessed using the Shaprio-Wilk test ( $W_{61} = 0.97$ , p = .12). The average MEQ-SA score for the sample was 48.75 (SD 8.90; range 33 – 66), which falls in the "intermediate" type. There were 11 (11/61, 18%) moderately morning, 34 (34/61, 55.7%) intermediate, 16 (16/61, 26.2%) moderately evening types.

# Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)

All (61/61, 100%) participants completed the PSQI. The distribution of PSQI scores were assessed for normality by the Shapiro Wilks test for the total sample, which

was determined to be non-normal ( $W_{61} = 0.95$ , p = .01). The median PSQI total score for the total sample was 6.0 (IQR 2.0; range 1 – 15). Approximately 64% (39/61, 63.9%) of participants had total PSQI scores greater than five indicating poor sleep quality.

Descriptive statistics for PSQI components and total scores are provided in Table 2.

 Table 2. Descriptive Statistics for PSQI Components and Total Score for the Total

 Sample (N = 61).

PSQI Component	Median [IQR] or n (%)		
Duration of Sleep (min)	540.00 [375.00]		
Sleep Disturbance	5.00 [5.00]		
Sleep Latency (min)	1.00 [1.00]		
Daytime Sleepiness	1.00 [1.00]		
Sleep Efficiency	80.00 [35.18]		
Overall Sleep Quality	1.00 [0.00]		
Needs Medications to Sleep	0.00 [1.00]		
Total Score	6.00 [2.00]		
Sleep Quality Category, "Poor"	39 (63.9)		

Abbreviation: IQR, Interquartile Range; Min, Minutes

National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary

Fifty-seven (57/61, 93.4%) participants completed all sections of the National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary, for a total of 483 nights of data. Bedtimes ranged from 9:30 PM to 7:30 AM across the 7-day study period. Waketimes ranged from 4:00 AM to 6:00 PM across the 7-day study period. Forty-nine (49/61, 86%) participants consumed at least one caffeinated drink across the 7-day period, 50 (50/61, 87.7%) participants exercised at least 20 minutes a day across the 7-day period, and 35 (35/61, 61.4%) participants reported taking at least one nap across the 7-day period.

Participants reported a 7-day average of 464.54 (SD 56.88; range 270 – 574.29) minutes of nighttime sleep. Participants reported on average of 461.40 (SD 63.10; range 246 – 588) minutes of nighttime sleep on the weekday nights (Sunday – Thursday) (mean 7.69 SD 1.05; range 4.10 – 9.80 hours) and 472.39 (SD 87.15; range 150 – 615) minutes of nighttime sleep on the weekend nights (Friday – Saturday) (mean 7.87 SD 1.45 hours; range 2.50 – 10.25 hours). There was no difference in nighttime sleep between weekday and weekend nights ( $t_{56}$  = -0.89, p = .38).

#### **Evaluation of Specific Aims**

Specific Aim 1: To investigate the influence of habitual, device-measured sleep duration on baseline neurocognitive performance and total concussion symptom severity in college-aged individuals.

### Demographic Information

Ten participants (10/61, 16.4%) did not have at least 5 nights of complete devicemeasured sleep scored data, when utilizing the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm. Therefore, there were 51 participants in the analytic sample. Thirty-two (32/51, 62.7%) participants had 7 nights of complete scored sleep data, 12 (12/51, 23.5%) participants had 6 nights of complete scored sleep data, and 7 (7/51, 12.7%) participants had 5 nights of complete scored sleep data. There were 38 (38/51, 74.5%) female and 13 (13/51, 25.5%) male participants who were on average 20.24 (SD 1.11; range 18 – 22) years old. There were 9 (9/51, 17.6%) collegiate student-athletes in the sample. The majority of participants identified as Non-Hispanic White (46/51, 90.2%), and were seniors (20/51, 39.2%). On average, participants were enrolled in 4.94 (SD 1.05) university classes. Twenty-six (26/51, 51%) participants were employed at the time of enrollment. The average number of days between the Informational Session and the Testing Session was 7.14 (SD 0.85; range 7 – 13) days.

# Covariates

Fifteen (15/51, 29.4%) participants had a previous history of concussion, 6 (6/51, 11.8%) participants had a history of diagnosed sleep disturbance, and 6 (6/51, 11.8%) participants had diagnosed ADD/ADHD. A series of MANOVA tests were conducted in order to determine if there were any differences between demographic variables (gender, previous concussion history, history of diagnosed sleep disturbance, ADD/ADHD) and ImPACT composite scores and total concussion symptom severity. There were no significant effects of gender (Wilks  $\lambda = 0.82$ ,  $F_{5,45} = 1.93$ , p = .11), previous concussion history (Wilks  $\lambda = 0.84$ ,  $F_{5,45} = 1.68$ , p = .16), or ADD/ADHD (Wilks  $\lambda = 0.81$ ,  $F_{5,45} = 2.08$ , p = .09) on the ImPACT composite scores and total symptom severity. However, there was a significant effect of history of diagnosed sleep disturbance (Wilks  $\lambda = 0.76$ ,  $F_{5,45} = 2.84$ , p = .03) on the ImPACT composite scores and total symptom severity. For the severity, specifically total concussion symptom severity ( $F_{1,49} = 13.49$ ,  $p \leq .01$ ).

#### Results

Participants wore the Actigraph GT9X Link monitor on average 9300.67 minutes (SD 25.56; range 3597 – 18322) (mean 6.46, SD 1.49; range 2.5 – 12.72 days). Using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm, the average total nighttime sleep was 322.13 minutes (SD 69.67; range 173.57 – 533). See Table 3 for means and standard deviations for ImPACT composite scores.

Table 3. Descriptive Statistics for ImPACT Composite Scores (n = 51).			
ImPACT Composite Score	Mean (SD)		
Verbal Memory	91.22 (7.83)		
Visual Memory	79.00 (11.08)		
Visual Motor Processing Speed	43.27 (5.57)		
Reaction Time (sec)	0.57 (0.06)		
Total Concussion Symptom Severity	5.86 (6.99)		

Abbreviation: ImPACT, Immediate Post Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Testing Verbal Memory; SD, Standard Deviation; Sec, Seconds

For the regression models, the independent variable was habitual, devicemeasured sleep duration using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm, the dependent variables were the ImPACT composite scores, and the control variable was history of sleep disturbance.

# Verbal Memory

The first model included history of sleep disturbance and was not statistically significant ( $F_{1.49} = 0.26$ , p = .61,  $R^2 = 0.005$ ). After adding habitual, device-measured sleep duration, the model remained non-significant ( $F_{2,48} = 0.26$ , p = .77) and accounted for 01.1% of the variance ( $R^2 = 0.011$ ). The  $R^2$  change related to the addition of habitual, device-measured sleep duration (0.5%) was not statistically significant (F change<sub>1.48</sub> = 0.26, p = .61). In the final model, history of sleep disturbance (B = -1.41, 95% CI: -8.49, 5.68,  $\beta$  = -.06, p = .69) and habitual, device-measured sleep duration (B = 0.01, 95% CI: -0.03, 0.04,  $\beta$  = .08, p = .61) were not statistically significant.

## Visual Memory

The first model included history of sleep disturbance and was not statistically significant ( $F_{1,49} = 0.05$ , p = .82,  $R^2 = 0.001$ ). After adding habitual, device-measured sleep duration, the model remained non-significant ( $F_{2.48} = 0.04$ , p = .96) and accounted for 0.2% of the variance ( $R^2 = 0.002$ ). The  $R^2$  change related to the addition of habitual,

device-measured sleep duration (0.1%) was not statistically significant (*F* change<sub>1,48</sub> = 0.03, p = .87). In the final model, history of sleep disturbance (B = -0.98, 95% CI: - 11.04, 9.09,  $\beta$ = -.03, p = .85) and habitual, device-measured sleep duration (B = 0.004, 95% CI: -0.04, 0.05,  $\beta$ = .02, p = .87) were not statistically significant.

## Visual Motor Processing Speed

The first model included history of sleep disturbance and was not statistically significant ( $F_{1,49} = 0.16$ , p = .69,  $R^2 = 0.003$ ). After adding habitual, device-measured sleep duration, the model remained non-significant ( $F_{2,48} = 0.41$ , p = .67) and accounted for 1.7% of the variance ( $R^2 = 0.017$ ). The  $R^2$  change related to the addition of habitual, device-measured sleep duration (1.3%) was not statistically significant (F change<sub>1,48</sub> = 0.66, p = .42). In the final model, history of sleep disturbance (B = -0.59, 95% CI: -5.61, 4.43,  $\beta = -.03$ , p = .82) and habitual, device-measured sleep duration (B = 0.009, 95% CI: -0.01, 0.03,  $\beta = .12$ , p = .42) were not statistically significant.

# Reaction Time

The first model included history of sleep disturbance and was not statistically significant ( $F_{1,49} = 2.57$ , p = .12,  $R^2 = 0.050$ ). After adding habitual, device-measured sleep duration, the model remained non-significant ( $F_{2,48} = 2.29$ , p = .11) and accounted for 8.7% of the variance ( $R^2 = 0.087$ ). The  $R^2$  change related to the addition of habitual, device-measured sleep duration (3.7%) was not statistically significant (F change<sub>1,48</sub> = 1.96, p = .17). In the final model, history of sleep disturbance (B = 0.04, 95% CI: -0.02, 0.09,  $\beta = .19$ , p = .20) and habitual, device-measured sleep duration (B = 0.000, 95% CI: 0.00, 0.00,  $\beta = -.20$ , p = .17) were not statistically significant.

#### Total Concussion Symptom Severity

The first model included history of sleep disturbance, and was statistically significant ( $F_{1,49} = 13.49$ , p = .001) and accounted for 21.6% of the variance ( $R^2 = 0.216$ ). After adding habitual, device-measured sleep duration, the model remained significant ( $F_{2,48} = 6.63$ , p = .003) and accounted for 21.6% of the variance ( $R^2 = 0.216$ ). The  $R^2$  change related to the addition of habitual, device-measured sleep duration (0.1%) was not statistically significant (F change<sub>1,48</sub> = 0.03, p = .86). In the final model, history of sleep disturbance (B = 9.88, 95% CI: 4.25, 15.50,  $\beta$  = .46, p = .001) was statistically significant, but habitual, device-measured sleep duration (B = -0.002, 95% CI: -0.03, 0.02,  $\beta$  = -.02, p = .86) was not statistically significant.

Specific Aim 2: To assess the agreement between subjective, single-night sleep duration, and both device-measured single-night and habitual, device-measured sleep duration in college-aged individuals.

#### Demographic Information

Sixteen participants (16/61, 26.2%) did not have complete device-measured single-night sleep duration, 11 (11/61, 18%) did not have complete habitual, device-measured sleep duration, 1 (1/61, 1.6%) was excluded as an outlier. There were 42 participants in the analytic sample. Thirty-one (31/42, 73.8%) participants had 7 nights of sleep scored data, 7 (7/42, 16.7%) participants had 6 nights of sleep scored data, and 4 (4/42, 9.5%) participants had 5 nights of sleep scored data. There were 13 (13/42, 31%) males and 29 (29/42, 69%) females in the sample with an average age of 20.36 (SD 1.08; range 18 - 22) years.

# Results

Upon inspection of the data, it was determined that device-measured single-night

sleep duration ( $W_{42}$  = 0.98, p = .77), habitual, device-measured sleep duration ( $W_{42}$  =

0.98, p = .47), and subjective, single-night sleep duration (W<sub>42</sub> = 0.95, p = .08) were

normally distributed. See Table 4 for means and standard deviations for device-

measured single-night, habitual, device-measured, and subjective, single-night sleep

duration (minutes).

# Table 4. Descriptive Statistics of Total Sleep Duration Measures in Minutes (n =42).

Measures of Sleep Duration	Mean (SD)
Device-Measured Single-Night Sleep Duration	328.52 (96.14)
Habitual, Device-Measured Sleep Duration	322.30 (63.50)
Subjective, Single-Night Sleep Duration	480.33 (62.21)
Abbreviation: SD, Standard Deviation; IQR, Interguartile Range	

Results from the Pearson's correlation revealed a non-significant relationship

between device-measured single-night sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep

duration (r = 0.22, p = .16) (Figure 1) and between habitual, device-measured sleep

duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration (r = 0.12, p = .44) (Figure 2).



Figure 1. Scatter Plot of Device-Measured Single-Night Sleep Duration (Minutes) and Subjective, Single-Night Sleep Duration (Minutes) (n = 42).



Figure 2. Scatter Plot of Habitual, Device-Measured Sleep Duration (Minutes) and Subjective, Single-Night Sleep Duration (Minutes) (n = 42).

In order to determine the fixed bias, the mean difference  $(\bar{d})$  was calculated between 1) device-measured single-night sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration and 2) habitual, device-measured sleep duration and subjective, singlenight sleep duration (Table 5). The  $\bar{d}$  was calculated in minutes. Upon inspection of the data, it was determined that the  $\bar{d}$  of device-measured single-night and subjective, single-night sleep duration was not normally distributed (W<sub>42</sub> = 0.93,  $p \le .01$ ), but the  $\bar{d}$ between habitual, device-measured and subjective, single-night sleep duration was normally distributed (W<sub>42</sub> = 0.98, p = .51).

Table 5. Mean Difference, Standard Deviation, and 95% Confidence Intervals Between Device-Measured Single-Night, Habitual, Device-Measured and Subjective, Single-Night Sleep Duration (n = 42).

Measures of Sleep Duration	<i>ā</i> (SD) (95% Cl)	Lower Limit of Agreement (95% CI)	Upper Limit of Agreement (95% CI)
Device-Measured Single-	-151.80 (102.42)	-352.54	48.93
Night Sleep Duration	(-183.72, -119.89)	(-407.52, -297.56)	(-6.05, 103.91)
Habitual, Device-	-158.03 (83.27)	-321.24	5.18
Measured Sleep Duration	(-183.98, -132.08)	(-365.94, -276.53)	(-39.52, 49.88)

Abbreviation: d, Mean Difference; SD, standard deviation; CI, Confidence Interval

Compared to device-measured single-night sleep duration, subjective, single-

night sleep duration significantly overestimated sleep duration by 151.80 minutes (Z = -

5.08,  $p \le .001$ ). Compared to habitual, device-measured sleep duration, subjective,

single-night sleep duration significantly overestimated sleep duration by 158.03 minutes

( $t_{41}$  = -12.30,  $p \le .001$ ). Bland-Altman plots were constructed to examine the degree of

agreement between 1) device-measured single-night and subjective, single-night sleep

duration (Figure 3) and 2) habitual, device-measured and subjective, single-night sleep

duration (Figure 4).

Figure 3. Bland-Altman Plot of Device-Measured Single-Night Sleep Duration and Subjective, Single-Night Sleep Duration (n = 42).



The middle-dashed line is the mean difference  $(\bar{d})$ , the bottom-dashed line is the lower limit of agreement ( $\bar{d}$  - 1.96SD), and the upper-dashed line is the upper limit of agreement ( $\bar{d}$  + 1.96SD). The blue line indicates the proportional bias line (y = 0.68x - 427.93,  $R^2$  = 0.175,  $p \le .01$ ) and the grey shade indicates the proportional bias line confidence intervals.
Figure 4. Bland-Altman Plot of Habitual, Device-Measured Sleep Duration and Subjective, Single-Night Sleep Duration (n = 42).



The middle-dashed line is the mean difference  $(\bar{d})$ , the lower-dashed line is the lower limit of agreement ( $\bar{d}$  - 1.96SD), and the upper dashed line is the upper limit of agreement ( $\bar{d}$  + 1.96SD). The blue line indicates the proportional bias line (y = 0.04x - 172.68,  $R^2$  = 0.000, p = .90) and the grey shade indicates the proportional bias line confidence intervals.

Specific Aim 3: To examine the agreement between habitual, device-measured sleep

duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration in college-aged individuals.

## Demographic Information

Eleven (11/61, 18%) participants did not have at least 5 nights of complete sleep

scored data. Two (2/61, 3.3%) were excluded as outliers. The analytic sample included

49 (49/61, 80.3%) participants. Thirty-one (31/49, 63.3%) participants had 7 nights of

sleep scored data, 11 (11/49, 22.4%) participants had 6 nights of sleep scored data,

and 7 (7/49, 14.3%) participants had 5 nights of sleep scored data. There were 13

(13/49, 26.5%) male and 36 (36/49, 73.5%) female participants with an average age of

20.27 (SD 1.11; range 18 - 22) years.

Results

Upon inspection of the data, it was determined that habitual, device-measured

sleep duration ( $W_{49} = 0.98$ , p = .37) and habitual, subjective sleep duration ( $W_{49} = 0.97$ ,

p = .28) were normally distributed. See Table 6 for means and standard deviations for

habitual, device-measured and habitual, subjective sleep duration.

Table 6. Descriptive Statistics for Hab	itual, Device-Measured and Habitual,
Subjective Sleep Duration in Minutes	(n = 49).

Measure of Sleep Duration	Mean (SD)	
Habitual, Device-Measured Sleep Duration	318.43 (64.01)	
Habitual, Subjective Sleep Duration	471.61 (46.75)	
Abbreviation: SD Standard Deviation		

Appreviation: SD, Standard Deviation

Results from the Pearson's correlation revealed a non-significant relationship

between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep

duration (r = 0.26, p = .07) (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Scatter Plot Between Habitual, Device-Measured and Habitual, Subjective Sleep Duration (Minutes) (n = 49).

Mean difference  $(\bar{d})$  was calculated between habitual, device-measured and habitual, subjective sleep duration. The  $\bar{d}$  was calculated in minutes. Upon inspection of the data, it was determined that  $\bar{d}$  between the two measures of sleep duration was normally distributed (W<sub>49</sub> = 0.98, *p* = .69). The  $\bar{d}$  was -153.18 (SD 68.85, 95% CI: -172.95, -133.40), the lower limit of agreement was -288.12 (95% CI: -322.15, -254.09), and the upper limit of agreement was -18.24 (95% CI: -52.26, 15.79).

Compared to habitual, device-measured sleep duration, habitual, subjective sleep duration significantly overestimated sleep duration by 153.18 minutes ( $t_{48}$  = - 15.57,  $p \le .001$ ). Bland Altman plots were used to examine the degree of agreement

between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep

duration (Figure 6).

Figure 6. Bland-Altman Plot of Habitual Device-Measured Sleep Duration and Habitual, Subjective Sleep Duration (n = 49).



The middle-dashed line is the mean difference  $(\bar{d})$ , the bottom-dashed line is the bottom limit of agreement  $(\bar{d} - 1.96$ SD), and upper-dashed line is the upper limit of agreement  $(\bar{d} + 1.96$ SD). The blue line indicates the proportional bias line (y = 0.49x - 346.20,  $R^2$  = 0.10, p = .03) and the grey shade indicates the proportional bias line confidence intervals.

# **Supplemental Analyses**

Habitual Device-Measured Sleep Variability

## Rationale

It is possible that difficult sleep one night may lead to a period of sleep that is longer, deeper, and more restorative.<sup>375</sup> Sleep variability may be used to understand

how sleep varies across multiple nights.<sup>376</sup> Previous research suggests that greater sleep variability is negatively associated with reaction time<sup>375</sup> and mood.<sup>377,378</sup> Therefore, the purpose of this supplemental analysis was to examine the influence of habitual, device-measured sleep variability on baseline computerized neurocognitive performance and total concussion symptom severity in college-aged individuals. The data analysis for this supplemental analysis can be found in Appendix E.

#### Demographic Information

Eleven (11/61, 18%) did not have at least 5 days of sleep scored data when using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm. Three (3/61, 4.92%) participants were excluded as outliers. The sample consisted of 48 participants. Twenty-nine (29/48, 60.4%) participants had 7 nights of sleep scored data, 12 (12/48, 25%) participants had 6 nights of sleep scored data, and 5 (5/48, 14.6%) participants had 5 nights of sleep scored data. There were 13 (13/48, 27.1%) males and 35 (35/48, 72.9%) females in the sample. The average age was 20.25 (SD 1.14; range 18 – 22) years.

#### Covariates

There were 12 (12/48, 25%) participants with a history of previous concussion, 6 (6/48, 12.5%) with a history of sleep disturbance, and 5 (5/48, 10.4%) with ADD/ADHD. A series of MANOVA tests were conducted in order to determine if there were any differences between demographic variables (gender, previous concussion history, history of diagnosed sleep disturbance, ADD/ADHD) and ImPACT composite scores and total concussion symptom severity. Any demographic variables with significant differences in ImPACT composite scores or total concussion symptom severity were used as covariates for future analyses.

There was no significant effect of gender (Wilks  $\lambda$  = 0.83,  $F_{5,42}$  = 1.72, p = .15),

previous history of concussion (Wilks  $\lambda$  = 0.84,  $F_{5,42}$  = 1.65, p = .17), or ADD/ADHD

(Wilks  $\lambda$  = 0.83,  $F_{5,42}$  = 1.78, p = .14), but there was a significant effect of history of sleep

disturbance (Wilks  $\lambda$  = 0.76,  $F_{5,42}$  = 2.62, p = .04), specifically total concussion symptom

severity ( $F_{1,46} = 12.51, p \le .01$ ).

Results

Participants wore the Actigraph GT9X Link monitor on average 9385.27 (SD

2153.91; range 3597 – 18322) minutes (mean 6.52, SD 1.50; range 2.50 – 12.72 days).

Using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm, the average total nighttime sleep variability

was 95.84 (SD 29.21; range 28.34 - 161.63) minutes (mean 1.60, SD 0.49; range 0.47

- 2.69 hours). See Table 7 for means and standard deviations for ImPACT composite

scores and total concussion symptom severity.

Table 7. Supplemental Descriptive Statistics for ImPACT Composite Scores (n =48).

ImPACT Composite Score	Mean (SD)
Verbal Memory	91.54 (7.90)
Visual Memory	79.65 (10.87)
Visual Motor Processing Speed	43.22 (5.50)
Reaction Time	0.57 (0.06)
Total Concussion Symptom Severity	6.02 (7.14)

Abbreviation: ImPACT, Immediate Post Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Testing; SD, Standard Deviation

### Verbal Memory

The first model included history of sleep disturbance and was not statistically

significant ( $F_{1,46} = 0.38$ , p = .54,  $R^2 = .008$ ). After adding habitual, device-measured

sleep variability, the model remained non-significant ( $F_{2,45} = 1.05$ , p = .36) and

accounted for 4.4% of the variance ( $R^2 = .044$ ). The  $R^2$  change related to the addition of

habitual, device-measured sleep variability (3.6%) was not statistically significant (F

change<sub>1,45</sub> = 1.71, p = .20). In the final model, history of sleep disturbance (B = -2.34, 95% CI: -9.28, 4.60,  $\beta$ = -.10, p = .50) and habitual, device-measured sleep variability (B = -0.05, 95% CI: -0.13, 0.03,  $\beta$ = -.19, p = .20) were not statistically significant.

#### Visual Memory

The first model included history of sleep disturbance and was not statistically significant ( $F_{1,46} = 0.15$ , p = .70,  $R^2 = .003$ ). After adding habitual, device-measured sleep variability, the model remained non-significant ( $F_{2,45} = .33$ , p = .72) and accounted for 1.4% of the variance ( $R^2 = .014$ ). The  $R^2$  change related to the addition of habitual, device-measured sleep variability (1.1%) was not statistically significant (F change<sub>1,45</sub> = 0.50, p = .48). In the final model, history of sleep disturbance (B = -1.73, 95% CI: - 11.43, 7.97,  $\beta$ = -.05, p = .72) and habitual, device-measured sleep variability (B = 0.04, 95% CI: -0.07, 0.15,  $\beta$ = -.05, p = .72) were not statistically significant.

### Visual Motor Processing Speed

The first model included history of sleep disturbance and was not statistically significant ( $F_{1,46} = 0.15$ , p = .70,  $R^2 = .003$ ). After adding, habitual, device-measured sleep variability, the model remained non-significant ( $F_{2,45} = 0.10$ , p = .91) and accounted for 0.4% of the variance ( $R^2 = .004$ ). The  $R^2$  change related to the addition of habitual, device-measured sleep variability (0.1%) was not statistically significant (F change<sub>1,45</sub> = 0.05, p = .82). In the final model, history of sleep disturbance (B = -0.96, 95% CI: -5.89, 4.0,  $\beta$ = -.06, p = .70) and habitual, device-measured sleep variability (B = -0.01, 95% CI: -0.06, 0.05,  $\beta$ = -.04, p = .82) were not statistically significant.

### **Reaction Time**

The first model included history of sleep disturbance and was not statistically significant ( $F_{1,46} = 2.43$ , p = .13,  $R^2 = .030$ ). After adding, habitual, device-measured sleep variability, the model remained non-significant ( $F_{2,45} = 1.37$ , p = .27) and accounted for 5.7% of the variance ( $R^2 = .057$ ). The  $R^2$  change related to the addition of habitual, device-measured sleep variability (0.7%) was not statistically significant (F change<sub>1,45</sub> = 0.34, p = .56). In the final model, history of sleep disturbance (B = 0.04, 95% CI: -0.01, 0.10,  $\beta = .22$ , p = .14) and habitual, device-measured sleep variability (B = 0.00, 95% CI: -0.00, 0.00,  $\beta = -.08$ , p = .56) were not statistically significant.

### Total Concussion Symptom Severity

The first model included history of sleep disturbance and was statistically significant ( $F_{1,46} = 12.51$ , p = .001,  $R^2 = .214$ ). After adding, habitual, device-measured sleep variability, the model remained significant ( $F_{2,45} = 6.14$ , p = .004) and accounted for 21.4% of the variance ( $R^2 = .214$ ). The  $R^2$  change related to the addition of habitual, device-measured sleep variability (0.1%) was not statistically significant (F change<sub>1,45</sub> = 0.04, p = .85). In the final model, history of sleep disturbance (B = 9.90, 95% CI: 4.21, 15.60,  $\beta = .46$ , p = .001) was statistically significant, but habitual, device-measured sleep variability (B = 0.01, 95% CI: -0.06, 0.07,  $\beta = .03$ , p = .85) was not statistically significant. *Cole-Kripke Sleep Scoring Algorithm* 

#### Rationale

The two most common sleep scoring algorithms used to detect sleep-wake periods are the Sadeh and Cole-Kripke algorithms. The Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm was originally validated in adolescents and young adults aged 10 – 25 years old and the

Cole-Kripke was originally validated in adults aged 35 – 65 years old.<sup>355,360</sup> Although the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm was appropriate in the current study based on the participant's age, previous literature<sup>357</sup> has reported both the Sadeh and Cole-Kripke scored data. In addition, Quante and colleagues<sup>379</sup> found that both algorithms were comparable to PSG in children and adults. The purpose of this supplemental analysis was to examine the relationship between Sadeh sleep scored habitual, device-measured sleep duration and Cole-Kripke sleep scored habitual, device-measured sleep duration. The data analyses for these results are found in Appendix F.

### Demographic Information

Eleven (11/61, 18%) participants did not have at least 5 nights of sleep scored data using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm and 3 (3/61, 4.9%) participants did not have at least 5 nights of sleep scored data using the Cole-Kripke sleep scoring algorithm. There were 4 (4/61, 6.6%) participants were outliers and were excluded. There was a total of 46 participants in the sample. Twenty-nine (29/46, 63%) participants had 7 nights of sleep scored data when using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm, 11 (11/46, 23.9%) participants had 6 nights of sleep scored data when using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm, and 6 (6/46, 13%) participants had 5 nights of sleep scored data when using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm. Forty-one (41/46, 89.1%) participants had 7 nights of sleep scored data when using the Cole-Kripke sleep scoring algorithm, 4 (4/46, 8.7%) participants had 6 nights of sleep scored data when using the Cole-Kripke sleep scoring algorithm, and 1 (1/46, 2.2%) participant had 5 nights of sleep scored data when using the Cole-Kripke sleep scoring algorithm, and 1 (1/46, 2.2%) participant had 5 nights of sleep scored data when using the Cole-Kripke sleep scoring algorithm, and 1 (1/46, 2.2%) participant had 5 nights of sleep scored data when using the Cole-Kripke sleep scoring algorithm. There were 33 (33/46,

71.7%) female participants and 13 (13/46, 28.3%) male participants in the sample with an average age of 20.26 (SD 1.16; range 18 - 22) years.

### Results

The average Sadeh sleep scored total nighttime sleep time was 317.39 (SD 62.06; range 173.57 – 437.29) minutes. The average Cole-Kripke sleep scored total nighttime sleep time was 376.11 (SD 72.85; range 209 – 542.50) minutes. There was a significant relationship between Sadeh sleep scored habitual, device-measured sleep duration and Cole-Kripke sleep scored habitual, device-measured sleep duration ( $F_{1,44} = 9.96$ ,  $p \le .01$ ,  $R^2 = .185$ ).

#### **CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION**

### Specific Aim 1

The primary purpose of this study was to investigate the influence of habitual, device-measured sleep duration on baseline neurocognitive performance and total concussion symptom severity in college-aged individuals. The habitual, device-measured total sleep time for participants in the current study was 322.13 minutes (5.37 hours). Similarly, Lee and colleauges<sup>357</sup> reported a device-measured average total sleep time of 325.2 minutes (5.47 hours) across 4 nights in adults aged 19 – 66 years. In addition, other studies<sup>371,379,380</sup> have reported an average total sleep time via wearable technologies ranging from 363.6 minutes (6.06 hours) – 421.6 minutes (7.03 hours). Recently, the National Sleep Foundation updated sleep duration recommendations and concluded that healthy young adults (aged 18 – 25) should get between 7 – 9 hours of sleep, however 6 hours may be appropriate.<sup>28</sup>

Contrary to the hypothesis, short habitual, device-measured sleep duration was not associated with worse baseline neurocognitive performance and total concussion symptom severity. This was the first study to investigate the influence of habitual, device-measured sleep duration via actigraphy on baseline ImPACT performance. However, previous researchers have investigated the influence of subjective, single-night sleep duration on baseline ImPACT performance.<sup>37–41</sup> Whether or not short sleep duration affects baseline CNT performance is mixed. Sufrinko et al.<sup>37</sup> observed that high school athletes with less than 5 hours of sleep the night before ImPACT administration demonstrated worse verbal memory, visual motor speed, and reaction time. In addition, McClure and colleagues<sup>38</sup> reported that high school and collegiate athletes with less

than 7 hours of sleep the night before ImPACT baseline testing demonstrated worse performance on reaction time, verbal memory, and visual memory. Although these two studies found that short sleep duration negatively influences ImPACT composite scores, other researchers found that short sleep duration only negatively influences baseline concussion symptomology. Moran and colleagues<sup>40</sup> observed no differences in self-reported prior night's sleep duration on ImPACT composite scores. Similarly, Silverberg et al.<sup>41</sup> reported no significant relationship between subjective, single-night sleep duration and ImPACT composite scores.

There may be several reasons for why habitual, device-measured did not influence baseline neurocognitive performance in the current study. Previous studies that investigated the relationship between short, habitual sleep duration and cognition utilized acute sleep deprivation and restriction in highly controlled sleep laboratories. For example, Stocker and colleagues<sup>43</sup> had young adults sleep in a sleep laboratory for 3 nights and randomly assigned them to 3 groups: undisrupted normal sleep, sleep restriction (50% of habitual sleep), and total sleep deprivation. Results showed that sleep loss was associated with deficits in tasks of visual memory, reaction time, and visual processing motor speed.<sup>43</sup> Unlike the current study, participants were deprived of sleep from 19 hours to 40 hours.<sup>43</sup> In another study,<sup>381</sup> participants were deprived of sleep for up to 72 hours. Therefore, the sleep loss in previous studies may be greater than that in the current study. In the current study, only 2 participants reported not sleeping the night prior to ImPACT administration Studies on this topic are often designed to test participants who work in extreme environments. For example, studies have included truck drivers,<sup>382</sup> medical residents,<sup>383</sup> military personnel,<sup>381</sup> and pilots<sup>384</sup>

who are required to practice sleep deprivation in order to be successful at their job. Although college students may voluntarily limit their sleep to meet academic and social demands, the sleep restriction may not be as extreme or consistent as those that work in a sleep-deprived state.<sup>36,39</sup> Further research is needed to determine the ImPACT battery's sensitivity to habitual sleep and sleep loss. In addition, future researchers should investigate how other sleep-related variables, like sleep efficiency, may impact baseline CNT performance.

Although the finding that college students are sleeping less than the recommended amount is concerning, it is not surprising. College students are notorious for practicing volitional sleep restriction in order to meet academic and social demands.<sup>36</sup> Compounded with the COVID-19 pandemic, which may add additional stresses (e.g., social restrictions), college students may not be getting the appropriate amount of sleep. Mezick and colleagues<sup>385</sup> reported that stressful life events are associated with increased sleep variability; therefore, it is possible that participant stress levels could have influenced sleep duration in the current study. However, it should be noted that some individuals sleep shorter or longer than recommended without any adverse effects.<sup>28</sup> In addition, it is also important to consider that sleep variability may also influence baseline CNT performance. However, results from supplementary analyses revealed no relationship between habitual sleep variability and baseline ImPACT composite scores or total concussion symptom severity.

Surprisingly, and contrary to previous literature,<sup>37–41</sup> there was no relationship between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and total concussion symptom severity. McClure et al<sup>38</sup> observed significantly more concussion symptoms in

participants who got less than 7 hours of sleep compared to those who got intermediate (7 - 9 hours) and long ( $\geq 9 \text{ hours}$ ) sleep. In a meta-analysis, Pilcher and colleagues<sup>330</sup> found that sleep insufficiency affects mood more than cognitive and motor performance. However, it is possible that the combination of sleep quantity and sleep quality may affect concussion symptom severity more so than sleep quantity alone. In the current study, only sleep quantity was analyzed. Although sleep quantity and quality may overlap, sleep quantity consists of quantifiable components such as sleep duration, whereas sleep quality includes how well rested one feels upon awakening and general satisfaction with sleep.<sup>386,387</sup> Pilcher and colleagues<sup>36</sup> observed that sleep quality was better related to sleepiness and feelings of tension, depression, anger, fatigue, and confusion compared to sleep quantity. Mihalik and colleagues<sup>39</sup> did not observe increased severity in somatic (e.g., headache, nausea), cognitive (e.g., difficulty concentrating, feeling in a "fog"), or neurobehavioral (e.g., trouble falling asleep, drowsiness) symptoms in individuals with lower subjective, single-night sleep quantity. However, participants with lower sleep quality reported increased severity in neurobehavioral symptoms.<sup>39</sup> In addition, Sufrinko and colleagues<sup>37</sup> combined sleep quantity and sleep quality by grouping individuals with  $\leq 5$  hours of sleep and at least 1 or more symptoms in the sleep symptom cluster (i.e., trouble falling asleep, sleeping less than usual). The results revealed that participants in the sleep problems group (low sleep quantity and poor sleep quality) reported more concussion symptoms at baseline compared to participants in the control group.<sup>37</sup> Therefore, it is possible that the combination of sleep quantity and quality may influence baseline concussion symptoms. Future research is needed to better understand the effect of sleep quality on baseline concussion symptoms.

### Specific Aim 2

The secondary aim of this study was to assess the agreement between both device-measured single-night sleep duration and habitual, device-measured sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration in college-aged individuals. Contrary to hypothesis 2a, the results of the current study revealed no agreement between device-measured single-night sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration. However, hypothesis 2b was supported by the results of this study, which revealed no agreement between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep night sleep duration and subjective, single-night no agreement between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and subjective, single-night night sleep duration.

In the current study, device-measured single-night total sleep time (328.52 minutes [5.47 hours]) was significantly shorter than subjective single-night total sleep time. Compared to device-measured single-night sleep duration, subjective, single-night total sleep time significantly overestimated sleep duration by 151.80 minutes (2.53 hours). The Bland-Altman plot showed that device-measured single-night and subjective, single-night sleep duration only agreed within  $\pm$  3.35 hours (200.74 minutes). Given the  $\bar{d}$  was far from zero and that the limits of agreement were large, the agreement between device-measured single-night sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration was not acceptable.

In addition, the Bland-Alman plot between device-measure single-night sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration provides evidence of proportional bias between the two measures (Fig. 3). Specifically, short sleepers tended to overestimate sleep duration, more so than long sleepers. Similarly, Lauderdale et al.<sup>371</sup> found that subjective sleep diary sleep duration was 38 minutes longer than device-measured single night sleep duration, which is considerably closer to the findings of the current study. This finding suggests that participants in the current study may not be able to accurately report how much they sleep in a single night.<sup>371</sup> It is possible that participants may have reported time spent awake in bed rather than actual sleep time.

Although device-measured single-night sleep duration and subjective, singlenight sleep duration demonstrated no agreement, these results should be interpreted with caution. The  $\bar{d}$  between device-measured single-night sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration was not normally distributed. The calculation of 95% limits of agreement is based on the assumption that the difference between the two measures is normally distributed.<sup>373</sup> Therefore, it is possible that the limits of agreement could be wider apart than necessary for short sleep duration and narrower than necessary for longer sleep duration.<sup>373</sup>

The results of the study suggest no agreement between habitual, devicemeasured sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration. Compared to habitual, device-measured sleep duration, subjective single-night sleep duration significantly overestimated sleep duration by 158.03 minutes (2.63 hours). The Bland-Altman plot showed that the two measures of sleep duration only agree within  $\pm$  2.72 hours, which may not be clinically acceptable. It is hard to say that the results of this

study are reflected in previous literature because very little research has been designed to investigate the agreement between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and subjective, single-night sleep duration. Typically, large epidemiological studies utilize questionnaires that ask the individual to report what time they typically wake up and go to bed (i.e., "During the past month, how many hours of actual sleep did you get at night?"), rather than ask single-item questions like used in the current study.<sup>371,388,389</sup> Given the results of this study, subjective, single-night sleep duration is not an acceptable substitute for habitual, device-measured sleep duration.

#### Specific Aim 3

The tertiary purpose of the current study was to examine the agreement between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration in college-aged individuals. Current study findings do not support hypothesis 3, as the results suggest no agreement between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration.

In the current study, habitual, subjective total sleep time (471.61 minutes [7.86 hours]) was significantly longer than habitual, device-measured total sleep time (318.43 minutes [5.31 hours]), revealing evidence of fixed bias between the two methods. Compared to habitual, device-measured sleep duration, habitual, subjective total sleep time overestimated sleep duration by almost 2.5 hours (153.18 minutes [2.55 hours]). This finding is supported by previous research.<sup>357,371,390–393</sup> Lee and colleagues<sup>357</sup> reported habitual device-measured total sleep time of 325.2 minutes via Actigraph GT9X and habitual, subjective total sleep time of 439.8 minutes via sleep diary. Similarly, Lauderdale et al.<sup>371</sup> reported 6.06 hours of habitual, device-measured sleep

and 6.83 hours of habitual, self-reported sleep duration. Furthermore, Arora and colleagues<sup>390</sup> observed a 54.2-minute difference between habitual, device-measured total sleep time (449 minutes) and habitual, subjective total sleep time (531 minutes). However, two studies<sup>394,395</sup> found that habitual, device measured total sleep time was longer than habitual, subjective total sleep time. Lockley et al.<sup>394</sup> found a longer device-measured sleep period compared with subjective sleep logs. Similarly, Landry and colleagues<sup>395</sup> reported 408.8 minutes for habitual, device-measured total sleep time and 398 minutes for habitual, subjective total sleep time. Although these 2 studies<sup>394,395</sup> present conflicting results to the current study, it is important to consider the participants. Lockley and colleagues<sup>394</sup> included individuals who were blind, and Landry et al.<sup>395</sup> included older adults, 55 years and older. Individuals who are blind are likely to have circadian rhythm disorders and sleep complaints are common among older adults.<sup>394,396</sup>

Results of the current study suggest that there was no agreement between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration. This finding was confirmed upon closer inspection of the Bland-Altman plot. The lower and upper limits of agreement and their 95% Cls between the two measures of sleep duration are wide, possibly due to great variance in the differences and small sample size.<sup>373</sup> The Bland-Altman plot shows that habitual, subjective total sleep time significantly overestimates habitual, device-measured total sleep time and the two measures of sleep duration only agree within  $\pm 2.25$  hours, which may not be acceptable for clinical purposes.<sup>390</sup> Previous research<sup>359,392</sup> suggests that a difference in  $\leq$  30 minutes between 2 measures of total sleep time was satisfactory. Furthermore, the

Bland-Altman plot in the current study provides evidence of proportional bias between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration, specifically short sleepers tended to overestimate sleep duration more so than long sleepers (Fig. 6).

Similar results were found in previous studies.<sup>357,371,392</sup> Lauderdale and colleagues<sup>371</sup> observed proportional bias between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and subjective habitual sleep duration. Lee and colleagues<sup>357</sup> compared total sleep time as measured by wearable trackers to sleep diaries in adults. The results revealed that Actigraph GT9X compared to sleep diary produced the greatest mean difference, and therefore, the greatest fixed bias suggesting no agreement.<sup>357</sup> In addition, Werner et al.<sup>392</sup> found no agreement between total sleep time as measured by actigraphy and sleep diary.

There may be several reasons that can be attributed to the lack of agreement between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration. Individuals may not be sure how much sleep they actually get and when asked to report the number of hours slept, they may answer what they think is normal.<sup>371</sup> Furthermore, individuals may confuse time in bed with actual sleep time or may disregard the amount of time spent awake in bed.<sup>390</sup> Alternatively, methodological issues with actigraphy may contribute to poor agreement between habitual, devicemeasured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration. Results of this study and supplemental results revealed that the Sadeh and Cole-Kripke algorithm derived total sleep time had no agreement with habitual, subjective total sleep time. Actigraph devices do not measure sleep directly. Rather, they use raw counts that are translated

to sleep-wake scores via algorithms based on assumptions of physical movement, sedentary activity, and sleep behavior.<sup>356,357</sup>

Quante et al.<sup>379</sup> reported that both the Sadeh and Cole-Kripke sleep scoring algorithms demonstrated poor specificity for wake time. Therefore, participants who toss and turn frequently may skew data or others may have missing nights of data.<sup>357</sup> In addition, the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm was originally validated in a healthy sample of adolescent and young adults  $(10 - 25 \text{ years})^{355}$  and the Cole-Kripke sleep scoring algorithm was validated in adults aged  $35 - 65.^{360}$  However, it should be noted that the Sadeh sleep scoring validation study only included 9 young adults  $(20 - 25 \text{ years}).^{355}$  Furthermore, Lee and colleagues<sup>357</sup> observed that the Cole-Kripke sleep scoring algorithm performed better than the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm in 19 – 66 year olds. Therefore, researchers should continue to compare the Sadeh and Cole-Kripke sleep scoring algorithm is most appropriate for young adults. Future studies should continue to develop methodologies and algorithms in order to address these limitations.<sup>356</sup>

Another possible reason for the lack of agreement between habitual, devicemeasured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep could be due to the specific type of actigraph or wearable device. Other wearable devices, such as the Fitbit Charge HR or the Actiwatch 2, allow for user interaction to confirm bedtimes and wake times through interactive apps or event markers, which may aid in the identification of sleep periods.<sup>357,371</sup> However, some of these wearable devices, such as the Fitbit Charge HR, utilize unknown proprietary algorithms to define sleep periods, which are unknown to

the researcher or clinician.<sup>397</sup> Wearable technologies and self-reported sleep diaries continue to be used in research studies and various populations. Therefore, researchers should continue to compare device-measured and subjective measures of total sleep time. In addition, researchers should compare other sleep-related variables such as time in bed, sleep efficiency, and wake after sleep onset between device-measured and subjective measured and subjective measured.

### **Clinical Implications**

The results of this study suggest that habitual, device-measured sleep duration does not influence baseline computerized neurocognitive performance or total concussion symptom severity in college-aged individuals. In addition, when compared to subjective, single-night sleep duration, habitual device-measured sleep duration showed no agreement. Furthermore, habitual, device-measured sleep duration demonstrated no agreement to habitual, subjective sleep duration. Therefore, researchers should be cautious when interchangeably using device and subjective measures of sleep.

Actigraphy is a cost-effective method of collecting objective measures of sleep allowing researchers to continuously measure sleep in the individual's home environment. Despite these advantages, the current study highlights the need to further understand the clinical utility of actigraphy to measure sleep in college-aged individuals. This study may highlight the need to use complementary subjective methods of measuring sleep in conjunction with actigraphy. Although the Sadeh and Cole-Kripke sleep scoring algorithms provide comparable data to the gold standard PSG,<sup>356,379</sup> validity concerns still exist. It is possible that subjective methods of sleep, such as sleep

diaries, may provide researchers with additional information. Given that sleep scoring algorithms only look for sleep,<sup>371</sup> using subjective measures of sleep concurrently with actigraphy may help researchers accurately identify sleep periods or may provide points of reference for analysis. In fact, Littner and colleagues<sup>398</sup> recommended that sleep diaries be used in conjunction with actigraphy and that the combination may be an accepted valid, practical alternative to PSG.

### Strengths and Limitations

This was the first study to investigate the influence of habitual, device-measured sleep duration on baseline computerized neurocognitive performance and total concussion symptom severity. However, this study was not without limitations. First, data collected for the current study were collected during the COVID-19 pandemic. It is possible that the global pandemic and the associated social restrictions could have influenced sleep patterns and increased stress in participants in this study. As a result of the global pandemic, reseachers<sup>399,400</sup> observed that college students reported going to bed later, waking up later, increasing digital media use before bed, and worsening sleep quality during the COVID-19 lockdown in Italy. It is possible that the restrictions associated with the COVID-19 pandemic could have negatively influence participant's sleep quantity in the current study. Second, research shows that Actigraphy may overestimate measures of sleep quantity compared to the gold-standard PSG. Specifically, actigraphy may overestimate sleep quantity in insomniacs as still awakenings may be counted as sleep.<sup>401</sup> Actigraphy is designed to start sleep data collection at the time of arm movement cessation, however it is possible that the arm may stop moving before the individual falls asleep.<sup>356</sup> Third, participants were asked to

complete the National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary prior to the Testing Session and ImPACT administration. Therefore, it is possible that the sleep diary information could have informed the subjective, single-day total sleep time that is reported on ImPACT. Finally, these data were collected solely at Michigan State University, specifically recruited from kinesiology and exercise classes, which could impact the generalizability of the study results.

### Conclusions

Previous research<sup>37–41</sup> suggests that short sleep duration negatively influences baseline CNT performance and total concussion symptom severity. However, previous studies have relied on subjective measures of sleep quantity and have only investigated the effects of a single night of sleep. Results of the current study suggest that habitual, device-measured sleep duration does not influence baseline CNT performance or total concussion symptom severity. More research is needed to understand the impact of habitual, device-measured sleep duration on baseline CNT performance and total concussion symptom severity.

The results of the current study revealed no agreement between subjective, single night sleep duration and both device-measured single night and habitual, devicemeasured sleep duration. Furthermore, there was no agreement between habitual, device-measured sleep duration and habitual, subjective sleep duration. Wearable devices that provide an alternative to subjective reports have significant implications for future research. As wearable technologies become more available, more research is needed to understand the utility of these devices.

APPENDICES

# APPENDIX A

# **Demographics Form**

Subject ID:			
Screening/Eligibility – Confirm eligibility prior	to enrollr	nent	
Inclusion Criteria:			
18 and 25 years of age		YES	NO
Currently participate in a National Collegiate Association (NCAA) sanctioned sport	Athletic	YES	NO
Exclusion Criteria:			
Does not speak or read English		YES	NO
Diagnosed with a concussion within the last s months	ix	YES	NO
Demographic Information – Gender: M F			
Date of Birth://			
Age:			
Race:			
<ul> <li>Asian</li> <li>Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific</li> <li>Islander</li> <li>Non-Hispanic Black or African American</li> </ul>	<ul><li>Native</li><li>Hispan</li><li>Hispan</li></ul>	e American nic Black nic White	of Alaska Native
<ul> <li>Non-Hispanic White</li> <li>Other:</li> <li>Year in School: FR SOPH JR SR</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Unkno</li> <li>Gradua</li> </ul>	own	

How many university classes are you currently enrolled in?			
Are you currently employed? YES	NO		
If currently employed, how many jobs do you h	nave?		
If currently employed, please describe job(s):			

## Parent's Highest Level of Education

### Mother

- □ Some high school
- □ High school diploma or equivalent
- □ Some college, no degree
- □ Associate degree
- Bachelor's degree
- □ Master's degree
- Doctoral/Professional degree

### **Parent's Occupational Category**

### □ Professional

- □ Employer
- □ Employee
- Retired
- $\Box$  Self-employed
- Unemployed
- Other: \_\_\_\_\_

### Parent's Specific Occupation: \_\_\_\_\_

### Family Household Income

□ Less than \$10,000
□ \$10,000 to 19,999
□ \$20,000 to 29,999
□ \$30,000 to \$39,999
□ \$40,000 to \$49,999
□ \$50,000 to \$59,999
□ \$60,000 to \$69,999
□ \$70,000 to \$79,999
□ \$80,000 to \$89,999
□ \$90,000 to \$99,999
□ \$100,000 to \$149,999
□ \$150,000 or more

### Father

- □ Some high school
- □ High school diploma or equivalent
- □ Some college, no degree
- □ Associate degree
- □ Bachelor's degree
- □ Master's degree
- Doctoral/Professional degree

# Previous Medical History -

Previous Concussion	YES	NO	
If yes, how many			
Date of most recent	/_	/	
Headaches/Migraine Disorders	YES	NO	
Learning Disorder/Dyslexia	YES	NO	
ADD/ADHD	YES	NO	
Depression/Anxiety	YES	NO	
Sleep Disturbance	YES	NO	
Prescription Medication	YES	NO	

### APPENDIX B.

## **National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary**



Figure 7. National Sleep Foundation Sleep Diary.

## APPENDIX C.

# Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)

					Page 1 of 4	
Subjec	ct's Initials	ID#	D	ate	Time	AM PM
		PITTSBURGH	SLEEP QUALITY I	NDEX		
INST The f shou Pleas	<b>RUCTIONS:</b> following questions ld indicate the most se answer all questi	relate to your usual accurate reply for th ons.	sleep habits during ne <u>majority</u> of days	the past montl and nights in tl	n <u>only</u> . Your ans he past month.	wers
1.	During the past m	onth, what time have	e you usually gone	to bed at night	?	
		BED TI	ME			
2.	During the past m	onth, how long (in mi	inutes) has it usuall	y taken you to	fall asleep each r	night?
		NUMBER OF I	MINUTES			
З.	3. During the past month, what time have you usually gotten up in the morning?					
		GETTING U	P TIME			
4.	<ol> <li>During the past month, how many hours of <u>actual sleep</u> did you get at night? (This may be different than the number of hours you spent in bed.)</li> </ol>				ay be	
		HOURS OF SLEEP	P PER NIGHT			
For ea	ach of the remainin	g questions, check	the one best resp	onse. Please	answer <u>all</u> ques	tions.
5.	During the past m	onth, how often have	e you had trouble s	leeping becaus	se you	
a)	Cannot get to slee	ep within 30 minutes				
	Not during the past month	Less than once a week	Once or twice a week	Three or mo times a weel	re k	
b)	Wake up in the m	iddle of the night or	early morning			
	Not during the past month	Less than once a week	Once or twice a week	Three or mo times a weel	re k	
c)	Have to get up to	use the bathroom				
	Not during the past month	Less than once a week	Once or twice a week	Three or mo times a weel	re k	

d) Cannot breathe comfortably

	Not during the past month	Less than once a week	Once or twice a week	Three or more times a week
e)	Cough or snore lo	udly		
	Not during the past month	Less than once a week	Once or twice a week	Three or more times a week
f)	Feel too cold			
	Not during the past month	Less than once a week	Once or twice a week	Three or more times a week
g)	Feel too hot			
	Not during the past month	Less than once a week	Once or twice a week	Three or more times a week
h)	Had bad dreams			
	Not during the past month	Less than once a week	Once or twice a week	Three or more times a week
i)	Have pain			
	Not during the past month	Less than once a week	Once or twice a week	Three or more times a week

j) Other reason(s), please describe

How often during the past month have you had trouble sleeping because of this?

Not during the	Less than	Once or twice	Three or more
past month	once a week	a week	times a week

6. During the past month, how would you rate your sleep quality overall?

Very good	
Fairly good	
Fairly bad	
Very bad	

#### Page 3 of 4

7. During the past month, how often have you taken medicine to help you sleep (prescribed or "over the counter")?

 Not during the past month\_\_\_\_\_
 Less than once a week\_\_\_\_\_
 Once or twice times a week\_\_\_\_\_
 Three or more times a week\_\_\_\_\_

8. During the past month, how often have you had trouble staying awake while driving, eating meals, or engaging in social activity?

Not during the	Less than	Once or twice	Three or more
past month	once a week	a week	times a week

9. During the past month, how much of a problem has it been for you to keep up enough enthusiasm to get things done?

	No problem at all	
	Only a very slight problem	
	Somewhat of a problem	
	A very big problem	
10.	Do you have a bed partner or room mate? No bed partner or room mate	

Partner/room mate in other room

Partner in same room, but not same bed

Partner in same bed

If you have a room mate or bed partner, ask him/her how often in the past month you have had . . .

a) Loud snoring

	Not during the past month	Less than once a week	Once or twice a week	Three or more times a week	
b)	Long pauses between breaths while asleep				
	Not during the past month	Less than once a week	Once or twice a week	Three or more times a week	
c)	Legs twitching or jerking while you sleep				
	Not during the past month	Less than once a week	Once or twice a week	Three or more times a week	

Page 4 of 4

d) Episodes of disorientation or confusion during sleep

e)

Not during the past month	Less than once a week	Once or twice a week	Three or more times a week					
Other restlessness while you sleep; please describe								

Not during the	Less than	Once or twice	Three or more
past month	once a week	a week	times a week

© 1989, University of Pittsburgh. All rights reserved. Developed by Buysse, D.J., Reynolds, C.F., Monk, T.H., Berman, S.R., and Kupfer, D.J. of the University of Pittsburgh using National Institute of Mental Health Funding.

Buysse DJ, Reynolds CF, Monk TH, Berman SR, Kupfer DJ: Psychiatry Research, 28:193-213, 1989.

### APPENDIX D.

### Morningness-Eveningness Questionnaire – Short Assessment (MEQ-SA)

### MORNINGNESS-EVENINGNESS QUESTIONNAIRE Self-Assessment Version (MEQ-SA)<sup>1</sup>

Name: \_\_\_\_\_ Date: \_\_\_\_\_

For each question, please select the answer that best describes you by circling the point value that best indicates how you have felt in recent weeks.

- 1. Approximately what time would you get up if you were entirely free to plan your day?
  - [5] 5:00 AM-6:30 AM (05:00-06:30 h)
  - [4] 6:30 AM-7:45 AM (06:30-07:45 h)
  - [3] 7:45 AM–9:45 AM (07:45–09:45 h)
  - [2] 9:45 AM-11:00 AM (09:45-11:00 h)
  - [1] 11:00 AM–12 noon (*11:00–12:00 h*)
- 2. *Approximately* what time would you go to bed if you were entirely free to plan your evening?
  - [5] 8:00 PM–9:00 PM (20:00–21:00 h)
  - [4] 9:00 PM-10:15 PM (21:00-22:15 h)
  - [3] 10:15 PM–12:30 AM (22:15–00:30 h)
  - [2] 12:30 AM–1:45 AM (00:30–01:45 h)
  - [1] 1:45 AM–3:00 AM (01:45–03:00 h)
- 3. If you usually have to get up at a specific time in the morning, how much do you depend on an alarm clock?
  - [4] Not at all
  - [3] Slightly
  - [2] Somewhat
  - [1] Very much

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Some stem questions and item choices have been rephrased from the original instrument (Horne and Östberg, 1976) to conform with spoken American English. Discrete item choices have been substituted for continuous graphic scales. Prepared by Terman M, Rifkin JB, Jacobs J, White TM (2001), New York State Psychiatric Institute, 1051 Riverside Drive, Unit 50, New York, NY, 10032. January 2008 version. Supported by NIH Grant MH42931. *See also:* automated version (AutoMEQ) at www.cet.org.

Horne JA and Östberg O. A self-assessment questionnaire to determine morningness-eveningness in human circadian rhythms. International Journal of Chronobiology, 1976: 4, 97-100.

#### MORNINGNESS-EVENINGNESS QUESTIONNAIRE Page 2

- 4. How easy do you find it to get up in the morning (when you are not awakened unexpectedly)?
  - [1] Very difficult
  - [2] Somewhat difficult
  - [3] Fairly easy
  - [4] Very easy
- 5. How alert do you feel during the first half hour after you wake up in the morning?
  - [1] Not at all alert
  - [2] Slightly alert
  - [3] Fairly alert
  - [4] Very alert
- 6. How hungry do you feel during the first half hour after you wake up?
  - [1] Not at all hungry
  - [2] Slightly hungry
  - [3] Fairly hungry
  - [4] Very hungry
- 7. During the first half hour after you wake up in the morning, how do you feel?
  - [1] Very tired
  - [2] Fairly tired
  - [3] Fairly refreshed
  - [4] Very refreshed
- 8. If you had no commitments the next day, what time would you go to bed compared to your usual bedtime?
  - [4] Seldom or never later
  - [3] Less that 1 hour later
  - [2] 1-2 hours later
  - [1] More than 2 hours later

#### MORNINGNESS-EVENINGNESS QUESTIONNAIRE Page 3

- 9. You have decided to do physical exercise. A friend suggests that you do this for one hour twice a week, and the best time for him is between 7-8 AM (07-08 h). Bearing in mind nothing but your own internal "clock," how do you think you would perform?
  - [4] Would be in good form
  - [3] Would be in reasonable form
  - [2] Would find it difficult
  - [1] Would find it very difficult
- 10. At *approximately* what time in the evening do you feel tired, and, as a result, in need of sleep?
  - [5] 8:00 PM-9:00 PM (20:00-21:00 h)
  - [4] 9:00 PM-10:15 PM (21:00-22:15 h)
  - [3] 10:15 PM–12:45 AM (22:15–00:45 h)
  - [2] 12:45 AM–2:00 AM (00:45–02:00 h)
  - [1] 2:00 AM–3:00 AM (02:00–03:00 h)
- 11. You want to be at your peak performance for a test that you know is going to be mentally exhausting and will last two hours. You are entirely free to plan your day. Considering only your "internal clock," which one of the four testing times would you choose?
  - [6] 8 AM-10 AM (08-10 h)
  - [4] 11 AM–1 PM (11–13 h)
  - [2] 3 PM–5 PM (15–17 h)
  - [0] 7 PM–9 PM (19–21 h)
- 12. If you got into bed at 11 PM (23 h), how tired would you be?
  - [0] Not at all tired
  - [2] A little tired
  - [3] Fairly tired
  - [5] Very tired

#### MORNINGNESS-EVENINGNESS QUESTIONNAIRE Page 4

- 13. For some reason you have gone to bed several hours later than usual, but there is no need to get up at any particular time the next morning. Which one of the following are you most likely to do?
  - [4] Will wake up at usual time, but will not fall back asleep
  - [3] Will wake up at usual time and will doze thereafter
  - [2] Will wake up at usual time, but will fall asleep again
  - [1] Will not wake up until later than usual
- 14. One night you have to remain awake between 4-6 AM (04-06 h) in order to carry out a night watch. You have no time commitments the next day. Which one of the alternatives would suit you best?
  - [1] Would not go to bed until the watch is over
  - [2] Would take a nap before and sleep after
  - [3] Would take a good sleep before and nap after
  - [4] Would sleep only before the watch
- 15. You have two hours of hard physical work. You are entirely free to plan your day. Considering only your internal "clock," which of the following times would you choose?
  - [4] 8 AM-10 AM (08-10 h)
  - [3] 11 AM–1 PM (11–13 h)
  - [2] 3 PM–5 PM (15–17 h)
  - [1] 7 PM–9 PM (19–21 h)
- 16. You have decided to do physical exercise. A friend suggests that you do this for one hour twice a week. The best time for her is between 10-11 PM (22-23 h). Bearing in mind only your internal "clock," how well do you think you would perform?
  - [1] Would be in good form
  - [2] Would be in reasonable form
  - [3] Would find it difficult
  - [4] Would find it very difficult
#### MORNINGNESS-EVENINGNESS QUESTIONNAIRE Page 5

- 17. Suppose you can choose your own work hours. Assume that you work a five-hour day (including breaks), your job is interesting, and you are paid based on your performance. At *approximately* what time would you choose to begin?
  - [5] 5 hours starting between 4–8 AM (05-08 h)
  - [4] 5 hours starting between 8-9 AM (08-09 h)
  - [3] 5 hours starting between 9 AM-2 PM (09-14 h)
  - [2] 5 hours starting between 2–5 PM (14-17 h)
  - [1] 5 hours starting between 5 PM-4 AM (17-04 h)
- 18. At approximately what time of day do you usually feel your best?
  - [5] 5–8 AM (05–08 h)
  - [4] 8–10 AM (08–10 h)
  - [3] 10 AM–5 PM (10–17 h)
  - [2] 5–10 PM (*17–22 h*)
  - [1] 10 PM–5 AM (22–05 h)
- 19. One hears about "morning types" and "evening types." Which one of these types do you consider yourself to be?
  - [6] Definitely a morning type
  - [4] Rather more a morning type than an evening type
  - [2] Rather more an evening type than a morning type
  - [1] Definitely an evening type

## Total points for all 19 questions

## APPENDIX E.

## Habitual Sleep Variability Data Analysis

Habitual variability was calculated by calculating the standard deviation of total nighttime sleep time experienced across at least 5 nights prior to ImPACT, using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm.<sup>385,402</sup> The following formula<sup>352</sup> was used to calculated weighted average device-derived total nighttime sleep time, using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm (Equation 1). Total nighttime sleep time (minutes) was defined as the duration of nighttime sleep between the onset of sleep and the final awakening. Demographic information was calculated using frequencies, means, standard deviations, and ranges. Gender, previous concussion history, history of diagnosed sleep disturbance, and ADD/ADHD were evaluated as covariates using a series of multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) tests due to their effect on ImPACT performance. Any demographic variables with significant differences in ImPACT composite scores or total concussion symptom severity were used as covariates for future analyses. Sample mean and standard deviation for habitual, device-measured total sleep time (minutes) were calculated. Hierarchical linear regressions were used to investigate the influence of habitual sleep variability on baseline neurocognitive performance and total concussion symptom severity in college-aged individuals. The independent variable was habitual sleep variability (minutes), using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm, and the dependent variables were the four ImPACT composite scores (verbal memory, visual memory, visual motor processing speed, and reaction time) and total concussion symptom severity. Statistical significance was set at  $p \le .05$ .

131

## APPENDIX F.

## **Cole-Kripke Sleep Scoring Algorithm Data Analysis**

Habitual, device-measured sleep duration was calculated using the weighted average device-derived total nighttime sleep time (minutes) individuals experienced across at least 5 nights prior to ImPACT, using the Sadeh and Cole-Kripke sleep scoring algorithms. A weighted average was used to account for weekday and weekend total sleep time and because some participants wore the Actigraph GT9X Link on different days and some less than 7 days.<sup>371,372</sup> The following formula<sup>352</sup> was used to calculate the weighted average device-derived total nighttime sleep time, using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm (Equational 1). Total nighttime sleep time (minutes) was defined as the duration of nighttime sleep between the onset of sleep and the final awakening.

Sample mean and standard deviation for Sadeh- and Cole-Kripke derived habitual, device-measured total sleep time (minutes) were calculated. A linear regression was used to examine the relationship between Sadeh sleep scored habitual, device-measured sleep duration and Cole-Kripke sleep scored habitual, devicemeasured sleep duration. The independent variable was habitual, device-measured sleep duration, using the Sadeh sleep scoring algorithm, and the dependent variable was habitual, device-measured sleep duration, using the Cole-Kripke sleep scoring algorithm. Statistical significance was set at  $p \le .05$ .

132

BIBLIOGRAPHY

# BIBLIOGRAPHY

- McCrory P, Meeuwisse W, Dvořák J, et al. Consensus statement on concussion in sport-the 5th international conference on concussion in sport held in Berlin, October 2016. Br J Sports Med. 2017;51(11):838-847. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2017-097699
- 2. Lovell MR, Collins MW. Neuropsychological assessment of the college football player. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 1998;13(2):9-26.
- 3. Woodard JL, Rahman AAM. The human-computer interface in computer-based concussion assessment. *J Clin Sport Psychol*. 2012;6(4):385-408. doi:10.1123/jcsp.6.4.385
- 4. Broglio SP, Cantu RC, Gioia GA, et al. National Athletic Trainers' Association position statement: Management of sport concussion. *J Athl Train*. 2014;49(2):245-265. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-49.1.07
- Elbin RJ, D'Amico NR, McCarthy M, Womble MN, O'Connor S, Schatz P. How do ImPACT quick test scores compare with ImPACT online scores in non-concussed adolescent athletes? *Arch Clin Neuropsychol Off J Natl Acad Neuropsychol*. 2020;35(3):326-331. doi:10.1093/arclin/acz072
- 6. McClincy MP, Lovell MR, Pardini J, Collins MW, Spore MK. Recovery from sports concussion in high school and collegiate athletes. *Brain Inj.* 2006;20(1):33-39. doi:10.1080/02699050500309817
- Covassin T, Elbin RJ, Nakayama Y. Tracking neurocognitive performance following concussion in high school athletes. *Phys Sportsmed*. 2010;38(4):87-93. doi:10.3810/psm.2010.12.1830
- 8. Iverson GL, Brooks BL, Collins MW, Lovell MR. Tracking neuropsychological recovery following concussion in sport. *Brain Inj*. 2006;20(3):245-252. doi:10.1080/02699050500487910
- Williams RM, Welch CE, Weber ML, Parsons JT, Valovich McLeod TC. Athletic trainers' management practices and referral patterns for adolescent athletes after sport-related concussion. *Sports Health*. 2014;6(5):434-439. doi:10.1177/1941738114545612
- 10. Louey AG, Cromer JA, Schembri AJ, et al. Detecting cognitive impairment after concussion: sensitivity of change from baseline and normative data methods using the CogSport/Axon cognitive test battery. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol Off J Natl Acad Neuropsychol*. 2014;29(5):432-441. doi:10.1093/arclin/acu020

- 11. Hinton-Bayre AD. Normative versus baseline paradigms for detecting neuropsychological impairment following sports-related concussion. *Brain Impair*. 2015;16(2):80-89. doi:10.1017/BrImp.2015.14
- 12. Roebuck-Spencer TM, Vincent AS, Schlegel RE, Gilliland K. Evidence for added value of baseline testing in computer-based cognitive assessment. *J Athl Train*. 2013;48(4):499-505. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-48.3.11
- French J, Huber P, McShane J, Holland CL, Elbin RJ, Kontos AP. Influence of test environment, age, sex, and sport on baseline computerized neurocognitive test performance. *Am J Sports Med*. 2019;47(13):3263-3269. doi:10.1177/0363546519875137
- Covassin T, Elbin RJ, Larson E, Kontos AP. Sex and age differences in depression and baseline sport-related concussion neurocognitive performance and symptoms. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. 2012;22(2):98-104. doi:10.1097/JSM.0b013e31823403d2
- 15. Cottle JE, Hall EE, Patel K, Barnes KP, Ketcham CJ. Concussion baseline testing: Preexisting factors, symptoms, and neurocognitive performance. *J Athl Train*. 2017;52(2):77-81. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-51.12.21
- Covassin T, Elbin R, Kontos A, Larson E. Investigating baseline neurocognitive performance between male and female athletes with a history of multiple concussion. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2010;81(6):597-601. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2009.193797
- Covassin T, Swanik CB, Sachs M, et al. Sex differences in baseline neuropsychological function and concussion symptoms of collegiate athletes. *Br J Sports Med.* 2006;40(11):923-927; discussion 927. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2006.029496
- Hunt TN, Ferrara MS, Miller LS, Macciocchi S. The effect of effort on baseline neuropsychological test scores in high school football athletes. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol Off J Natl Acad Neuropsychol*. 2007;22(5):615-621. doi:10.1016/j.acn.2007.04.005
- 19. Bailey CM, Echemendia RJ, Arnett PA. The impact of motivation on neuropsychological performance in sports-related mild traumatic brain injury. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc JINS*. 2006;12(4):475-484.
- Rabinowitz AR, Merritt VC, Arnett PA. The return-to-play incentive and the effect of motivation on neuropsychological test-performance: Implications for baseline concussion testing. *Dev Neuropsychol*. 2015;40(1):29-33. doi:10.1080/87565641.2014.1001066
- 21. Elbin RJ, Kontos AP, Kegel N, Johnson E, Burkhart S, Schatz P. Individual and combined effects of LD and ADHD on computerized neurocognitive concussion test

performance: evidence for separate norms. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol Off J Natl Acad Neuropsychol*. 2013;28(5):476-484. doi:10.1093/arclin/act024

- 22. Zuckerman SL, Lee YM, Odom MJ, Solomon GS, Sills AK. Baseline neurocognitive scores in athletes with attention deficit-spectrum disorders and/or learning disability. *J Neurosurg Pediatr*. 2013;12(2):103-109. doi:10.3171/2013.5.PEDS12524
- 23. Brooks BL, Iverson GL, Atkins JE, Zafonte R, Berkner PD. Sex differences and selfreported attention problems during baseline concussion testing. *Appl Neuropsychol Child*. 2016;5(2):119-126. doi:10.1080/21622965.2014.1003066
- 24. Covassin T, Weiss L, Powell J, Womack C. Effects of a maximal exercise test on neurocognitive function. *Br J Sports Med*. 2007;41(6):370-374; discussion 374. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2006.032334
- 25. Lempke LB, Schmidt JD, Lynall RC. Athletic trainers' concussion-assessment and concussion-management practices: An update. *J Athl Train*. 2020;55(1):17-26. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-322-18
- 26. Schatz P, Moser RS, Solomon GS, Ott SD, Karpf R. Prevalence of invalid computerized baseline neurocognitive test results in high school and collegiate athletes. *J Athl Train*. 2012;47(3):289-296. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-47.3.14
- 27. Short sleep duration among US adults. Published online May 2, 2017. Accessed January 8, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/sleep/data\_statistics.html
- 28. Hirshkowitz M, Whiton K, Albert SM, et al. National Sleep Foundation's sleep time duration recommendations: methodology and results summary. *Sleep Health*. 2015;1(1):40-43. doi:10.1016/j.sleh.2014.12.010
- 29. Spiegel K, Leproult R, Van Cauter E. Impact of sleep debt on metabolic and endocrine function. *Lancet Lond Engl.* 1999;354(9188):1435-1439. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(99)01376-8
- 30. Angus RG, Heslegrave RJ, Myles WS. Effects of prolonged sleep deprivation, with and without chronic physical exercise, on mood and performance. *Psychophysiology*. 1985;22(3):276-282. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8986.1985.tb01601.x
- Buxton OM, Marcelli E. Short and long sleep are positively associated with obesity, diabetes, hypertension, and cardiovascular disease among adults in the United States. Soc Sci Med 1982. 2010;71(5):1027-1036. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.05.041
- 32. Walker MP, Stickgold R. Sleep-dependent learning and memory consolidation. *Neuron*. 2004;44(1):121-133. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2004.08.031
- 33. Van Dongen HPA, Maislin G, Mullington JM, Dinges DF. The cumulative cost of additional wakefulness: Dose-response effects on neurobehavioral functions and

sleep physiology from chronic sleep restriction and total sleep deprivation. *Sleep*. 2003;26(2):117-126. doi:10.1093/sleep/26.2.117

- 34. Yang C-M, Wu C-H, Hsieh M-H, Liu M-H, Lu F-H. Coping with sleep disturbances among young adults: a survey of first-year college students in Taiwan. *Behav Med Wash DC*. 2003;29(3):133-138. doi:10.1080/08964280309596066
- 35. Lund HG, Reider BD, Whiting AB, Prichard JR. Sleep patterns and predictors of disturbed sleep in a large population of college students. *J Adolesc Health Off Publ Soc Adolesc Med*. 2010;46(2):124-132. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.06.016
- Pilcher JJ, Ginter DR, Sadowsky B. Sleep quality versus sleep quantity: relationships between sleep and measures of health, well-being and sleepiness in college students. *J Psychosom Res.* 1997;42(6):583-596. doi:10.1016/s0022-3999(97)00004-4
- 37. Sufrinko A, Johnson EW, Henry LC. The influence of sleep duration and sleeprelated symptoms on baseline neurocognitive performance among male and female high school athletes. *Neuropsychology*. 2016;30(4):484-491. doi:10.1037/neu0000250
- McClure DJ, Zuckerman SL, Kutscher SJ, Gregory AJ, Solomon GS. Baseline neurocognitive testing in sports-related concussions: the importance of a prior night's sleep. *Am J Sports Med*. 2014;42(2):472-478. doi:10.1177/0363546513510389
- Mihalik JP, Lengas E, Register-Mihalik JK, Oyama S, Begalle RL, Guskiewicz KM. The effects of sleep quality and sleep quantity on concussion baseline assessment. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. 2013;23(5):343-348. doi:10.1097/JSM.0b013e318295a834
- 40. Moran RN, Ingargiola A. Self-reported prior night's sleep quantity on baseline symptom factors and computerized neurocognitive testing in high school athletes. *Appl Neuropsychol Child*. Published online April 17, 2020:1-7. doi:10.1080/21622965.2020.1751163
- 41. Silverberg ND, Berkner PD, Atkins JE, Zafonte R, Iverson GL. Relationship between short sleep duration and preseason concussion testing. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. 2016;26(3):226-231. doi:10.1097/JSM.0000000000241
- 42. Aurora RN, Kim JS, Crainiceanu C, O'Hearn D, Punjabi NM. Habitual sleep duration and all-cause mortality in a general community sample. *Sleep*. 2016;39(11):1903-1909. doi:10.5665/sleep.6212
- 43. Stocker RPJ, Khan H, Henry L, Germain A. Effects of sleep loss on subjective complaints and objective neurocognitive performance as measured by the Immediate Post-Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Testing. *Arch Clin*

*Neuropsychol Off J Natl Acad Neuropsychol*. 2017;32(3):349-368. doi:10.1093/arclin/acx003

- 44. Cantu RC. Second-impact syndrome. Clin Sports Med. 1998;17(1):37-44.
- 45. Elbin RJ, Sufrinko A, Schatz P, et al. Removal from play After concussion and recovery time. *Pediatrics*. 2016;138(3). doi:10.1542/peds.2016-0910
- 46. Harmon KG, Clugston JR, Dec K, et al. American Medical Society for Sports Medicine position statement on concussion in sport. *Br J Sports Med.* 2019;53(4):213-225. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-100338
- 47. Giza CC, Kutcher JS, Ashwal S, et al. Summary of evidence-based guideline update: Evaluation and management of concussion in sports. *Neurology*. 2013;80(24):2250. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e31828d57dd
- 48. Herring SA, Cantu RC, Guskiewicz KM, et al. Concussion (mild traumatic brain injury) and the team physician: A consensus statement--2011 update. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2011;43(12):2412-2422. doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182342e64
- 49. McCrory P, Feddermann-Demont N, Dvořák J, et al. What is the definition of sportsrelated concussion: A systematic review. *Br J Sports Med*. 2017;51(11):877-887. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2016-097393
- 50. National Council of Youth Sports. *Reports on Trends and Participation in Organzied Youth Sports.* Accessed February 25, 2020. www.ncys.org/pdfs/2008/2008-ncysmarket-research-report.pdf
- 51. NCAA Publications 2013-14 NCAA sports sponsorship and participation rates report. Accessed April 19, 2020. http://www.ncaapublications.com/p-4368-2013-14-ncaa-sports-sponsorship-and-participation-rates-report.aspx?CategoryID=0&SectionID=0&ManufacturerID=0&DistributorID=0&Genr eID=0&VectorID=0&
- 52. Bryan MA, Rowhani-Rahbar A, Comstock RD, Rivara F, Seattle Sports Concussion Research Collaborative. Sports- and recreation-related concussions in US youth. *Pediatrics*. 2016;138(1). doi:10.1542/peds.2015-4635
- 53. Dompier TP, Powell JW, Barron MJ, Moore MT. Time-loss and non-time-loss injuries in youth football players. *J Athl Train*. 2007;42(3):395-402.
- 54. Kerr ZY, Marshall SW, Simon JE, et al. Injury rates in age-only versus age-andweight playing standard conditions in American youth football. *Orthop J Sports Med*. 2015;3(9):2325967115603979. doi:10.1177/2325967115603979
- 55. Veliz P, McCabe SE, Eckner JT, Schulenberg JE. Prevalence of concussion among US adolescents and correlated factors. *JAMA*. 2017;318(12):1180-1182. doi:10.1001/jama.2017.9087

- 56. Kerr ZY, Cortes N, Ambegaonkar JP, et al. The Epidemiology of injuries in middle school football, 2015-2017: The advancing healthcare initiatives for underserved students project. *Am J Sports Med*. 2019;47(4):933-941. doi:10.1177/0363546518825361
- 57. Dompier TP, Kerr ZY, Marshall SW, et al. Incidence of concussion during practice and games in youth, high school, and collegiate American football players. *JAMA Pediatr.* 2015;169(7):659-665. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.0210
- 58. Kontos AP, Elbin RJ, Fazio-Sumrock VC, et al. Incidence of sports-related concussion among youth football players aged 8-12 years. *J Pediatr*. 2013;163(3):717-720. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.04.011
- 59. Beachy G, Rauh M. Middle School Injuries: A 20-Year (1988–2008) multisport evaluation. *J Athl Train*. 2014;49(4):493-506. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-49.2.19
- 60. Black AM, Macpherson AK, Hagel BE, et al. Policy change eliminating body checking in non-elite ice hockey leads to a threefold reduction in injury and concussion risk in 11- and 12-year-old players. *Br J Sports Med.* 2016;50(1):55-61. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2015-095103
- 61. Chrisman SPD, Lowry S, Herring SA, et al. Concussion incidence, duration, and return to school and sport in 5- to 14-year-old American football athletes. *J Pediatr*. 2019;207:176-184.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.11.003
- 62. Powell JW, Barber-Foss KD. Traumatic brain injury in high school athletes. *JAMA*. 1999;282(10):958-963. doi:10.1001/jama.282.10.958
- 63. Schulz MR, Marshall SW, Mueller FO, et al. Incidence and risk factors for concussion in high school athletes, North Carolina, 1996-1999. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2004;160(10):937-944. doi:10.1093/aje/kwh304
- Kerr ZY, Wilkerson GB, Caswell SV, et al. The first decade of web-based sports injury surveillance: Descriptive epidemiology of injuries in United States high school football (2005-2006 through 2013-2014) and National Collegiate Athletic Association football (2004-2005 through 2013-2014). *J Athl Train*. 2018;53(8):738-751. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-144-17
- 65. O'Connor KL, Baker MM, Dalton SL, Dompier TP, Broglio SP, Kerr ZY. Epidemiology of sport-related concussions in high school athletes: National Athletic Treatment, Injury and Outcomes Network (NATION), 2011-2012 through 2013-2014. *J Athl Train*. 2017;52(3):175-185. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-52.1.15
- 66. Marar M, McIlvain NM, Fields SK, Comstock RD. Epidemiology of concussions among United States high school athletes in 20 sports. *Am J Sports Med*. 2012;40(4):747-755. doi:10.1177/0363546511435626

- 67. Lincoln AE, Caswell SV, Almquist JL, Dunn RE, Norris JB, Hinton RY. Trends in concussion incidence in high school sports: A prospective 11-year study. *Am J Sports Med*. 2011;39(5):958-963. doi:10.1177/0363546510392326
- 68. Rosenthal JA, Foraker RE, Collins CL, Comstock RD. National high school athlete concussion rates from 2005-2006 to 2011-2012. *Am J Sports Med*. 2014;42(7):1710-1715. doi:10.1177/0363546514530091
- 69. Gessel LM, Fields SK, Collins CL, Dick RW, Comstock RD. Concussions among United States high school and collegiate athletes. *J Athl Train*. 2007;42(4):495-503.
- 70. Gibson TB, Herring SA, Kutcher JS, Broglio SP. Analyzing the effect of state legislation on health care utilization for children with concussion. *JAMA Pediatr*. 2015;169(2):163-168. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2014.2320
- 71. *About HEADS UP*. Centers of Disease Control and Prevention; 2016. Accessed April 11, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/headsup/about/index.html
- 72. McGuine TA, Pfaller AY, Post EG, Hetzel SJ, Brooks A, Broglio SP. The influence of athletic trainers on the incidence and management of concussions in high school athletes. *J Athl Train*. 2018;53(11):1017-1024. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-209-18
- 73. Bretzin AC, Covassin T, Fox ME, et al. Sex differences in the clinical incidence of concussions, missed school days, and time loss in high school student-athletes: Part 1. *Am J Sports Med*. 2018;46(9):2263-2269. doi:10.1177/0363546518778251
- 74. Barnes BC, Cooper L, Kirkendall DT, McDermott TP, Jordan BD, Garrett WE. Concussion history in elite male and female soccer players. *Am J Sports Med.* 1998;26(3):433-438. doi:10.1177/03635465980260031601
- 75. Mansell J, Tierney RT, Sitler MR, Swanik KA, Stearne D. Resistance training and head-neck segment dynamic stabilization in male and female collegiate soccer players. *J Athl Train*. 2005;40(4):310-319.
- 76. Tierney RT, Higgins M, Caswell SV, et al. Sex differences in head acceleration during heading while wearing soccer headgear. *J Athl Train*. 2008;43(6):578-584. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-43.6.578
- 77. Wallace J, Covassin T, Beidler E. Sex differences in high school athletes' knowledge of sport-related concussion symptoms and reporting behaviors. *J Athl Train*. 2017;52(7):682-688. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-52.3.06
- 78. Kurowski B, Pomerantz WJ, Schaiper C, Gittelman MA. Factors that influence concussion knowledge and self-reported attitudes in high school athletes. *J Trauma Acute Care Surg.* 2014;77(3 Suppl 1):S12-17. doi:10.1097/TA.0000000000316

- Steinfeldt JA, Steinfeldt MC, England B, Speight QL. Gender role conflict and stigma toward help-seeking among college football players. *Psychol Men Masculinity*. 2009;10(4):261-272. doi:10.1037/a0017223
- 80. Roof RL, Hall ED. Estrogen-related gender difference in survival rate and cortical blood flow after impact-acceleration head injury in rats. *J Neurotrauma*. 2000;17(12):1155-1169. doi:10.1089/neu.2000.17.1155
- Zuckerman SL, Kerr ZY, Yengo-Kahn A, Wasserman E, Covassin T, Solomon GS. Epidemiology of sports-related concussion in NCAA athletes from 2009-2010 to 2013-2014: Incidence, recurrence, and mechanisms. *Am J Sports Med*. 2015;43(11):2654-2662. doi:10.1177/0363546515599634
- Daneshvar DH, Nowinski CJ, McKee AC, Cantu RC. The epidemiology of sportrelated concussion. *Clin Sports Med.* 2011;30(1):1-17, vii. doi:10.1016/j.csm.2010.08.006
- 83. Kilcoyne KG, Dickens JF, Svoboda SJ, et al. Reported concussion rates for three Division I football programs: An evaluation of the new NCAA concussion policy. *Sports Health*. 2014;6(5):402-405. doi:10.1177/1941738113491545
- 84. Wasserman EB, Kerr ZY, Zuckerman SL, Covassin T. Epidemiology of sportsrelated concussions in National Collegiate Athletic Association athletes from 2009-2010 to 2013-2014: Symptom prevalence, symptom resolution time, and return-toplay time. *Am J Sports Med.* 2016;44(1):226-233. doi:10.1177/0363546515610537
- 85. Hootman JM, Dick R, Agel J. Epidemiology of collegiate injuries for 15 sports: Summary and recommendations for injury prevention initiatives. *J Athl Train*. 2007;42(2):311-319.
- 86. Marshall SW, Guskiewicz KM, Shankar V, McCrea M, Cantu RC. Epidemiology of sports-related concussion in seven US high school and collegiate sports. *Inj Epidemiol*. 2015;2(1):13. doi:10.1186/s40621-015-0045-4
- 87. Putukian M, D'Alonzo BA, Campbell-McGovern CS, Wiebe DJ. The Ivy League–Big Ten epidemiology of concussion study: A report on methods and first findings. *Am J Sports Med.* 2019;47(5):1236-1247. doi:10.1177/0363546519830100
- 88. Wiebe DJ, D'Alonzo BA, Harris R, Putukian M, Campbell-McGovern C. Association between the experimental kickoff rule and concussion rates in Ivy League football. *JAMA*. 2018;320(19):2035-2036. doi:10.1001/jama.2018.14165
- 89. Ruestow PS, Duke TJ, Finley BL, Pierce JS. Effects of the NFL's amendments to the free kick rule on injuries during the 2010 and 2011 seasons. *J Occup Environ Hyg*. 2015;12(12):875-882. doi:10.1080/15459624.2015.1072632

- 90. Ommaya AK, Gennarelli TA. Cerebral concussion and traumatic unconsciousness. Correlation of experimental and clinical observations of blunt head injuries. *Brain J Neurol.* 1974;97(4):633-654. doi:10.1093/brain/97.1.633
- 91. Mihalik JP, Bell DR, Marshall SW, Guskiewicz KM. Measurement of head impacts in collegiate football players: an investigation of positional and event-type differences. *Neurosurgery*. 2007;61(6):1229-1235; discussion 1235. doi:10.1227/01.neu.0000306101.83882.c8
- 92. Crisco JJ, Wilcox BJ, Machan JT, et al. Magnitude of head impact exposures in individual collegiate football players. *J Appl Biomech*. 2012;28(2):174-183. doi:10.1123/jab.28.2.174
- 93. Campolettano ET, Gellner RA, Rowson S. High-magnitude head impact exposure in youth football. *J Neurosurg Pediatr*. 2017;20(6):604-612. doi:10.3171/2017.5.PEDS17185
- 94. Urban JE, Davenport EM, Golman AJ, et al. Head impact exposure in youth football: High school ages 14 to 18 years and cumulative impact analysis. *Ann Biomed Eng.* 2013;41(12):2474-2487. doi:10.1007/s10439-013-0861-z
- 95. Campolettano ET, Gellner RA, Smith EP, et al. Development of a concussion risk function for a youth population using head linear and rotational acceleration. *Ann Biomed Eng.* 2020;48(1):92-103. doi:10.1007/s10439-019-02382-2
- 96. Kelley ME, Urban JE, Miller LE, et al. Head impact exposure in youth football: Comparing age- and weight-based levels of play. *J Neurotrauma*. 2017;34(11):1939-1947. doi:10.1089/neu.2016.4812
- 97. Stemper BD, Shah AS, Harezlak J, et al. Comparison of head impact exposure between concussed football athletes and matched controls: Evidence for a possible second mechanism of sport-related concussion. *Ann Biomed Eng.* 2019;47(10):2057-2072. doi:10.1007/s10439-018-02136-6
- 98. Naunheim RS, Standeven J, Richter C, Lewis LM. Comparison of impact data in hockey, football, and soccer. *J Trauma*. 2000;48(5):938-941. doi:10.1097/00005373-200005000-00020
- 99. Bellamkonda S, Woodward SJ, Campolettano E, et al. Head impact exposure in practices correlates with exposure in games for youth football players. *J Appl Biomech*. 2018;34(5):354-360. doi:10.1123/jab.2017-0207
- 100. Munce TA, Dorman JC, Thompson PA, Valentine VD, Bergeron MF. Head impact exposure and neurologic function of youth football players. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2015;47(8):1567-1576. doi:10.1249/MSS.000000000000591

- 101. Lynall RC, Lempke LB, Johnson RS, Anderson MN, Schmidt JD. A comparison of youth flag and tackle football head impact biomechanics. *J Neurotrauma*. 2019;36(11):1752-1757. doi:10.1089/neu.2018.6236
- 102. Daniel RW, Rowson S, Duma SM. Head impact exposure in youth football: middle school ages 12-14 years. *J Biomech Eng*. 2014;136(9):094501. doi:10.1115/1.4027872
- 103. Young TJ, Daniel RW, Rowson S, Duma SM. Head impact exposure in youth football: Elementary school ages 7-8 years and the effect of returning players. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. 2014;24(5):416-421. doi:10.1097/JSM.00000000000055
- 104. Naunheim RS, Ryden A, Standeven J, et al. Does soccer headgear attenuate the impact when heading a soccer ball? *Acad Emerg Med Off J Soc Acad Emerg Med*. 2003;10(1):85-90. doi:10.1111/j.1553-2712.2003.tb01983.x
- 105. Press JN, Rowson S. Quantifying head impact exposure in collegiate women's soccer. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. 2017;27(2):104-110. doi:10.1097/JSM.00000000000313
- 106. Hanlon EM, Bir CA. Real-time head acceleration measurement in girls' youth soccer. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2012;44(6):1102-1108. doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182444d7d
- 107. Wilcox BJ, Beckwith JG, Greenwald RM, et al. Biomechanics of head impacts associated with diagnosed concussion in female collegiate ice hockey players. *J Biomech*. 2015;48(10):2201-2204. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2015.04.005
- 108. Eckner JT, O'Connor KL, Broglio SP, Ashton-Miller JA. Comparison of head impact exposure between male and female high school ice hockey athletes. *Am J Sports Med*. 2018;46(9):2253-2262. doi:10.1177/0363546518777244
- 109. Mihalik JP, Guskiewicz KM, Marshall SW, Blackburn JT, Cantu RC, Greenwald RM. Head impact biomechanics in youth hockey: comparisons across playing position, event types, and impact locations. *Ann Biomed Eng*. 2012;40(1):141-149. doi:10.1007/s10439-011-0405-3
- 110. Post A, Hoshizaki TB, Karton C, et al. The biomechanics of concussion for ice hockey head impact events. *Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Engin*. 2019;22(6):631-643. doi:10.1080/10255842.2019.1577827
- 111. King D, Hume P, Gissane C, Clark T. Head impacts in a junior rugby league team measured with a wireless head impact sensor: An exploratory analysis. *J Neurosurg Pediatr.* 2017;19(1):13-23. doi:10.3171/2016.7.PEDS1684

- 112. King D, Hume PA, Brughelli M, Gissane C. Instrumented mouthguard acceleration analyses for head impacts in amateur rugby union players over a season of matches. *Am J Sports Med.* 2015;43(3):614-624. doi:10.1177/0363546514560876
- 113. Beyer JA, Rowson S, Duma SM. Concussions experienced by Major League Baseball catchers and umpires: Field data and experimental baseball impacts. *Ann Biomed Eng*. 2012;40(1):150-159. doi:10.1007/s10439-011-0412-4
- 114. Rowson S, Brolinson G, Goforth M, Dietter D, Duma S. Linear and angular head acceleration measurements in collegiate football. *J Biomech Eng.* 2009;131(6):061016. doi:10.1115/1.3130454
- 115. Pellman EJ, Viano DC, Tucker AM, Casson IR, Waeckerle JF. Concussion in professional football: Reconstruction of game impacts and injuries. *Neurosurgery*. 2003;53(4):799-812; discussion 812-814. doi:10.1093/neurosurgery/53.3.799
- 116. Funk JR, Rowson S, Daniel RW, Duma SM. Validation of concussion risk curves for collegiate football players derived from HITS data. *Ann Biomed Eng.* 2012;40(1):79-89. doi:10.1007/s10439-011-0400-8
- 117. Beckwith JG, Greenwald RM, Chu JJ, et al. Head impact exposure sustained by football players on days of diagnosed concussion. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2013;45(4):737-746. doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182792ed7
- 118. Rowson S, Duma SM, Beckwith JG, et al. Rotational head kinematics in football impacts: An injury risk function for concussion. *Ann Biomed Eng*. 2012;40(1):1-13. doi:10.1007/s10439-011-0392-4
- 119. Rowson S, Duma SM. Development of the STAR evaluation system for football helmets: Integrating player head impact exposure and risk of concussion. *Ann Biomed Eng.* 2011;39(8):2130-2140. doi:10.1007/s10439-011-0322-5
- 120. Rowson S, Duma SM. Brain injury prediction: Assessing the combined probability of concussion using linear and rotational head acceleration. *Ann Biomed Eng.* 2013;41(5):873-882. doi:10.1007/s10439-012-0731-0
- 121. Laurer HL, Bareyre FM, Lee VM, et al. Mild head injury increasing the brain's vulnerability to a second concussive impact. *J Neurosurg*. 2001;95(5):859-870. doi:10.3171/jns.2001.95.5.0859
- 122. Giza CC, Hovda DA. The new neurometabolic cascade of concussion. *Neurosurgery*. 2014;75 Suppl 4:S24-33. doi:10.1227/NEU.0000000000000505
- 123. Katayama Y, Becker DP, Tamura T, Hovda DA. Massive increases in extracellular potassium and the indiscriminate release of glutamate following concussive brain injury. *J Neurosurg*. 1990;73(6):889-900. doi:10.3171/jns.1990.73.6.0889

- 124. Cheng G, Kong R, Zhang L, Zhang J. Mitochondria in traumatic brain injury and mitochondrial-targeted multipotential therapeutic strategies. *Br J Pharmacol.* 2012;167(4):699-719. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2012.02025.x
- 125. Hovda DA, Yoshino A, Kawamata T, Katayama Y, Fineman I, Becker DP. The increase in local cerebral glucose utilization following fluid percussion brain injury is prevented with kynurenic acid and is associated with an increase in calcium. *Acta Neurochir Suppl (Wien)*. 1990;51:331-333. doi:10.1007/978-3-7091-9115-6\_112
- 126. Kawamata T, Katayama Y, Hovda DA, Yoshino A, Becker DP. Administration of excitatory amino acid antagonists via microdialysis attenuates the increase in glucose utilization seen following concussive brain injury. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab Off J Int Soc Cereb Blood Flow Metab*. 1992;12(1):12-24. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.1992.3
- 127. Yoshino A, Hovda DA, Kawamata T, Katayama Y, Becker DP. Dynamic changes in local cerebral glucose utilization following cerebral conclusion in rats: Evidence of a hyper- and subsequent hypometabolic state. *Brain Res.* 1991;561(1):106-119. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(91)90755-k
- DeWitt DS, Prough DS. Traumatic cerebral vascular injury: The effects of concussive brain injury on the cerebral vasculature. *J Neurotrauma*. 2003;20(9):795-825. doi:10.1089/089771503322385755
- 129. Gardner AJ, Tan CO, Ainslie PN, et al. Cerebrovascular reactivity assessed by transcranial Doppler ultrasound in sport-related concussion: A systematic review. *Br J Sports Med*. 2015;49(16):1050-1055. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2014-093901
- 130. Meier TB, Bellgowan PSF, Singh R, Kuplicki R, Polanski DW, Mayer AR. Recovery of cerebral blood flow following sports-related concussion. *JAMA Neurol*. 2015;72(5):530-538. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.4778
- 131. Wang Y, Nelson LD, LaRoche AA, et al. Cerebral blood flow alterations in acute sport-related concussion. *J Neurotrauma*. 2016;33(13):1227-1236. doi:10.1089/neu.2015.4072
- 132. Maugans TA, Farley C, Altaye M, Leach J, Cecil KM. Pediatric sports-related concussion produces cerebral blood flow alterations. *Pediatrics*. 2012;129(1):28-37. doi:10.1542/peds.2011-2083
- 133. Barlow KM, Marcil LD, Dewey D, et al. Cerebral perfusion changes in postconcussion syndrome: A prospective controlled cohort study. *J Neurotrauma*. 2017;34(5):996-1004. doi:10.1089/neu.2016.4634
- 134. Smith DH, Hicks R, Povlishock JT. Therapy development for diffuse axonal injury. *J Neurotrauma*. 2013;30(5):307-323. doi:10.1089/neu.2012.2825
- 135. Goodman JC. Pathologic changes in mild head injury. *Semin Neurol*. 1994;14(1):19-24. doi:10.1055/s-2008-1041054

- 136. Büki A, Povlishock JT. All roads lead to disconnection?--Traumatic axonal injury revisited. *Acta Neurochir (Wien)*. 2006;148(2):181-193; discussion 193-194. doi:10.1007/s00701-005-0674-4
- 137. Povlishock JT. Traumatically induced axonal injury: Pathogenesis and pathobiological implications. *Brain Pathol Zurich Switz*. 1992;2(1):1-12.
- 138. Barrett EC, McBurney MI, Ciappio ED. ω-3 fatty acid supplementation as a potential therapeutic aid for the recovery from mild traumatic brain injury/concussion. *Adv Nutr Bethesda Md*. 2014;5(3):268-277. doi:10.3945/an.113.005280
- 139. Putukian M. The acute symptoms of sport-related concussion: Diagnosis and onfield management. *Clin Sports Med*. 2011;30(1):49-61, viii. doi:10.1016/j.csm.2010.09.005
- 140. Davis GA, Purcell L, Schneider KJ, et al. The Child Sport Concussion Assessment Tool 5th Edition (Child SCAT5): Background and rationale. *Br J Sports Med*. 2017;51(11):859-861. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2017-097492
- 141. National Collegiate Athletic Association. 2013-2014 NCAA Sports Medicine Handbook. Published online 2013.
- 142. McCrea M, Hammeke T, Olsen G, Leo P, Guskiewicz K. Unreported concussion in high school football players: Implications for prevention. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. 2004;14(1):13-17.
- 143. Register-Mihalik JK, Guskiewicz KM, McLeod TCV, Linnan LA, Mueller FO, Marshall SW. Knowledge, attitude, and concussion-reporting behaviors among high school athletes: a preliminary study. *J Athl Train*. 2013;48(5):645-653. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-48.3.20
- 144. Kerr ZY, Register-Mihalik JK, Kroshus E, Baugh CM, Marshall SW. Motivations associated With nondisclosure of self-reported concussions in former collegiate athletes. *Am J Sports Med*. 2016;44(1):220-225. doi:10.1177/0363546515612082
- 145. Meehan WP, d'Hemecourt P, Comstock RD. High school concussions in the 2008-2009 academic year: mechanism, symptoms, and management. *Am J Sports Med.* 2010;38(12):2405-2409. doi:10.1177/0363546510376737
- 146. Makdissi M, Darby D, Maruff P, Ugoni A, Brukner P, McCrory PR. Natural history of concussion in sport: Markers of severity and implications for management. *Am J Sports Med*. 2010;38(3):464-471. doi:10.1177/0363546509349491
- 147. Chandran A, Kerr ZY, Roby PR, et al. Concussion symptom characteristics and resolution in 20 United States high school sports, 2013/14-2017/18 academic years. *Neurosurgery*. Published online April 15, 2020. doi:10.1093/neuros/nyaa091

- 148. Kerr ZY, Zuckerman SL, Wasserman EB, Covassin T, Djoko A, Dompier TP. Concussion symptoms and return to play time in youth, high school, and college American football athletes. *JAMA Pediatr*. 2016;170(7):647-653. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.0073
- 149. Eisenberg MA, Meehan WP, Mannix R. Duration and course of post-concussive symptoms. *Pediatrics*. 2014;133(6):999-1006. doi:10.1542/peds.2014-0158
- 150. Blinman TA, Houseknecht E, Snyder C, Wiebe DJ, Nance ML. Postconcussive symptoms in hospitalized pediatric patients after mild traumatic brain injury. *J Pediatr Surg.* 2009;44(6):1223-1228. doi:10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2009.02.027
- 151. McCrea M, Barr WB, Guskiewicz K, et al. Standard regression-based methods for measuring recovery after sport-related concussion. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc JINS*. 2005;11(1):58-69. doi:10.1017/S1355617705050083
- 152. Blume HK, Vavilala MS, Jaffe KM, et al. Headache after pediatric traumatic brain injury: A cohort study. *Pediatrics*. 2012;129(1):e31-39. doi:10.1542/peds.2011-1742
- 153. Kontos AP, Elbin RJ, Schatz P, et al. A revised factor structure for the postconcussion symptom scale: Baseline and postconcussion factors. *Am J Sports Med*. 2012;40(10):2375-2384. doi:10.1177/0363546512455400
- 154. Pardini J, Stump J, Lovell M, Collins M, Moritz K, Fu F. The post-concussion symptom scale (PCSS): A factor analysis. *Br J Sports Med*. 2004;38(5):661-662.
- 155. Piland SG, Motl RW, Ferrara MS, Peterson CL. Evidence for the factorial and construct validity of a self-report concussion symptoms scale. *J Athl Train*. 2003;38(2):104-112.
- 156. Piland SG, Motl RW, Guskiewicz KM, McCrea M, Ferrara MS. Structural validity of a self-report concussion-related symptom scale. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2006;38(1):27-32.
- 157. Barker-Collo S, Theadom A, Starkey N, Kahan M, Jones K, Feigin V. Factor structure of the Rivermead Post-Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire over the first year following mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj*. 2018;32(4):453-458. doi:10.1080/02699052.2018.1429659
- 158. Herrmann N, Rapoport MJ, Rajaram RD, et al. Factor analysis of the Rivermead Post-Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire in mild-to-moderate traumatic brain injury patients. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci*. 2009;21(2):181-188. doi:10.1176/jnp.2009.21.2.181
- 159. Anderson M, Petit KM, Bretzin AC, Elbin RJ, Stephenson KL, Covassin T. Sport Concussion Assessment Tool symptom inventory: healthy and acute postconcussion symptom factor structures. *J Athl Train*. 2020;55(10):1046-1053. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-393-19

- 160. Guskiewicz KM, McCrea M, Marshall SW, et al. Cumulative effects associated with recurrent concussion in collegiate football players: The NCAA Concussion Study. *JAMA*. 2003;290(19):2549-2555. doi:10.1001/jama.290.19.2549
- 161. McCrea M, Guskiewicz KM, Marshall SW, et al. Acute effects and recovery time following concussion in collegiate football players: The NCAA Concussion Study. *JAMA*. 2003;290(19):2556-2563. doi:10.1001/jama.290.19.2556
- 162. Fazio VC, Lovell MR, Pardini JE, Collins MW. The relation between post concussion symptoms and neurocognitive performance in concussed athletes. *NeuroRehabilitation*. 2007;22(3):207-216.
- 163. McCrea M, Guskiewicz K, Randolph C, et al. Incidence, clinical course, and predictors of prolonged recovery time following sport-related concussion in high school and college athletes. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc JINS*. 2013;19(1):22-33. doi:10.1017/S1355617712000872
- 164. Makdissi M, Cantu RC, Johnston KM, McCrory P, Meeuwisse WH. The difficult concussion patient: What is the best approach to investigation and management of persistent (>10 days) postconcussive symptoms? *Br J Sports Med*. 2013;47(5):308-313. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2013-092255
- 165. Prichep LS, McCrea M, Barr W, Powell M, Chabot RJ. Time course of clinical and electrophysiological recovery after sport-related concussion. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2013;28(4):266-273. doi:10.1097/HTR.0b013e318247b54e
- 166. Erlanger D, Kaushik T, Cantu R, et al. Symptom-based assessment of the severity of a concussion. *J Neurosurg*. 2003;98(3):477-484. doi:10.3171/jns.2003.98.3.0477
- 167. Lau BC, Collins MW, Lovell MR. Cutoff scores in neurocognitive testing and symptom clusters that predict protracted recovery from concussions in high school athletes. *Neurosurgery*. 2012;70(2):371-379; discussion 379. doi:10.1227/NEU.0b013e31823150f0
- 168. Lau B, Lovell MR, Collins MW, Pardini J. Neurocognitive and symptom predictors of recovery in high school athletes. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. 2009;19(3):216-221. doi:10.1097/JSM.0b013e31819d6edb
- 169. Meehan WP, Mannix RC, Stracciolini A, Elbin RJ, Collins MW. Symptom severity predicts prolonged recovery after sport-related concussion, but age and amnesia do not. *J Pediatr*. 2013;163(3):721-725. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.03.012
- 170. Henry LC, Elbin RJ, Collins MW, Marchetti G, Kontos AP. Examining recovery trajectories after sport-related concussion with a multimodal clinical assessment approach. *Neurosurgery*. 2016;78(2):232-241. doi:10.1227/NEU.000000000001041

- 171. Collins MW, Grindel SH, Lovell MR, et al. Relationship between concussion and neuropsychological performance in college football players. *JAMA*. 1999;282(10):964-970. doi:10.1001/jama.282.10.964
- 172. Zuckerman SL, Lee YM, Odom MJ, Solomon GS, Forbes JA, Sills AK. Recovery from sports-related concussion: Days to return to neurocognitive baseline in adolescents versus young adults. *Surg Neurol Int*. 2012;3:130. doi:10.4103/2152-7806.102945
- 173. Conway FN, Domingues M, Monaco R, et al. Concussion symptom underreporting among incoming National Collegiate Athletic Association Division I college athletes. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. 2020;30(3):203-209. doi:10.1097/JSM.0000000000557
- 174. Van Kampen DA, Lovell MR, Pardini JE, Collins MW, Fu FH. The "value added" of neurocognitive testing after sports-related concussion. *Am J Sports Med*. 2006;34(10):1630-1635. doi:10.1177/0363546506288677
- 175. Randolph C, McCrea M, Barr WB. Is neuropsychological testing useful in the management of sport-related concussion? *J Athl Train*. 2005;40(3):139-152.
- 176. Nakayama Y, Covassin T, Schatz P, Nogle S, Kovan J. Examination of the testretest reliability of a computerized neurocognitive test battery. *Am J Sports Med*. 2014;42(8):2000-2005. doi:10.1177/0363546514535901
- 177. Elbin RJ, Fazio-Sumrok V, Anderson MN, et al. Evaluating the suitability of the Immediate Post-Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Testing (ImPACT) computerized neurocognitive battery for short-term, serial assessment of neurocognitive functioning. *J Clin Neurosci Off J Neurosurg Soc Australas*. 2019;62:138-141. doi:10.1016/j.jocn.2018.11.041
- 178. Iverson GL, Lovell MR, Collins MW. Interpreting change on ImPACT following sport concussion. *Clin Neuropsychol*. 2003;17(4):460-467. doi:10.1076/clin.17.4.460.27934
- 179. Schatz P, Ferris CS. One-month test-retest reliability of the ImPACT test battery. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol Off J Natl Acad Neuropsychol*. 2013;28(5):499-504. doi:10.1093/arclin/act034
- 180. Elbin RJ, Schatz P, Covassin T. One-year test-retest reliability of the online version of ImPACT in high school athletes. *Am J Sports Med*. 2011;39(11):2319-2324. doi:10.1177/0363546511417173
- 181. Schatz P. Long-term test-retest reliability of baseline cognitive assessments using ImPACT. *Am J Sports Med.* 2010;38(1):47-53. doi:10.1177/0363546509343805

- 182. Maerlender A, Flashman L, Kessler A, et al. Discriminant construct validity of ImPACT<sup>™</sup>: A companion study. *Clin Neuropsychol*. 2013;27(2):290-299. doi:10.1080/13854046.2012.744098
- 183. Maerlender A, Flashman L, Kessler A, et al. Examination of the construct validity of ImPACT<sup>™</sup> computerized test, traditional, and experimental neuropsychological measures. *Clin Neuropsychol*. 2010;24(8):1309-1325. doi:10.1080/13854046.2010.516072
- 184. Schatz P, Pardini JE, Lovell MR, Collins MW, Podell K. Sensitivity and specificity of the ImPACT Test Battery for concussion in athletes. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol Off J Natl Acad Neuropsychol*. 2006;21(1):91-99. doi:10.1016/j.acn.2005.08.001
- 185. Broglio SP, Macciocchi SN, Ferrara MS. Sensitivity of the concussion assessment battery. *Neurosurgery*. 2007;60(6):1050-1057; discussion 1057-1058. doi:10.1227/01.NEU.0000255479.90999.C0
- 186. Jacobson NS, Truax P. Clinical significance: A statistical approach to defining meaningful change in psychotherapy research. *J Consult Clin Psychol*. 1991;59(1):12-19. doi:10.1037//0022-006x.59.1.12
- 187. Field M, Collins MW, Lovell MR, Maroon J. Does age play a role in recovery from sports-related concussion? A comparison of high school and collegiate athletes. *J Pediatr.* 2003;142(5):546-553. doi:10.1067/mpd.2003.190
- 188. Covassin T, Stearne D, Elbin R. Concussion history and postconcussion neurocognitive performance and symptoms in collegiate athletes. *J Athl Train*. 2008;43(2):119-124. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-43.2.119
- 189. Broshek DK, Kaushik T, Freeman JR, Erlanger D, Webbe F, Barth JT. Sex differences in outcome following sports-related concussion. *J Neurosurg*. 2005;102(5):856-863. doi:10.3171/jns.2005.102.5.0856
- 190. Rieger BP, Lewandowski LJ, Callahan JM, et al. A prospective study of symptoms and neurocognitive outcomes in youth with concussion vs orthopaedic injuries. *Brain Inj*. 2013;27(2):169-178. doi:10.3109/02699052.2012.729290
- 191. Thomas DG, Collins MW, Saladino RA, Frank V, Raab J, Zuckerbraun NS. Identifying neurocognitive deficits in adolescents following concussion. *Acad Emerg Med Off J Soc Acad Emerg Med*. 2011;18(3):246-254. doi:10.1111/j.1553-2712.2011.01015.x
- 192. Covassin T, Elbin RJ, Bleecker A, Lipchik A, Kontos AP. Are there differences in neurocognitive function and symptoms between male and female soccer players after concussions? *Am J Sports Med*. 2013;41(12):2890-2895. doi:10.1177/0363546513509962

- 193. Murdaugh DL, Ono KE, Morris SO, Burns TG. Effects of developmental age on symptom reporting and neurocognitive performance in youth after sports-related concussion compared to control athletes. *J Child Neurol*. 2018;33(7):474-481. doi:10.1177/0883073818766815
- 194. Covassin T, Elbin RJ, Harris W, Parker T, Kontos A. The role of age and sex in symptoms, neurocognitive performance, and postural stability in athletes after concussion. *Am J Sports Med*. 2012;40(6):1303-1312. doi:10.1177/0363546512444554
- 195. Ommaya AK, Goldsmith W, Thibault L. Biomechanics and neuropathology of adult and paediatric head injury. *Br J Neurosurg*. 2002;16(3):220-242. doi:10.1080/02688690220148824
- 196. Sim A, Terryberry-Spohr L, Wilson KR. Prolonged recovery of memory functioning after mild traumatic brain injury in adolescent athletes. *J Neurosurg*. 2008;108(3):511-516. doi:10.3171/JNS/2008/108/3/0511
- 197. Sufrinko AM, Mucha A, Covassin T, et al. Sex differences in vestibular/ocular and neurocognitive outcomes after sport-related concussion. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. 2017;27(2):133-138. doi:10.1097/JSM.0000000000324
- 198. Colvin AC, Mullen J, Lovell MR, West RV, Collins MW, Groh M. The role of concussion history and gender in recovery from soccer-related concussion. *Am J Sports Med*. 2009;37(9):1699-1704. doi:10.1177/0363546509332497
- 199. Covassin T, Schatz P, Swanik CB. Sex differences in neuropsychological function and post-concussion symptoms of concussed collegiate athletes. *Neurosurgery*. 2007;61(2):345-350; discussion 350-351. doi:10.1227/01.NEU.0000279972.95060.CB
- 200. Zuckerman SL, Solomon GS, Forbes JA, Haase RF, Sills AK, Lovell MR. Response to acute concussive injury in soccer players: Is gender a modifying factor? *J Neurosurg Pediatr*. 2012;10(6):504-510. doi:10.3171/2012.8.PEDS12139
- 201. Covassin T, Savage JL, Bretzin AC, Fox ME. Sex differences in sport-related concussion long-term outcomes. *Int J Psychophysiol*. 2018;132:9-13. doi:10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2017.09.010
- 202. Mucha A, Collins MW, Elbin RJ, et al. A Brief Vestibular/Ocular Motor Screening (VOMS) assessment to evaluate concussions: Preliminary findings. *Am J Sports Med*. 2014;42(10):2479-2486. doi:10.1177/0363546514543775
- 203. Pearce KL, Sufrinko A, Lau BC, Henry L, Collins MW, Kontos AP. Near point of convergence after a sport-related concussion: Measurement reliability and relationship to neurocognitive impairment and symptoms. *Am J Sports Med*. 2015;43(12):3055-3061. doi:10.1177/0363546515606430

- 204. Master CL, Scheiman M, Gallaway M, et al. Vision diagnoses are common after concussion in adolescents. *Clin Pediatr (Phila)*. 2016;55(3):260-267. doi:10.1177/0009922815594367
- 205. Collins MW, Kontos AP, Reynolds E, Murawski CD, Fu FH. A comprehensive, targeted approach to the clinical care of athletes following sport-related concussion. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc Off J ESSKA*. 2014;22(2):235-246. doi:10.1007/s00167-013-2791-6
- 206. Kontos AP, Sufrinko A, Elbin RJ, Puskar A, Collins MW. Reliability and associated risk factors for performance on the Vestibular/Ocular Motor Screening (VOMS) tool in healthy collegiate athletes. *Am J Sports Med*. 2016;44(6):1400-1406. doi:10.1177/0363546516632754
- 207. Moran RN, Covassin T, Elbin RJ, Gould D, Nogle S. Reliability and normative reference values for the Vestibular/Ocular Motor Screening (VOMS) tool in youth athletes. *Am J Sports Med.* 2018;46(6):1475-1480. doi:10.1177/0363546518756979
- 208. Iverson GL, Cook NE, Howell DR, et al. Preseason Vestibular Ocular Motor Screening in children and adolescents. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. Published online June 19, 2019. doi:10.1097/JSM.000000000000767
- 209. Yorke AM, Smith L, Babcock M, Alsalaheen B. Validity and reliability of the Vestibular/Ocular Motor Screening and associations with common concussion screening tools. *Sports Health*. 2017;9(2):174-180. doi:10.1177/1941738116678411
- 210. Elbin RJ, Sufrinko A, Anderson MN, et al. Prospective changes in vestibular and ocular motor impairment after concussion. *J Neurol Phys Ther JNPT*. 2018;42(3):142-148. doi:10.1097/NPT.0000000000230
- 211. Worts PR, Schatz P, Burkhart SO. Test performance and test-retest reliability of the Vestibular/Ocular Motor Screening and King-Devick test in adolescent athletes during a competitive sport season. *Am J Sports Med*. 2018;46(8):2004-2010. doi:10.1177/0363546518768750
- 212. Corwin DJ, Wiebe DJ, Zonfrillo MR, et al. Vestibular deficits following youth concussion. *J Pediatr*. 2015;166(5):1221-1225. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2015.01.039
- 213. Ellis MJ, Cordingley D, Vis S, Reimer K, Leiter J, Russell K. Vestibulo-ocular dysfunction in pediatric sports-related concussion. *J Neurosurg Pediatr*. 2015;16(3):248-255. doi:10.3171/2015.1.PEDS14524
- 214. Howitt S, Brommer R, Fowler J, Gerwing L, Payne J, DeGraauw C. The utility of the King-Devick test as a sideline assessment tool for sport-related concussions: A narrative review. *J Can Chiropr Assoc*. 2016;60(4):322-329.

- 215. Oberlander TJ, Olson BL, Weidauer L. Test-retest reliability of the King-Devick test in an adolescent population. *J Athl Train*. 2017;52(5):439-445. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-52.2.12
- 216. Weise KK, Swanson MW, Penix K, Hale MH, Ferguson D. King-Devick and preseason visual function in adolescent athletes. *Optom Vis Sci Off Publ Am Acad Optom*. 2017;94(1):89-95. doi:10.1097/OPX.00000000000938
- 217. King D, Gissane C, Hume PA, Flaws M. The King-Devick test was useful in management of concussion in amateur rugby union and rugby league in New Zealand. *J Neurol Sci.* 2015;351(1-2):58-64. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2015.02.035
- 218. Galetta KM, Barrett J, Allen M, et al. The King-Devick test as a determinant of head trauma and concussion in boxers and MMA fighters. *Neurology*. 2011;76(17):1456-1462. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e31821184c9
- 219. Alsalaheen B, Haines J, Yorke A, Diebold J. King-Devick Test reference values and associations with balance measures in high school American football players. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. 2016;26(2):235-239. doi:10.1111/sms.12628
- 220. King D, Hume P, Gissane C, Clark T. Use of the King-Devick test for sideline concussion screening in junior rugby league. *J Neurol Sci.* 2015;357(1-2):75-79. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2015.06.069
- 221. Leong DF, Balcer LJ, Galetta SL, Evans G, Gimre M, Watt D. The King-Devick test for sideline concussion screening in collegiate football. *J Optom*. 2015;8(2):131-139. doi:10.1016/j.optom.2014.12.005
- 222. Hecimovich M, King D, Dempsey AR, Murphy M. The King-Devick test is a valid and reliable tool for assessing sport-related concussion in Australian football: A prospective cohort study. *J Sci Med Sport*. 2018;21(10):1004-1007. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2018.03.011
- 223. Naidu D, Borza C, Kobitowich T, Mrazik M. Sideline concussion assessment: The King-Devick Test in Canadian professional football. *J Neurotrauma*. 2018;35(19):2283-2286. doi:10.1089/neu.2017.5490
- 224. Leong DF, Balcer LJ, Galetta SL, Liu Z, Master CL. The King-Devick test as a concussion screening tool administered by sports parents. *J Sports Med Phys Fitness*. 2014;54(1):70-77.
- 225. Bretzin AC, Anderson M, Moran RN, Covassin T. Long-term test-retest evaluation of the King-Devick test in youth soccer athletes. *J Neurol Sci*. 2020;416:116951. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2020.116951
- 226. Elbin RJ, Schatz P, Mohler S, Covassin T, Herrington J, Kontos AP. Establishing test-retest reliability and reliable change for the King-Devick Test in high school

athletes. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. Published online November 26, 2019. doi:10.1097/JSM.000000000000772

- 227. Fuller GW, Cross MJ, Stokes KA, Kemp SPT. King-Devick concussion test performs poorly as a screening tool in elite rugby union players: A prospective cohort study of two screening tests versus a clinical reference standard. *Br J Sports Med*. 2019;53(24):1526-1532. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2017-098560
- 228. Breedlove KM, Ortega JD, Kaminski TW, et al. King-Devick Test reliability in National Collegiate Athletic Association Athletes: A National Collegiate Athletic Association-Department of Defense concussion assessment, research and education report. *J Athl Train*. 2019;54(12):1241-1246. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-219-18
- 229. Heick JD, Bay C, Dompier TP, McLeod TCV. The psychometric properties of the King–Devick Test and the influence of age and sex in healthy individuals aged 14 to 24 years. *Athl Train Sports Health Care*. 2016;8(5):222-229. doi:10.3928/19425864-20160509-01
- 230. Galetta KM, Brandes LE, Maki K, et al. The King-Devick test and sports-related concussion: Study of a rapid visual screening tool in a collegiate cohort. *J Neurol Sci.* 2011;309(1-2):34-39. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2011.07.039
- 231. Galetta MS, Galetta KM, McCrossin J, et al. Saccades and memory: Baseline associations of the King-Devick and SCAT2 SAC tests in professional ice hockey players. *J Neurol Sci.* 2013;328(1-2):28-31. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2013.02.008
- 232. King D, Clark T, Gissane C. Use of a rapid visual screening tool for the assessment of concussion in amateur rugby league: A pilot study. *J Neurol Sci.* 2012;320(1):16-21. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2012.05.049
- 233. Seidman DH, Burlingame J, Yousif LR, et al. Evaluation of the King-Devick test as a concussion screening tool in high school football players. *J Neurol Sci.* 2015;356(1-2):97-101. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2015.06.021
- 234. King D, Brughelli M, Hume P, Gissane C. Concussions in amateur rugby union identified with the use of a rapid visual screening tool. *J Neurol Sci.* 2013;326(1-2):59-63. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2013.01.012
- 235. Dhawan PS, Leong D, Tapsell L, et al. King-Devick Test identifies real-time concussion and asymptomatic concussion in youth athletes. *Neurol Clin Pract*. 2017;7(6):464-473. doi:10.1212/CPJ.00000000000381
- 236. Guskiewicz KM, Mihalik JP, Shankar V, et al. Measurement of head impacts in collegiate football players: relationship between head impact biomechanics and acute clinical outcome after concussion. *Neurosurgery*. 2007;61(6):1244-1252; discussion 1252-1253. doi:10.1227/01.neu.0000306103.68635.1a

- 237. Guskiewicz KM. Balance assessment in the management of sport-related concussion. *Clin Sports Med.* 2011;30(1):89-102, ix. doi:10.1016/j.csm.2010.09.004
- 238. Bell DR, Guskiewicz KM, Clark MA, Padua DA. Systematic review of the balance error scoring system. *Sports Health*. 2011;3(3):287-295. doi:10.1177/1941738111403122
- 239. Guskiewicz KM, Ross SE, Marshall SW. Postural stability and neuropsychological deficits after concussion in collegiate athletes. *J Athl Train*. 2001;36(3):263-273.
- 240. Alsalaheen B, McClafferty A, Haines J, Smith L, Yorke A. Reference values for the balance error scoring system in adolescents. *Brain Inj.* 2016;30(7):914-918. doi:10.3109/02699052.2016.1146965
- 241. Furman GR, Lin C-C, Bellanca JL, Marchetti GF, Collins MW, Whitney SL. Comparison of the balance accelerometer measure and balance error scoring system in adolescent concussions in sports. *Am J Sports Med*. 2013;41(6):1404-1410. doi:10.1177/0363546513484446
- 242. Hansen C, Cushman D, Anderson N, et al. A normative dataset of the Balance Error Scoring System in children aged between 5 and 14. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. 2016;26(6):497-501. doi:10.1097/JSM.00000000000285
- 243. Guskiewicz KM. Assessment of postural stability following sport-related concussion. *Curr Sports Med Rep.* 2003;2(1):24-30. doi:10.1249/00149619-200302000-00006
- 244. Erkmen N, Taşkın H, Kaplan T, Sanioğlu A. The effect of fatiguing exercise on balance performance as measured by the balance error scoring system. *Isokinet Exerc Sci.* 2009;17(2):121-127. doi:10.3233/IES-2009-0343
- 245. Finnoff JT, Peterson VJ, Hollman JH, Smith J. Intrarater and interrater reliability of the Balance Error Scoring System (BESS). *PM R*. 2009;1(1):50-54. doi:10.1016/j.pmrj.2008.06.002
- 246. Hunt TN, Ferrara MS, Bornstein RA, Baumgartner TA. The reliability of the modified Balance Error Scoring System. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. 2009;19(6):471-475. doi:10.1097/JSM.0b013e3181c12c7b
- 247. Susco TM, Valovich McLeod TC, Gansneder BM, Shultz SJ. Balance recovers within 20 minutes after exertion as measured by the Balance Error Scoring System. *J Athl Train*. 2004;39(3):241-246.
- 248. McLeod TCV, Armstrong T, Miller M, Sauers JL. Balance improvements in female high school basketball players after a 6-week neuromuscular-training program. *J Sport Rehabil*. 2009;18(4):465-481. doi:10.1123/jsr.18.4.465

- 249. Riemann BL, Guskiewicz KM. Effects of mild head injury on postural stability as measured through clinical balance testing. *J Athl Train*. 2000;35(1):19-25.
- 250. Oldham JR, Difabio MS, Kaminski TW, Dewolf RM, Howell DR, Buckley TA. Efficacy of tandem gait to identify impaired postural control after concussion. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2018;50(6):1162-1168. doi:10.1249/MSS.00000000001540
- 251. Echemendia RJ, Meeuwisse W, McCrory P, et al. The Sport Concussion Assessment Tool 5th Edition (SCAT5): Background and rationale. *Br J Sports Med*. 2017;51(11):848-850. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2017-097506
- 252. Howell DR, Osternig LR, Chou L-S. Single-task and dual-task tandem gait test performance after concussion. *J Sci Med Sport*. 2017;20(7):622-626. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2016.11.020
- 253. Howell DR, Osternig LR, Chou L-S. Adolescents demonstrate greater gait balance control deficits after concussion than young adults. *Am J Sports Med.* 2015;43(3):625-632. doi:10.1177/0363546514560994
- 254. Howell DR, Osternig LR, Chou L-S. Dual-task effect on gait balance control in adolescents with concussion. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2013;94(8):1513-1520. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2013.04.015
- 255. Howell DR, Osternig LR, Chou L-S. Return to activity after concussion affects dualtask gait balance control recovery. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2015;47(4):673-680. doi:10.1249/MSS.00000000000462
- 256. Makdissi M, Davis G, Jordan B, Patricios J, Purcell L, Putukian M. Revisiting the modifiers: How should the evaluation and management of acute concussions differ in specific groups? *Br J Sports Med*. 2013;47(5):314-320. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2013-092256
- 257. Williams RM, Puetz TW, Giza CC, Broglio SP. Concussion recovery time among high school and collegiate athletes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Med Auckl NZ*. 2015;45(6):893-903. doi:10.1007/s40279-015-0325-8
- 258. Iverson GL, Gardner AJ, Terry DP, et al. Predictors of clinical recovery from concussion: A systematic review. *Br J Sports Med*. 2017;51(12):941-948. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2017-097729
- 259. Chrisman SPD. Exercise and recovery time for youth with concussions. *JAMA Pediatr*. 2019;173(4):315-316. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.5281
- 260. Lee MA, Fine B. Adolescent concussions. Conn Med. 2010;74(3):149-156.
- 261. León-Carrión J, Machuca-Murga F, Solís-Marcos I, León-Domínguez U, Domínguez-Morales MDR. The sooner patients begin neurorehabilitation, the better

their functional outcome. *Brain Inj*. 2013;27(10):1119-1123. doi:10.3109/02699052.2013.804204

- 262. Silverberg ND, Iverson GL. Is rest after concussion "the best medicine?": Recommendations for activity resumption following concussion in athletes, civilians, and military service members. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2013;28(4):250-259. doi:10.1097/HTR.0b013e31825ad658
- 263. Leddy JJ, Sandhu H, Sodhi V, Baker JG, Willer B. Rehabilitation of concussion and post-concussion syndrome. *Sports Health*. 2012;4(2):147-154. doi:10.1177/1941738111433673
- 264. Craton N, Leslie O. Is rest the best intervention for concussion? Lessons learned from the whiplash model. *Curr Sports Med Rep.* 2014;13(4):201-204. doi:10.1249/JSR.000000000000072
- 265. Lewinsohn E, Hoberman H, Teri L, Hautzinger M. An integrative theory of depression. In: Reiss S, Bootzin R, eds. *Theoretical Issues in Behavior Therapy*. Academic Press; 1985:331-359.
- 266. Walters A, Williamson G. The role of activity restriction in the association between pain and depression: a study of. *Child Health Care*. 1999;28:33-50.
- 267. Williamson GM. Extending the activity restriction model of depressed affect: evidence from a sample of breast cancer patients. *Health Psychol Off J Div Health Psychol Am Psychol Assoc.* 2000;19(4):339-347.
- 268. Fortney S, Schneider V, Greenleaf J. The physiology of bed rest. *Compr Physiol*. Published online 2011:889-939.
- 269. Simon LM, Mitchell CN. Youth concussion laws across the nation: Implications for the traveling team physician. *Curr Sports Med Rep.* 2016;15(3):161-167. doi:10.1249/JSR.0000000000268
- 270. Thomas DG, Apps JN, Hoffmann RG, McCrea M, Hammeke T. Benefits of strict rest after acute concussion: A randomized controlled trial. *Pediatrics*. 2015;135(2):213-223. doi:10.1542/peds.2014-0966
- 271. DeMatteo C, Stazyk K, Singh SK, et al. Development of a conservative protocol to return children and youth to activity following concussive injury. *Clin Pediatr (Phila)*. 2015;54(2):152-163. doi:10.1177/0009922814558256
- 272. Moser RS, Glatts C, Schatz P. Efficacy of immediate and delayed cognitive and physical rest for treatment of sports-related concussion. *J Pediatr*. 2012;161(5):922-926. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2012.04.012

- 273. Moser RS, Schatz P, Glenn M, Kollias KE, Iverson GL. Examining prescribed rest as treatment for adolescents who are slow to recover from concussion. *Brain Inj.* 2015;29(1):58-63. doi:10.3109/02699052.2014.964771
- 274. Leddy JJ, Baker JG, Willer B. Active rehabilitation of concussion and postconcussion syndrome. *Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am*. 2016;27(2):437-454. doi:10.1016/j.pmr.2015.12.003
- 275. Chan RC. Base rate of post-concussion symptoms among normal people and its neuropsychological correlates. *Clin Rehabil*. 2001;15(3):266-273. doi:10.1191/026921501675253420
- 276. Iverson G, Zasler N, Lange R. Post-concussive disorder. In: Zasler N, Katz D, Zafonte R, eds. *Brain Injury Medicine: Principles and Practice*. Demos Medical Publishing; 2006:373-405.
- 277. Iverson GL. Misdiagnosis of the persistent postconcussion syndrome in patients with depression. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol Off J Natl Acad Neuropsychol.* 2006;21(4):303-310. doi:10.1016/j.acn.2005.12.008
- 278. Dobney DM, Grilli L, Kocilowicz H, et al. Evaluation of an active rehabilitation program for concussion management in children and adolescents. *Brain Inj.* 2017;31(13-14):1753-1759. doi:10.1080/02699052.2017.1346294
- 279. Gagnon I, Galli C, Friedman D, Grilli L, Iverson GL. Active rehabilitation for children who are slow to recover following sport-related concussion. *Brain Inj.* 2009;23(12):956-964. doi:10.3109/02699050903373477
- 280. Gagnon I, Grilli L, Friedman D, Iverson GL. A pilot study of active rehabilitation for adolescents who are slow to recover from sport-related concussion. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. 2016;26(3):299-306. doi:10.1111/sms.12441
- 281. Gauvin-Lepage J, Friedman D, Grilli L, et al. Effectiveness of an exercise-based active rehabilitation intervention for youth who are slow to recover after concussion. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. Published online August 8, 2018. doi:10.1097/JSM.0000000000634
- 282. Grool AM, Aglipay M, Momoli F, et al. Association between early participation in physical activity following acute concussion and persistent postconcussive symptoms in children and adolescents. *JAMA*. 2016;316(23):2504-2514. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.17396
- 283. Kurowski BG, Hugentobler J, Quatman-Yates C, et al. Aerobic exercise for adolescents with prolonged symptoms after mild traumatic brain injury: An exploratory randomized clinical trial. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2017;32(2):79-89. doi:10.1097/HTR.00000000000238

- 284. Leddy JJ, Baker JG, Kozlowski K, Bisson L, Willer B. Reliability of a graded exercise test for assessing recovery from concussion. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. 2011;21(2):89-94. doi:10.1097/JSM.0b013e3181fdc721
- 285. Leddy JJ, Haider MN, Ellis MJ, et al. Early subthreshold aerobic exercise for sportrelated concussion: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Pediatr*. Published online February 4, 2019. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.4397
- 286. Leddy JJ, Kozlowski K, Donnelly JP, Pendergast DR, Epstein LH, Willer B. A preliminary study of subsymptom threshold exercise training for refractory postconcussion syndrome. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. 2010;20(1):21-27. doi:10.1097/JSM.0b013e3181c6c22c
- 287. Sufrinko AM, Howie EK, Elbin RJ, Collins MW, Kontos AP. A preliminary investigation of accelerometer-derived sleep and physical activity following sport-related concussion. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2018;33(5):E64-E74. doi:10.1097/HTR.00000000000387
- 288. Leddy JJ, Willer B. Use of graded exercise testing in concussion and return-toactivity management. *Curr Sports Med Rep*. 2013;12(6):370-376. doi:10.1249/JSR.00000000000008
- 289. Haider MN, Johnson SL, Mannix R, et al. The buffalo concussion bike test for concussion assessment in adolescents. *Sports Health*. 2019;11(6):492-497. doi:10.1177/1941738119870189
- 290. Leddy JJ, Haider MN, Ellis M, Willer BS. Exercise is medicine for concussion. *Curr* Sports Med Rep. 2018;17(8):262-270. doi:10.1249/JSR.000000000000505
- 291. Maerlender A, Rieman W, Lichtenstein J, Condiracci C. Programmed physical exertion in recovery from sports-related concussion: A randomized pilot study. *Dev Neuropsychol.* 2015;40(5):273-278. doi:10.1080/87565641.2015.1067706
- 292. Howell DR, Brilliant AN, Oldham JR, Berkstresser B, Wang F, Meehan WP. Exercise in the first week following concussion among collegiate athletes: Preliminary findings. *J Sci Med Sport*. 2020;23(2):112-117. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2019.08.294
- 293. Willer BS, Haider MN, Bezherano I, et al. Comparison of rest to aerobic exercise and placebo-like treatment of acute sport-related concussion in male and female adolescents. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2019;100(12):2267-2275. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2019.07.003
- 294. Lawrence DW, Richards D, Comper P, Hutchison MG. Earlier time to aerobic exercise is associated with faster recovery following acute sport concussion. *PloS One*. 2018;13(4):e0196062. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0196062

- 295. Haran FJ, Dretsch MN, Slaboda JC, Johnson DE, Adam OR, Tsao JW. Comparison of baseline-referenced versus norm-referenced analytical approaches for in-theatre assessment of mild traumatic brain injury neurocognitive impairment. *Brain Inj.* 2016;30(3):280-286. doi:10.3109/02699052.2015.1118766
- 296. Brooks BL, McKay CD, Mrazik M, Barlow KM, Meeuwisse WH, Emery CA. Subjective, but not objective, lingering effects of multiple past concussions in adolescents. *J Neurotrauma*. 2013;30(17):1469-1475. doi:10.1089/neu.2012.2720
- 297. Gardner A, Shores EA, Batchelor J. Reduced processing speed in rugby union players reporting three or more previous concussions. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol Off J Natl Acad Neuropsychol*. 2010;25(3):174-181. doi:10.1093/arclin/acq007
- 298. Iverson GL, Echemendia RJ, Lamarre AK, Brooks BL, Gaetz MB. Possible lingering effects of multiple past concussions. *Rehabil Res Pract.* 2012;2012:316575. doi:10.1155/2012/316575
- 299. Wallace J, Covassin T, Moran R, Deitrick JM. Factors contributing to disparities in baseline neurocognitive performance and concussion symptom scores between Black and White collegiate athletes. *J Racial Ethn Health Disparities*. 2018;5(4):894-900. doi:10.1007/s40615-017-0437-y
- 300. Houck Z, Asken B, Clugston J, Perlstein W, Bauer R. Socioeconomic status and race outperform concussion history and sport participation in predicting collegiate athlete baseline neurocognitive scores. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc JINS*. 2018;24(1):1-10. doi:10.1017/S1355617717000716
- 301. Weiss EM, Kemmler G, Deisenhammer EA, Fleischhacker WW, Delazer M. Sex differences in cognitive functions. *Personal Individ Differ*. 2003;35(4):863-875. doi:10.1016/S0191-8869(02)00288-X
- 302. Broglio SP, Ferrara MS, Piland SG, Anderson RB, Collie A. Concussion history is not a predictor of computerised neurocognitive performance. *Br J Sports Med*. 2006;40(9):802-805; discussion 802-805. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2006.028019
- 303. Elbin RJ, Covassin T, Hakun J, et al. Do brain activation changes persist in athletes with a history of multiple concussions who are asymptomatic? *Brain Inj.* 2012;26(10):1217-1225. doi:10.3109/02699052.2012.672788
- 304. Iverson GL, Brooks BL, Lovell MR, Collins MW. No cumulative effects for one or two previous concussions. *Br J Sports Med*. 2006;40(1):72-75. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2005.020651
- 305. Solomon GS, Kuhn A. Relationship between concussion history and neurocognitive test performance in National Football League draft picks. *Am J Sports Med.* 2014;42(4):934-939. doi:10.1177/0363546513518742

- 306. McKay CD, Brooks BL, Mrazik M, Jubinville AL, Emery CA. Psychometric properties and reference values for the ImPACT neurocognitive test battery in a sample of elite youth ice hockey players. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol Off J Natl Acad Neuropsychol*. 2014;29(2):141-151. doi:10.1093/arclin/act116
- 307. Solomon GS, Haase RF. Biopsychosocial characteristics and neurocognitive test performance in National Football League players: An initial assessment. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol Off J Natl Acad Neuropsychol*. 2008;23(5):563-577. doi:10.1016/j.acn.2008.05.008
- 308. Alsalaheen B, Stockdale K, Pechumer D, Giessing A, He X, Broglio SP. Cumulative effects of concussion history on baseline computerized neurocognitive test scores: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Health*. 2017;9(4):324-332. doi:10.1177/1941738117713974
- 309. Kontos AP, Elbin RJ, Covassin T, Larson E. Exploring differences in computerized neurocognitive concussion testing between African American and White athletes. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol Off J Natl Acad Neuropsychol*. 2010;25(8):734-744. doi:10.1093/arclin/acq068
- 310. Manly JJ, Jacobs DM, Sano M, et al. Cognitive test performance among nondemented elderly African Americans and whites. *Neurology*. 1998;50(5):1238-1245. doi:10.1212/wnl.50.5.1238
- 311. Kaye S, Sundman MH, Hall EE, Williams E, Patel K, Ketcham CJ. Baseline neurocognitive performance and symptoms in those with attention deficit hyperactivity disorders and history of concussion with previous loss of consciousness. *Front Neurol.* 2019;10:396. doi:10.3389/fneur.2019.00396
- 312. Salinas CM, Dean P, LoGalbo A, Dougherty M, Field M, Webbe FM. Attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder status and baseline neurocognitive performance in high school athletes. *Appl Neuropsychol Child*. 2016;5(4):264-272. doi:10.1080/21622965.2015.1052814
- 313. Vaughan CG, Gerst EH, Sady MD, Newman JB, Gioia GA. The relation between testing environment and baseline performance in child and adolescent concussion assessment. *Am J Sports Med*. 2014;42(7):1716-1723. doi:10.1177/0363546514531732
- 314. Manderino L, Gunstad J. Collegiate student athletes with history of ADHD or academic difficulties are more likely to produce an invalid protocol on baseline ImPACT testing. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. 2018;28(2):111-116. doi:10.1097/JSM.00000000000433
- 315. Trinidad KJ, Schmidt JD, Register-Mihalik JK, Groff D, Goto S, Guskiewicz KM. Predicting clinical concussion measures at baseline based on motivation and academic profile. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. 2013;23(6):462-469. doi:10.1097/JSM.0b013e318295e425

- 316. Erdal K. Neuropsychological testing for sports-related concussion: how athletes can sandbag their baseline testing without detection. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol Off J Natl Acad Neuropsychol*. 2012;27(5):473-479. doi:10.1093/arclin/acs050
- 317. Schatz P, Glatts C. "Sandbagging" baseline test performance on ImPACT, without detection, is more difficult than it appears. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol Off J Natl Acad Neuropsychol*. 2013;28(3):236-244. doi:10.1093/arclin/act009
- 318. Biddle C, Oaster TR. The nature of sleep. AANA J. 1990;58(1):36-44.
- 319. Stages of Sleep. Sleep Foundation. Published August 14, 2020. Accessed December 3, 2020. https://www.sleepfoundation.org/articles/stages-of-sleep
- 320. Borbély AA. A two process model of sleep regulation. *Hum Neurobiol*. 1982;1(3):195-204.
- 321. Wickwire EM, Williams SG, Roth T, et al. Sleep, sleep disorders, and mild traumatic brain injury. What we know and what we need to know: Findings from a national working group. *Neurother J Am Soc Exp Neurother*. 2016;13(2):403-417. doi:10.1007/s13311-016-0429-3
- 322. Marino M, Li Y, Rueschman MN, et al. Measuring sleep: Accuracy, sensitivity, and specificity of wrist actigraphy compared to polysomnography. *Sleep*. 2013;36(11):1747-1755. doi:10.5665/sleep.3142
- 323. Ancoli-Israel S, Cole R, Alessi C, Chambers M, Moorcroft W, Pollak CP. The role of actigraphy in the study of sleep and circadian rhythms. *Sleep*. 2003;26(3):342-392. doi:10.1093/sleep/26.3.342
- 324. Z Assefa S, Diaz-Abad M, M Wickwire E, M Scharf S. The functions of sleep. *AIMS Neurosci.* 2015;2(3):155-171. doi:10.3934/Neuroscience.2015.3.155
- 325. Berger RJ, Phillips NH. Energy conservation and sleep. *Behav Brain Res.* 1995;69(1-2):65-73. doi:10.1016/0166-4328(95)00002-b
- 326. Moruzzi G. The Functional significance of sleep with particular regard to the brain mechanisms underlying consciousness. In: Eccles JC, ed. *Brain and Conscious Experience: Study Week September 28 to October 4, 1964, of the Pontificia Academia Scientiarum.* Springer; 1965:345-388. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-49168-9\_15
- 327. Lowe CJ, Safati A, Hall PA. The neurocognitive consequences of sleep restriction: A meta-analytic review. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2017;80:586-604. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.07.010
- 328. Ford ES, Cunningham TJ, Croft JB. Trends in self-reported sleep duration among US adults from 1985 to 2012. *Sleep*. 2015;38(5):829-832. doi:10.5665/sleep.4684

- 329. Goel N, Rao H, Durmer JS, Dinges DF. Neurocognitive consequences of sleep deprivation. *Semin Neurol*. 2009;29(4):320-339. doi:10.1055/s-0029-1237117
- 330. Pilcher JJ, Huffcutt AI. Effects of sleep deprivation on performance: a metaanalysis. *Sleep*. 1996;19(4):318-326. doi:10.1093/sleep/19.4.318
- 331. Anderson C, Horne JA. Sleepiness enhances distraction during a monotonous task. *Sleep*. 2006;29(4):573-576. doi:10.1093/sleep/29.4.573
- 332. Dinges DF, Pack F, Williams K, et al. Cumulative sleepiness, mood disturbance, and psychomotor vigilance performance decrements during a week of sleep restricted to 4-5 hours per night. *Sleep*. 1997;20(4):267-277.
- 333. Cote KA, Milner CE, Osip SL, Baker ML, Cuthbert BP. Physiological arousal and attention during a week of continuous sleep restriction. *Physiol Behav*. 2008;95(3):353-364. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2008.06.016
- 334. Cote KA, Milner CE, Smith BA, et al. CNS arousal and neurobehavioral performance in a short-term sleep restriction paradigm. *J Sleep Res*. 2009;18(3):291-303. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2869.2008.00733.x
- 335. Philip P, Sagaspe P, Moore N, et al. Fatigue, sleep restriction and driving performance. *Accid Anal Prev.* 2005;37(3):473-478. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2004.07.007
- 336. Edwards BJ, Waterhouse J. Effects of one night of partial sleep deprivation upon diurnal rhythms of accuracy and consistency in throwing darts. *Chronobiol Int.* 2009;26(4):756-768. doi:10.1080/07420520902929037
- 337. Baddeley A. Working memory. *Curr Biol*. 2010;20(4):R136-R140. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2009.12.014
- 338. Lo JC, Ong JL, Leong RLF, Gooley JJ, Chee MWL. Cognitive performance, sleepiness, and mood in partially sleep deprived adolescents: The need for sleep study. *Sleep*. 2016;39(3):687-698. doi:10.5665/sleep.5552
- 339. Casement MD, Broussard JL, Mullington JM, Press DZ. The contribution of sleep to improvements in working memory scanning speed: A study of prolonged sleep restriction. *Biol Psychol*. 2006;72(2):208-212. doi:10.1016/j.biopsycho.2005.11.002
- 340. Stickgold R, James L, Hobson JA. Visual discrimination learning requires sleep after training. *Nat Neurosci*. 2000;3(12):1237-1238. doi:10.1038/81756
- 341. Hershner SD, Chervin RD. Causes and consequences of sleepiness among college students. *Nat Sci Sleep*. 2014;6:73-84. doi:10.2147/NSS.S62907
- 342. Arnett JJ. Emerging adulthood. A theory of development from the late teens through the twenties. *Am Psychol*. 2000;55(5):469-480.

- 343. Astin AW. Student involvement: A developmental theory for higher education. *J Coll Stud Dev*. 1999;40(5):12.
- 344. Evans NJ, Forney DS, Guido FM, Patton LD, Renn KA. *Student Development in College: Theory, Research, and Practice*. John Wiley & Sons; 2009.
- 345. Schulenberg JE, Sameroff AJ, Cicchetti D. The transition to adulthood as a critical juncture in the course of psychopathology and mental health. *Dev Psychopathol.* 2004;16(4):799-806.
- 346. Kroshus E, Wagner J, Wyrick D, et al. Wake up call for collegiate athlete sleep: Narrative review and consensus recommendations from the NCAA Interassociation Task Force on Sleep and Wellness. *Br J Sports Med*. 2019;53(12):731-736. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2019-100590
- 347. Howell AJ, Jahrig JC, Powell RA. Sleep quality, sleep propensity and academic performance. *Percept Mot Skills*. 2004;99(2):525-535. doi:10.2466/pms.99.2.525-535
- 348. Kelly WE, Kelly KE, Clanton RC. The relationship between sleep length and gradepoint average among college students. *Coll Stud J*. 2001;35(1):84-86.
- 349. Gilbert SP, Weaver CC. Sleep quality and academic performance in university students: A wake-Up call for college psychologists. *J Coll Stud Psychother*. 2010;24(4):295-306. doi:10.1080/87568225.2010.509245
- 350. Mah CD, Kezirian EJ, Marcello BM, Dement WC. Poor sleep quality and insufficient sleep of a collegiate student-athlete population. *Sleep Health*. 2018;4(3):251-257. doi:10.1016/j.sleh.2018.02.005
- 351. McAllister-Deitrick J, Trbovich AM, Broglio SP, McCrea M, McAllister TW, Kontos AP. Effect of diagnosed sleep disorders on baseline concussion symptom, cognitive, and balance assessments in collegiate athletes. *Am J Sports Med*. 2020;48(4):991-999. doi:10.1177/0363546520902701
- 352. Mallinson DC, Kamenetsky ME, Hagen EW, Peppard PE. Subjective sleep measurement: Comparing sleep diary to questionnaire. *Nat Sci Sleep*. 2019;11:197-206. doi:10.2147/NSS.S217867
- 353. Cohen J. *Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences*. NY: Routledge Academic; 1988.
- 354. Resch JE, Schneider MW, Munro Cullum C. The test-retest reliability of three computerized neurocognitive tests used in the assessment of sport concussion. *Int J Psychophysiol Off J Int Organ Psychophysiol*. 2018;132(Pt A):31-38. doi:10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2017.09.011

- 355. Sadeh A, Sharkey KM, Carskadon MA. Activity-based sleep-wake identification: an empirical test of methodological issues. *Sleep*. 1994;17(3):201-207. doi:10.1093/sleep/17.3.201
- 356. Sadeh A. The role and validity of actigraphy in sleep medicine: An update. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2011;15(4):259-267. doi:10.1016/j.smrv.2010.10.001
- 357. Lee J-M, Byun W, Keill A, Dinkel D, Seo Y. Comparison of wearable trackers' ability to estimate sleep. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2018;15(6):1265. doi:10.3390/ijerph15061265
- 358. Hoffman NL, O'Connor PJ, Schmidt MD, Lynall RC, Schmidt JD. Differences in sleep between concussed and nonconcussed college students: a matched case-control study. *Sleep*. 2019;42(2). doi:10.1093/sleep/zsy222
- 359. Meltzer LJ, Walsh CM, Traylor J, Westin AML. Direct comparison of two new actigraphs and polysomnography in children and adolescents. *Sleep*. 2012;35(1):159-166. doi:10.5665/sleep.1608
- 360. Cole RJ, Kripke DF, Gruen W, Mullaney DJ, Gillin JC. Automatic sleep/wake identification from wrist activity. *Sleep*. 1992;15(5):461-469. doi:10.1093/sleep/15.5.461
- 361. Jean-Louis G, von Gizycki H, Zizi F, et al. Determination of sleep and wakefulness with the actigraph data analysis software (ADAS). *Sleep*. 1996;19(9):739-743.
- 362. Hoffman NL, O'Connor PJ, Schmidt MD, Lynall RC, Schmidt JD. Relationships between post-concussion sleep and symptom recovery: A preliminary study. *J Neurotrauma*. Published online November 27, 2019. doi:10.1089/neu.2019.6761
- 363. Wolfson AR, Carskadon MA, Acebo C, et al. Evidence for the validity of a sleep habits survey for adolescents. *Sleep*. 2003;26(2):213-216. doi:10.1093/sleep/26.2.213
- 364. Buysse DJ, Reynolds CF, Monk TH, Berman SR, Kupfer DJ. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: A new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry Res.* 1989;28(2):193-213.
- 365. Backhaus J, Junghanns K, Broocks A, Riemann D, Hohagen F. Test–retest reliability and validity of the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index in primary insomnia. *J Psychosom Res.* 2002;53(3):737-740. doi:10.1016/S0022-3999(02)00330-6
- 366. Grandner MA, Kripke DF, Yoon I-Y, Youngstedt SD. Criterion validity of the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: Investigation in a non-clinical sample. *Sleep Biol Rhythms*. 2006;4(2):129-139. doi:10.1111/j.1479-8425.2006.00207.x
- 367. Horne JA, Ostberg O. A self-assessment questionnaire to determine morningnesseveningness in human circadian rhythms. *Int J Chronobiol*. 1976;4(2):97-110.
- 368. Adan A, Natale V. Gender differences in morningness-eveningness preference. *Chronobiol Int*. 2002;19(4):709-720. doi:10.1081/cbi-120005390
- 369. Acebo C, Sadeh A, Seifer R, et al. Estimating sleep patterns with activity monitoring in children and adolescents: How many nights are necessary for reliable measures? *Sleep*. 1999;22(1):95-103. doi:10.1093/sleep/22.1.95
- 370. ImPACT Administration and Interpretation Manual. Published online 2016. IMPACT-interpretation-manual%20(6).pdf
- 371. Lauderdale DS, Knutson KL, Yan LL, Liu K, Rathouz PJ. Sleep duration: how well do self-reports reflect objective measures? The CARDIA Sleep Study. *Epidemiol Camb Mass*. 2008;19(6):838-845. doi:10.1097/EDE.0b013e318187a7b0
- 372. Knutson KL, Lauderdale DS. Sleep duration and overweight in adolescents: Selfreported sleep hours versus time diaries. *Pediatrics*. 2007;119(5):e1056-1062. doi:10.1542/peds.2006-2597
- 373. Bland JM, Altman DG. Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. *Lancet Lond Engl.* 1986;1(8476):307-310.
- 374. Ludbrook J. Comparing methods of measurement. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol*. 1997;24(2):198-203.
- 375. Barclay NL, Rowley S, Robson A, Akram U, Myachykov A. Sleep duration, sleep variability, and impairments of visual attention. *Q J Exp Psychol 2006*. 2020;73(6):868-880. doi:10.1177/1747021819895771
- 376. Caia J, Halson SL, Scott TJ, Kelly VG. Intra-individual variability in the sleep of senior and junior rugby league athletes during the competitive season. *Chronobiol Int*. 2017;34(9):1239-1247. doi:10.1080/07420528.2017.1358736
- 377. Lemola S, Ledermann T, Friedman EM. Variability of sleep duration is related to subjective sleep quality and subjective well-being: an actigraphy study. *PloS One*. 2013;8(8):e71292. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0071292
- 378. Suh S, Nowakowski S, Bernert RA, et al. Clinical significance of night-to-night sleep variability in insomnia. *Sleep Med*. 2012;13(5):469-475. doi:10.1016/j.sleep.2011.10.034
- 379. Quante M, Kaplan ER, Cailler M, et al. Actigraphy-based sleep estimation in adolescents and adults: a comparison with polysomnography using two scoring algorithms. *Nat Sci Sleep*. 2018;10:13-20. doi:10.2147/NSS.S151085
- 380. Cellini N, McDevitt EA, Mednick SC, Buman MP. Free-living cross-comparison of two wearable monitors for sleep and physical activity in healthy young adults. *Physiol Behav*. 2016;157:79-86. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.01.034

- 381. Lieberman HR, Tharion WJ, Shukitt-Hale B, Speckman KL, Tulley R. Effects of caffeine, sleep loss, and stress on cognitive performance and mood during U.S. Navy SEAL training. Sea-Air-Land. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. 2002;164(3):250-261. doi:10.1007/s00213-002-1217-9
- 382. Williamson AM, Feyer AM. Moderate sleep deprivation produces impairments in cognitive and motor performance equivalent to legally prescribed levels of alcohol intoxication. *Occup Environ Med*. 2000;57(10):649-655. doi:10.1136/oem.57.10.649
- 383. Anderson C, Sullivan JP, Flynn-Evans EE, Cade BE, Czeisler CA, Lockley SW. Deterioration of neurobehavioral performance in resident physicians during repeated exposure to extended duration work shifts. *Sleep*. 2012;35(8):1137-1146. doi:10.5665/sleep.2004
- 384. O'Hagan AD, Issartel J, McGinley E, Warrington G. A pilot study exploring the effects of sleep deprivation on analogue measures of pilot competencies. *Aerosp Med Hum Perform*. 2018;89(7):609-615. doi:10.3357/AMHP.5056.2018
- 385. Mezick EJ, Matthews KA, Hall M, et al. Intra-individual variability in sleep duration and fragmentation: Associations with stress. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. 2009;34(9):1346-1354. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.04.005
- 386. Frankel BL, Coursey RD, Buchbinder R, Snyder F. Recorded and reported sleep in chronic primary insomnia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 1976;33(5):615-623. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.1976.01770050067011
- 387. Parrott AC, Hindmarch I. Factor analysis of a sleep evaluation questionnaire. *Psychol Med.* 1978;8(2):325-329. doi:10.1017/s0033291700014379
- 388. Jackson CL, Patel SR, Jackson WB, Lutsey PL, Redline S. Agreement between self-reported and objectively measured sleep duration among white, black, Hispanic, and Chinese adults in the United States: Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Sleep*. 2018;41(6). doi:10.1093/sleep/zsy057
- 389. Cespedes EM, Hu FB, Redline S, et al. Comparison of self-reported sleep duration with actigraphy: Results from the Hispanic Community Health Study/Study of Latinos Sueño Ancillary Study. Am J Epidemiol. 2016;183(6):561-573. doi:10.1093/aje/kwv251
- 390. Arora T, Broglia E, Pushpakumar D, Lodhi T, Taheri S. An investigation into the strength of the association and agreement levels between subjective and objective sleep duration in adolescents. *PloS One.* 2013;8(8):e72406. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072406
- 391. Regestein QR, Friebely J, Shifren JL, et al. Self-reported sleep in postmenopausal women. *Menopause N Y N*. 2004;11(2):198-207. doi:10.1097/01.gme.0000097741.18446.3e

- 392. Werner H, Molinari L, Guyer C, Jenni OG. Agreement rates between actigraphy, diary, and questionnaire for children's sleep patterns. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* 2008;162(4):350-358. doi:10.1001/archpedi.162.4.350
- 393. Short MA, Gradisar M, Lack LC, Wright H, Carskadon MA. The discrepancy between actigraphic and sleep diary measures of sleep in adolescents. *Sleep Med*. 2012;13(4):378-384. doi:10.1016/j.sleep.2011.11.005
- 394. Lockley SW, Skene DJ, Arendt J. Comparison between subjective and actigraphic measurement of sleep and sleep rhythms. *J Sleep Res.* 1999;8(3):175-183. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2869.1999.00155.x
- 395. Landry GJ, Best JR, Liu-Ambrose T. Measuring sleep quality in older adults: A comparison using subjective and objective methods. *Front Aging Neurosci.* 2015;7:166. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2015.00166
- 396. Foley DJ, Monjan AA, Brown SL, Simonsick EM, Wallace RB, Blazer DG. Sleep complaints among elderly persons: An epidemiologic study of three communities. *Sleep*. 1995;18(6):425-432. doi:10.1093/sleep/18.6.425
- 397. de Zambotti M, Baker FC, Willoughby AR, et al. Measures of sleep and cardiac functioning during sleep using a multi-sensory commercially-available wristband in adolescents. *Physiol Behav.* 2016;158:143-149. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.03.006
- 398. Littner M, Kushida CA, Anderson WM, et al. Practice parameters for the role of actigraphy in the study of sleep and circadian rhythms: An update for 2002. *Sleep*. 2003;26(3):337-341. doi:10.1093/sleep/26.3.337
- 399. Cellini N, Canale N, Mioni G, Costa S. Changes in sleep pattern, sense of time and digital media use during COVID-19 lockdown in Italy. *J Sleep Res*. 2020;29(4):e13074. doi:10.1111/jsr.13074
- 400. Marelli S, Castelnuovo A, Somma A, et al. Impact of COVID-19 lockdown on sleep quality in university students and administration staff. *J Neurol*. 2021;268(1):8-15. doi:10.1007/s00415-020-10056-6
- 401. Lichstein KL, Stone KC, Donaldson J, et al. Actigraphy validation with insomnia. *Sleep*. 2006;29(2):232-239.
- 402. Fan H, BIXLER EO, BERG A, et al. Habitual sleep variability, not sleep duration, is associated with caloric intake in adolescents. *Sleep Med.* 2015;16(7):856-861. doi:10.1016/j.sleep.2015.03.004